
 

Page 1 of 594 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, JANUARY 20, 2020 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of January 6, 2020. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed FY2020-FY2025 Capital Improvements Program (CIP). 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published January 8, 2020) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution approving and adopting the FY2020-FY2025 Capital Improvements Program (CIP). 

4. Resolution declaring an official intent under Treasury Regulation 1.150-2 to issue debt to reimburse 
the City for certain original expenditures paid in connection with specified projects. 

5. Public hearing on a proposed Agreement for Private Development with SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published January 10, 2020) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

6. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development with SDC 
Real Estate, L.L.C. 

7. Public hearing on a proposed Second Agreement for Private Development with Standard Distribution 
Co. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published January 10, 2020) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

8. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Second Agreement for Private Development 
with Standard Distribution Co. 

9. Public hearing on a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development with 
Owen 5, L.L.C. 

1



 

Page 2 of 594 

 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published January 10, 2020) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

10. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development and an Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement with Owen 5, L.L.C. 

Old Business 

11. Pass Ordinance #2960, recreating the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 
(SSMID), upon its third & final consideration. 

12. Pass Ordinance #2961, amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at 4911 University Avenue from the R-1, Residence District, and placing the same in the C-1, 
Commercial District, pursuant to provisions of a conditional zoning agreement, upon its second 
consideration. 

13. Pass Ordinance #2962, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to establishing parking regulations, in conjunction with the implementation of 
recommendations from the Downtown and College Hill parking studies, upon its second 
consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

14. Receive and file a proclamation recognizing January 20, 2020 as Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day of 
Service. 

15. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of January 6, 2020 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Capital Improvements Program (CIP).  
b) Conflict of Interest/Ex Parte Communications/Role of Elected Officials. 
c) Bus Route Restructuring. 
d) Bills & Payrolls. 

16. Approve the following applications for liquor licenses: 
a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal. 
b) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
c) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 
d) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

17. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear vegetation on 
the property located at 1616 Belle Avenue. 

18. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear vegetation on 
the property located at 234 Clark Drive. 

19. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear vegetation on 
the property located at 929 Newman Avenue. 

2



 

Page 3 of 594 

20. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear vegetation on 
the property located at 2610 Valley Park Drive. 

21. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear vegetation on 
the property located at 2040 Waterloo Road. 

22. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear vegetation on 
the property located in the vicinity of West 1st Street & Whitetail Drive. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an agreement with Gillian Christy relative to 
placement of a sculpture at 220 Clay Street, as requested by the Cedar Falls Public Art Committee 
and the Art & Culture Board. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of three Red House Studio Leases relative to the 
use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists’ studio space, in conjunction with the Hearst Center’s 
new Visiting Artist Program. 

25. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Minturn, Inc. for the 
2019 Bridge Maintenance Project. 

26. Resolution setting February 3, 2020 as the date of public hearing on the maximum levy rate. 

Fill Council Vacancy by Appointment: (The following candidates are listed alphabetically by last name and will 
be given one opportunity to address the City Council.  The speaking order for the candidates will be randomly 
selected and each candidate will be given three (3) minutes to speak. This will be the only time the candidates will 
be allowed to speak to this issue.) 

Public comments will follow candidate comments. Each speaker will have one opportunity to speak up to three (3) 
minutes. Candidates will not be allowed to speak at this time. 

27. Appoint one of the following candidates to fill City Council vacancy:  
a) Coil, Joyce 
b) Didier, Nate  
c) Frein, Thomas 
d) Hagarty, Thomas P. 
e) Popp, Penelope (Penny) 
f) Rider, Sr., Paul Edward 
g) Saul, LeaAnn 
h) Sharp, Rick 
i) Sims, Susan 
j) Smith, Whitney J. 
k) Taiber, Nick 
l) Thulstrup, Neils Jorgen 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

28. Allow Bills and Payroll of January 20, 2020. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Executive Session 

29. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably 
expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce 
the price the governmental body would receive for that property, following Public Forum. 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

3



 

Page 4 of 594 

Adjournment 

  

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JANUARY 6, 2020 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Absent: None. 

 
52605 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of December 16, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52606 - City Clerk Danielsen announced that Item 20 on the Resolution Calendar was 

being removed from the agenda. 
 
 Mayor Green then read a statement regarding Non-Retaliation and Ombudsman 

Contact. 
 
52607 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

20, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Downtown Streetscape 
and Reconstruction Project. It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller 
that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52608 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed plans, etc. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Principal 
Engineer Fitch commented on the proposed plans, City Administrator Gaines 
responded to a question by Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, and Community Main 
Street Director Carol Lilly expressed support of and appreciation for the project. 
There being no one else present wishing to speak about the proposed plans, 
etc., the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of 
business. 

 
52609 -    It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,831, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project, be adopted. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,831 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52610 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

19, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed 
Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan. It was then moved by 

5

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

Kruse and seconded by Darrah that the proof of publication of notice of hearing 
be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52611 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed amendment. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Economic 
Development Coordinator Graham provided a brief summary of the proposed 
amendment. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
proposed amendment, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the 
next order of business. 

 
52612 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,832, 

determining an area of the City to be an economic and blighted area, and that the 
rehabilitation, conservation, redevelopment, development or a combination 
thereof, of such area is necessary in the interest of the public health, safety or 
welfare of the residents of the City; designating such area as appropriate for 
urban renewal projects; and adopting the Amendment No. 1 to the College Hill 
Urban Renewal Plan, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,832 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
52613 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of December 

27, 2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed rezoning 
from R-1, Residence District, to C-1, Commercial District, of property located at 
4911 University Avenue. It was then moved by deBuhr and seconded by Kruse 
that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52614 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed rezoning. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Community 
Development Director Sheetz provided a brief summary of the proposed 
rezoning. Petitioner Brad Jacobson, 806 Latham Place, offered to answer any 
questions. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the proposed 
rezoning, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of 
business. 

 
52615 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2961, 

amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at 4911 University Avenue from the R-1, Residence District, and placing 
the same in the C-1, Commercial District, pursuant to provisions of a conditional 
zoning agreement, be passed upon its first consideration. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52616 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that Ordinance #2960, 

6

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

recreating the College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 
(SSMID), be passed upon its second consideration. Following due consideration 
by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52617 - Following a comment by Councilmember deBuhr to amend Item 10, paragraph 

three, to reference Ward 5 instead of Ward 2, it was moved by deBuhr and 
seconded by Kruse that the following items and recommendations on the 
Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved as amended: 

 
Receive and file the resignation of Robert M. Green as Cedar Falls City Council 
Member At Large. 
 
Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of the Mayor 
Pro Tempore. 
 
Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of the 
Administration, Public Works and Community Relations and Planning 
Committees. 
 
Receive and file the City Council Goal Setting Report of December 9, 2019 and 
December 10, 2019. 
 
Receive and file the Abstract of Votes for the November 5, 2019 Municipal 
Election and the December 3, 2019 Municipal Runoff Election. 
 
Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of November 2019. 

 
 Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  

a) Cedar Falls Family Restaurant, 2627 Center Street, Special Class C liquor - 
renewal.  

b) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C liquor & 
outdoor service - change in ownership. 

 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52618 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,833, approving and authorizing execution of a Contracted 
Education Proposal with Black Hawk County Conservation/Hartman Reserve 
Nature Center and the cities of Elk Run Heights, Evansdale, Hudson, Raymond 
and Waterloo relative to providing public outreach and educational programs 
related to improving water quality and stormwater runoff. 
 
Resolution #21,834, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Sands Addition. 

 

7

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Resolution #21,835, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of S.M. Hentges & Sons Inc. for the Dry Run Creek Sanitary Sewer 
Improvements Project, Phase 2. 
 
Resolution #21,836, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with AECOM Technical Services, Inc. for the Olive Street Box 
Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
Resolution #21,837, approving and accepting a Temporary Easement from CF 
Gateway Park, Inc., in conjunction with Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 
 
Resolution #21,838, approving and accepting a Temporary Easement from Shri 
Mahaganapati and Hanumanta, Inc., in conjunction with Gateway Business Park 
at Cedar Falls I. 
 
Resolution #21,839, approving and authorizing execution of a First Amendment 
to Developmental Procedures Agreement with CF Gateway Park, Inc. relative to 
Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 
 
Resolution #21,840, approving and accepting completion of public improvements 
in Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. (contingent upon approval of related 
First Amendment to Developmental Procedures Agreement) 
 
Resolution #21,841, setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing on 
the proposed FY2020-FY2025 Capital Improvements Program (CIP). 
 
Resolution #21,842, setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development with SDC 
Real Estate, L.L.C. 
 
Resolution #21,843, setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Second Agreement for Private Development 
with Standard Distribution Co. 
 
Resolution #21,844, setting January 20, 2020 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development with Owen 5, L.L.C. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,833 through #21,844 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
52619 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,845, 

approving the recommendation of the Director of Public Safety Services and City 
Administrator by appointing Craig Berte as Acting Police Chief, be adopted. 
Following questions by Councilmembers Harding, Sires and Miller, Rick Sharp, 
1623 Birch Street, Whitney Smith, 2904 Neola Street, Scott Dix, 7821 North 

8

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Union Road, Janesville, and responses by the Mayor, Public Safety Services 
Director Olson and City Administrator Gaines, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah. Nay: Harding, Sires. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #21,845 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52620 -    It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,846, 

approving and adopting certain revised Personnel Policies, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Sires and response by Finance & 
Business Operations Director Rodenbeck, it was moved by Harding and 
seconded by Sires to table the motion until the January 20, 2020 Council 
meeting. Motion to table failed 2-4 with Councilmembers Miller, deBuhr, Kruse 
and Darrah voting nay. 

 
      Following additional questions and comments by Scott Dix, 7821 North Union 

Road, Janesville, Whitney Smith, 2904 Neola Street, Councilmembers deBuhr, 
Miller and Harding, and responses by Finance & Business Operations Director 
Rodenbeck and City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the original 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah. Nay: Harding, Sires. Motion carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #21,846 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52621 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that Resolution #21,847, 

approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Ferrell Madden, LLC for the College Hill 
Area Study Amendment relative to the Cedar Falls Visioning & Zoning Code 
Update Project, be adopted. Following questions by Councilmembers Sires and 
Harding, comments by the Mayor and College Hill Partnership Executive Director 
Kathryn Sogard, and responses by Community Development Director Sheetz, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, 
Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,847 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
52622 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2962, amending 

Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
establishing parking regulations, in conjunction with the implementation of 
recommendations from the Downtown and College Hill parking studies, be 
passed upon its first consideration. Engineer Technician Ray provided a brief 
summary of the proposed amendments and responded to a question by 
Councilmember Darrah. The Mayor then put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried.  

 
52623 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,848, 

approving the filling of the At-Large City Council vacancy by appointment, 
directing publication of notice of the same, and establishing the application filing 
deadline and date of appointment, be adopted. City Administrator Gaines 
responded to questions by Councilmembers Miller, deBuhr, Sires and the Mayor. 

9

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Nick Taiber, 1709 Clay Street, spoke in support of the appointment and 
commented on election integrity. 

  
 The following individuals spoke in opposition to the appointment and in support of 

a special election: 
 Stan Smith, 3221 Pleasant Drive 
 LeaAnn Saul, 1825 Greenhill Road 
 Ron Florey, 301 Spruce Hills Drive 
 Minette Anderson, 2508 Union Road 
 Whitney Smith, 2904 Neola Street 
 Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road 
 Nate Didier, 501 Barbara Drive 
 Scott Dix, 7821 North Union Road, Janesville 
 Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street 
 Tracy Sulentic, 1008 Rocklyn Street 
 Sharon Regenold, 108 Lilliput Lane 
 
 Following additional questions and comments by Councilmembers deBuhr, 

Harding, Kruse, Darrah, Sires and Miller, and responses by City Administrator 
Gaines, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Darrah. 
Nay: Harding, Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#21,848 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52624 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Kruse that the bills and payrolls of 

January 6, 2020 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: 
None. Motion carried. 

 
52625 - Councilmember Sires thanked Councilmember Miller for his work and support of 

improvements at the North Cedar Elementary School. 
 
52626 - Councilmembers deBuhr and Kruse responded to comments by Whitney Smith, 

2904 Neola Street, regarding a special election. 
 
 LeaAnn Saul, 1825 Greenhill Road, expressed appreciation for the interaction at 

the meeting. 
  
 Public Works Director Schrage and Public Safety Service Director Olson 

responded to comments by Tracy Sulentic, 1008 Rocklyn Street, regarding the 
position of Police Chief and North Cedar runoff.  

 
 Thomas Frein, 1315 Austin Way, spoke about voter turnout. 
 

Jess Wittenburg, 4319 Wynnewood Drive, congratulated Mayor Green and new 
Councilmembers Harding and Sires on their election wins. 
 

10

ITEM 1.



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, commented on low voter turnout and advocated 
for more town hall meetings. 
 
Stan Smith, 3221 Pleasant Drive, spoke about city council appointments. 
 
Paul Rider, 3422 Clearview Drive, spoke about making decisions based on 
economics and safety. 
 
Ron Florey, 301 Spruce Hills Drive, congratulated the mayor for the discussion 
during the meeting. 
 
Penny Popp, 4805 South Main Street, congratulated the mayor and the public in 
attendance at the meeting. 
 
Jeremy Sulentic, 1008 Rocklyn Street, expressed concerns about not providing 
insurance for city employees over age 65 and their families. Finance & Business 
Operations Director Rodenbeck responded to the speaker and Councilmember 
Miller. 
 
Councilmember Kruse commented on the analytics of issues and using accurate 
information to make decisions. 
 
Councilmember Sires requested to start each meeting with the pledge of 
allegiance and advocated to reestablish Council committees. 
 
Mayor Green expressed appreciation for the dialogue at the meeting. 

 
52627 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the meeting be adjourned 

at 9:18 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     _________________________________ 

  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

11

ITEM 1.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: January 15, 2020 

 SUBJECT:   FY20-FY25 Capital Improvements Program 

 
The FY20-FY25 Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is on the agenda for your formal 
approval. The CIP was presented at committee on January 6th to the City Council and 
the Planning & Zoning Commission.  
 
If you have questions regarding the CIP or its impact, please feel free to contact me. 
 
 
 
 

12

ITEM 2.



13

ITEM 2.



14

ITEM 2.



15

ITEM 2.



16

ITEM 2.



17

ITEM 2.



18

ITEM 2.



19

ITEM 2.



20

ITEM 2.



21

ITEM 2.



22

ITEM 2.



23

ITEM 2.



24

ITEM 2.



25

ITEM 2.



26

ITEM 2.



27

ITEM 2.



28

ITEM 2.



29

ITEM 2.



30

ITEM 2.



31

ITEM 2.



32

ITEM 2.



33

ITEM 2.



34

ITEM 2.



35

ITEM 2.



36

ITEM 2.



37

ITEM 2.



38

ITEM 2.



39

ITEM 2.



40

ITEM 2.



41

ITEM 2.



42

ITEM 2.



43

ITEM 2.



44

ITEM 2.



45

ITEM 2.



46

ITEM 2.



47

ITEM 2.



48

ITEM 2.



49

ITEM 2.



50

ITEM 2.



51

ITEM 2.



52

ITEM 2.



53

ITEM 2.



54

ITEM 2.



55

ITEM 2.



56

ITEM 2.



57

ITEM 2.



58

ITEM 2.



59

ITEM 2.



60

ITEM 2.



61

ITEM 2.



62

ITEM 2.



63

ITEM 2.



64

ITEM 2.



65

ITEM 2.



66

ITEM 2.



67

ITEM 2.



68

ITEM 2.



69

ITEM 2.



70

ITEM 2.



71

ITEM 2.



72

ITEM 2.



73

ITEM 2.



74

ITEM 2.



75

ITEM 2.



76

ITEM 2.



77

ITEM 2.



78

ITEM 2.



79

ITEM 2.



80

ITEM 2.



81

ITEM 2.



82

ITEM 2.



83

ITEM 2.



84

ITEM 2.



85

ITEM 2.



86

ITEM 2.



87

ITEM 2.



88

ITEM 2.



89

ITEM 2.



90

ITEM 2.



91

ITEM 2.



92

ITEM 2.



93

ITEM 2.



94

ITEM 2.



95

ITEM 2.



96

ITEM 2.



97

ITEM 2.



98

ITEM 2.



99

ITEM 2.



100

ITEM 2.



101

ITEM 2.



102

ITEM 2.



103

ITEM 2.



104

ITEM 2.



105

ITEM 2.



106

ITEM 2.



107

ITEM 2.



108

ITEM 2.



109

ITEM 2.



110

ITEM 2.



111

ITEM 2.



112

ITEM 2.



113

ITEM 2.



114

ITEM 2.



115

ITEM 2.



116

ITEM 2.



117

ITEM 2.



118

ITEM 2.



119

ITEM 2.



120

ITEM 2.



121

ITEM 2.



122

ITEM 2.



123

ITEM 2.



124

ITEM 2.



125

ITEM 2.



126

ITEM 2.



127

ITEM 2.



128

ITEM 2.



129

ITEM 2.



130

ITEM 2.



131

ITEM 2.



132

ITEM 2.



133

ITEM 2.



134

ITEM 2.



135

ITEM 2.



136

ITEM 2.



137

ITEM 2.



138

ITEM 2.



139

ITEM 2.



140

ITEM 2.



141

ITEM 2.



142

ITEM 2.



143

ITEM 2.



144

ITEM 2.



145

ITEM 2.



146

ITEM 2.



147

ITEM 2.



148

ITEM 2.



149

ITEM 2.



150

ITEM 2.



151

ITEM 2.



152

ITEM 2.



153

ITEM 2.



154

ITEM 2.



155

ITEM 2.



156

ITEM 2.



157

ITEM 2.



158

ITEM 2.



159

ITEM 2.



160

ITEM 2.



161

ITEM 2.



162

ITEM 2.



163

ITEM 2.



164

ITEM 2.



165

ITEM 2.



166

ITEM 2.



167

ITEM 2.



168

ITEM 2.



169

ITEM 2.



170

ITEM 2.



171

ITEM 2.



172

ITEM 2.



173

ITEM 2.



174

ITEM 2.



175

ITEM 2.



176

ITEM 2.



177

ITEM 2.



178

ITEM 2.



179

ITEM 2.



180

ITEM 2.



181

ITEM 2.



182

ITEM 2.



183

ITEM 2.



184

ITEM 2.



185

ITEM 2.



186

ITEM 2.



187

ITEM 2.



188

ITEM 2.



189

ITEM 2.



190

ITEM 2.



191

ITEM 2.



192

ITEM 2.



193

ITEM 2.



194

ITEM 2.



195

ITEM 2.



196

ITEM 2.



197

ITEM 2.



198

ITEM 2.



199

ITEM 2.



200

ITEM 2.



201

ITEM 2.



202

ITEM 2.



203

ITEM 2.



204

ITEM 2.



205

ITEM 2.



206

ITEM 2.



207

ITEM 2.



208

ITEM 2.



209

ITEM 2.



210

ITEM 2.



211

ITEM 2.



212

ITEM 2.



213

ITEM 2.



214

ITEM 2.



215

ITEM 2.



216

ITEM 2.



217

ITEM 2.



218

ITEM 2.



219

ITEM 2.



220

ITEM 2.



221

ITEM 2.



222

ITEM 2.



223

ITEM 2.



224

ITEM 2.



225

ITEM 2.



226

ITEM 2.



227

ITEM 2.



228

ITEM 2.



229

ITEM 2.



230

ITEM 2.



231

ITEM 2.



232

ITEM 2.



233

ITEM 2.



234

ITEM 2.



235

ITEM 2.



236

ITEM 2.



237

ITEM 2.



238

ITEM 2.



239

ITEM 2.



240

ITEM 2.



241

ITEM 2.



242

ITEM 2.



243

ITEM 2.



244

ITEM 2.



245

ITEM 2.



246

ITEM 2.



247

ITEM 2.



248

ITEM 2.



249

ITEM 2.



250

ITEM 2.



251

ITEM 2.



252

ITEM 2.



253

ITEM 2.



254

ITEM 2.



255

ITEM 2.



256

ITEM 2.



257

ITEM 2.



258

ITEM 2.



259

ITEM 2.



260

ITEM 2.



261

ITEM 2.



262

ITEM 2.



263

ITEM 2.



264

ITEM 2.



265

ITEM 2.



266

ITEM 2.



267

ITEM 2.



268

ITEM 2.



269

ITEM 2.



270

ITEM 2.



271

ITEM 2.



272

ITEM 2.



273

ITEM 2.



274

ITEM 2.



275

ITEM 2.



276

ITEM 2.



277

ITEM 2.



278

ITEM 2.



279

ITEM 2.



280

ITEM 2.



281

ITEM 2.



282

ITEM 2.



283

ITEM 2.



284

ITEM 2.



285

ITEM 2.



286

ITEM 2.



287

ITEM 2.



288

ITEM 2.



289

ITEM 2.



290

ITEM 2.



291

ITEM 2.



292

ITEM 2.



293

ITEM 2.



294

ITEM 2.



295

ITEM 2.



296

ITEM 2.



297

ITEM 2.



298

ITEM 2.



299

ITEM 2.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members   

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: January 14, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Annual Reimbursement Resolution 

 
Please find attached a copy of the IRS mandated reimbursement resolution.  Each year 
the City submits a list of projects prior to the sale of General Obligation bonds and 
Revenue bonds that allows the City to be eligible to reimburse ourselves from the bond 
funds for previously incurred expenses relating to the projects listed. 
 
The attachment referred to in the resolution will be the FY20-FY25 Capital 
Improvements Program (CIP) that is also being presented to Council for approval.  After 
formal adoption, a copy of the final CIP will be attached to the resolution and filed in the 
City’s official records.  
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

300

ITEM 4.



RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

 

RESOLUTION DECLARING AN OFFICIAL INTENT UNDER TREASURY 

REGULATION  1.150-2 TO ISSUE DEBT TO REIMBURSE THE CITY FOR 

CERTAIN ORIGINAL EXPENDITURES PAID IN CONNECTION WITH 

SPECIFIED PROJECTS 

 

WHEREAS, the City anticipates making cash expenditures for one or more 

capital improvements projects, generally described on Attachment A (each of which 

shall hereinafter be referred to as a "Project"), and 

 

WHEREAS, the City reasonably expects to issue debt to reimburse the costs of 

a Project, and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council believes it is consistent with the City's budgetary and 

financial circumstances to issue this declaration of official intent. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa: 

Section 1.  That this Resolution be and does hereby serve as a declaration of 

official intent under Treasury Regulation 1.150-2. 

Section 2.  That it is reasonably expected that capital expenditures will be made 

in respect of the foregoing Projects, from time to time and in such amounts as this 

Council determines to be necessary or desirable under the circumstances then and 

there existing. 

Section 3.  That the City reasonably expects to reimburse all or a portion of the 

foregoing expenditures with the proceeds of bonds, notes or other indebtedness to be 

issued or incurred by the City in the future. 

Section 4.  That the total estimated costs of the projects, the maximum principal 

amount of bonds, notes or other indebtedness to be issued for the foregoing Projects and 

the estimated dates of completion of the Projects are reasonably expected to be as follows: 

 

 

301

ITEM 4.



See Attachment A: 

 All Projects with the identifications code of G.O.  2018, 2020, 

2022, and 2024; SRF, SRB-6, SRB-7, and SRB-8. 

 All Projects with the identifications code of TIF-UN, TIF-DT, TIF-

CH, TIF-PP, and TIF-SCF. 

 All Projects with CP, LST, ER, GFS, and STG. 

If such grants are not received, it is intended that the costs to be financed will be 

increased accordingly. 

Section 5.  That the City reasonably expects to reimburse the above-mentioned 

Project costs no later than the later of eighteen months after the capital expenditures are 

paid or eighteen months after the property is placed in service. 

Section 6.  That this Resolution be maintained by the City Clerk in an Official Intent 

File maintained in the office of the City Clerk and available at all times for public inspection, 

subject to such revisions as may be necessary. 

 

ADOPTED this 20th day of January 2020.                                                       

                                                                                   _____________________ 

                                                                                     Robert M. Green, Mayor 
                                                                                            

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

302

ITEM 4.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: January 14, 2020 

 SUBJECT: SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. Agreement for Private Development 
 
 
On July 7, 2014, City Council approved an Agreement for Private Development with 
SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. (Standard Distribution Co.) to construct a new 108,000 square 
foot warehouse and distribution facility at 1225 Rail Way within the Northern Cedar Falls 
Industrial Park. The Agreement included the transfer of 16 acres of City-owned land to 
the company and also included a standard 5-year Industrial Partial Property Tax 
Exemption, based on the projects estimated valuation of $3,800,000. The 108,000 
square foot building was completed by the company in 2014, and has met all of the 
requirements of the approved Agreement for Private Development. 
 
In 2018, the company constructed a 54,000 square foot addition to the building, as the 
business was looking to add additional space at that location. There was no Agreement 
for Private Development entered into with the City for the building addition, as there was 
no transfer of property involved. Even though there was no Agreement entered into with 
the City, the company was still eligible to file an application with the Black Hawk County 
Assessor’s Office for the Industrial Property Tax Exemption, which would provide a 5-
year partial tax exemption on the assessed valuation of the 54,000 square foot building 
addition only. 
 
Per Iowa Code, an application for the Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption must be 
filed to the County Assessor by no later than February 1st of the year that the 
improvements are fully assessed. Since the project was completed in 2018, the full 
valuation for the addition was assessed on January 1, 2019. This means that the 
application for the Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption would have to have been 
filed before February 1, 2019. SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. did file an application with the 
Black Hawk County Assessor’s Office in December of 2018, which was before the 
February 1st deadline, however it was later found to be the wrong application, as they 
mistakenly applied for the Business Property Tax Credit and not the Industrial Partial 
Property Tax Exemption. Since this error was not realized until after the February 1, 
2019 deadline, SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. is not only ineligible for the first year of the 
Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption, but they are ineligible for all 5 years of the 
exemption. 
 

303

ITEM 5.



SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. is therefore requesting the City’s consideration of providing tax 
rebates equal to the remaining four (4) years of the Industrial Partial Property Tax 
Exemption on the completed 54,000 square foot addition that has a current valuation of 
$1,462,280. 
 

The City has the ability (though not required) to provide the requested economic 
development grants/tax reimbursements to SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. under Chapter 15A 
of the Iowa Code. However, in order to do so under Chapter 15A, an Agreement for 
Private Development must include language for the retention and/or creation of jobs tied 
to the economic development project. Thus, you will note the specific job 
creation/retention requirement (5) in Section 2.1 (b), Employment Obligation and 
verified annually in Exhibit B, Employer’s Annual Certification.   
 
The intent of the Agreement for Private Development is to allow the City to “reimburse” 
SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. by making a series of economic development grants in the 
amount(s) of the remaining four (4) years that would have been abated had the 
application for the Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption been filed by the company 
in a timely manner.  (This agreement is very similar to the Agreement approved by City 
Council in December of 2012 for the construction of the Target Perishable Foods 
Distribution Center who likewise failed to file the Industrial Partial Property Tax 
Exemption application in a timely manner). The proposed economic development grant 
amounts will not exceed a total of $65,600 over the next four tax years tied to the 
$1,462,280 assessed valuation of the 54,000 square foot building addition.  
 
SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. (Standard Distribution Co.) has been a tremendous economic 
development partner with the City of Cedar Falls over the years. The company has 
three locations in Cedar Falls that occupy over 650,000 square feet of space, and have 
a combined assessed valuation exceeding $18,600,000. In return for the City’s 
consideration of providing the four (4) remaining years of tax rebates (annual economic 
development grants), SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. will agree to maintain its employment 
level of at least 5 full time employees over the next 5 years. 
 
It is recommended that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 

Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 
SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. 

 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed project, please feel free to let me 
know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 Stan Poe, SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. 
          
           

304

ITEM 5.



Rail Way

Le
ve

rse
e R

d

I

54,000 SF Addition

SDC Real Estate, L.L.C.
1225 Rail Way
54,000 Sq Ft
Warehouse Addition

305

ITEM 5.



Execution Version 

  

 

 

 

 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

 

 

BY AND BETWEEN 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

 

 

AND 

 

 

 

 

SDC REAL ESTATE, L.L.C. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

306

ITEM 5.



 

1 
Execution Version 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT  

 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMEN (hereinafter called "Agreement"), 

is made on or as of the _____ day of____________, 2020 (the "Effective Date"), by and between 

the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City" or "the City"), 

established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization of 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended (Chapter 403 hereinafter called 

"Urban Renewal Act") and SDC REAL ESTATE, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company 

having an office for the transaction of business at 317 Savannah Park Road, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

50613 ("Developer");  

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties have determined to enter into an Agreement for Private 

Development ("Agreement") in order to provide for certain rebates of incremental taxes 

generated by the construction of a 54,000 square foot industrial-use warehouse facility addition 

(the "Minimum Improvements") on certain property described in Exhibit A (“Development 

Property”).  The Minimum Improvements were anticipated to be subject to a five-year tax 

abatement schedule pursuant to city ordinance under Iowa Code § 427B; however, due to an 

error in filing a timely application, such abatement is not available to Developer, but the City is 

willing to provide a four-year, sliding-scale tax rebate incentive (“Economic Development 

Grants”) in exchange for job retention/creation and other commitments on the part of Developer 

as described herein; and 

 

 WHEREAS, before entering into this Agreement, the City Council has found that the use 

of City funds to finance the Economic Development Grants will promote the creation or 

retention of jobs and is accord with the provisions of applicable laws, including but not limited 

to, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Development Property is located within the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area and Developer's expansion and commitments under 

this Agreement are consistent with the objectives of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Plan and Iowa Code Chapter 403. 

 

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual obligations of the 

Parties, each Party hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS 

 

 Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this 

Agreement, all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 

meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

307

ITEM 5.



 

2 
Execution Version 

 

Agreement means this Agreement and all exhibits and appendices hereto, as the same 

may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

Annual Certification means the certifications that the Developer must complete and 

submit to the City each year as described in Section 3.3 of this Agreement and attached as 

Exhibit B. 

 

Area or Urban Renewal Area shall mean the area known as the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (as amended from time to time). 

 

City means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its functions.   

 

Code means the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended. 

 

Commencement Date means the date of this Agreement. 

 

Developer means SDC Real Estate, LLC, an Iowa limited liability company, and each 

assignee that assumes in writing all of the obligations of the Developer under this Agreement 

with the written consent of the City as provided in Section 2.1(g) of this Agreement. 

 

Development Property means that portion of the Urban Renewal Area described in 

Exhibit A. 

 

Economic Development Grants means the payments to be made by the City to Developer 

under Section 3  of this Agreement. 

 

Minimum Improvements means the construction of a 54,000 square foot industrial-use 

warehouse facility addition on the Development Property.   

 

Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to Developer under a policy or 

policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by Developer, pursuant to Section 

2.1(c) of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees and 

disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

Ordinance means Ordinance of the City under which the taxes levied on the taxable 

property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided and a portion paid into the Unified 

Highway 58  Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund. 

 

Project shall mean the maintenance and operation of the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property and the creation and maintenance of jobs, as described in this Agreement. 

 

SDC Real Estate, LLC TIF Account means a separate account within the Unified 

Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund of the City in which Tax Increments 

received by the City with respect to the Minimum Improvements (building value only) shall be 

deposited. 

 

308

ITEM 5.



 

3 
Execution Version 

 

State means the State of Iowa. 

 

Tax Increments means the property tax revenues on the Minimum Improvements 

(building value only) divided and made available to the City for deposit in the Standard 

Construction TIF Account of the Unified Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue 

Fund under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code, as amended, and the Ordinance, 

measured from the base assessed value as of January 1, 2018.  

 

Termination Date means the date of termination of this Agreement, as established in 

Section 4.3 of this Agreement. 

 

Unified Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund means the special 

fund of the City created under the authority of Section 403.19(2) of the Code and the Ordinance, 

which fund will be created in order to pay the principal of and interest on loans, monies 

advanced to or indebtedness, whether funded, refunded, assumed or otherwise, including bonds 

or other obligations issued under the authority of Chapters 15A, 403 or 384 of the Code, incurred 

by the City to finance or refinance in whole or in part projects undertaken pursuant to the Urban 

Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area. 

 

Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan, as amended from time to time, 

approved with respect to the Urban Renewal Area, described in the preambles hereof. 

 

 

SECTION 2.  COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

 

 Section 2.1. Developer built an approximately 54,000 square foot industrial-use 

warehouse facility addition on the Development Property.  These Minimum Improvements were 

completed in 2018 and were first fully assessed on January 1, 2019, with a value of $1,462,280 

for the Minimum Improvements (building value only).  Developer agrees that each of the 

following is a condition precedent to the receipt of any Economic Development Grants under this 

Agreement: 

 

a. Developer agrees that any Economic Development Grants to be issued 

pursuant to this Agreement are conditioned on the assessed value of the Minimum 

Improvements being at least $1,462,280 (building value only) on January 1, 2019, and 

continuing through January 1, 2025.  

 

b. Employment Obligation. Developer employs five (5) Full-Time 

Employment Units as of the Commencement Date at the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property.  Developer will retain a Monthly Average of at least five Full-

Time Employees until June 1, 2025.     

 

i. "Monthly Average" means the average number of Full-Time 

Employment Units employed as of October 1 of each year and as of the first day 

of each of the preceding eleven months, as shown in Developer's Annual 

Certification in Section 3.3 and Exhibit B.  Developer shall not receive any 

309

ITEM 5.



 

4 
Execution Version 

 

Economic Development Grants if the Monthly Average of Full-Time 

Employment Units does not meet the requirements of this Employment 

Obligation.  Developer shall provide information as requested by the City to 

determine compliance with the foregoing Employment Obligation.   

ii. For purposes of this Agreement, "Full-Time Employment Unit" 

means the equivalent of employment of one person working hours or days per week 

(including paid holidays, vacations and other paid leave) currently established by 

schedule, custom or otherwise as constituting a week of full-time work for the kind 

of service that individual performs for the employing unit. 

c. Developer shall insure and keep insured, in good and responsible 

insurance companies, the Minimum Improvements against loss or damage from such 

hazards or risks as are insured by persons similarly situated and operating like properties.  

Developer shall insure such other hazards and risks, including employers’ and public 

liability risks, in good and responsible insurance companies, as and to the extent usually 

insured by persons similarly situated and conducting similar business.  Upon request of 

the City, Developer shall furnish a certificate setting forth in summary form the nature 

and extent of the insurance maintained pursuant to this Section 2.1(c).  Developer shall 

notify the City immediately in the case of damage exceeding $100,000 or destruction of 

the Minimum Improvements or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  

In the event of damage to the Minimum Improvements, all Net Proceeds paid under a 

policy required by this Section shall be paid directly to Developer, and Developer shall 

forthwith repair, reconstruct, and restore the Minimum Improvements to substantially the 

same or an improved condition or value as they existed prior to the event that caused the 

damage.  To the extent necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and 

restoration, the Developer shall apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 

damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs thereof.  

The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction, and restoration of the Minimum 

Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received by Developer for 

such purposes are sufficient. 

d. Developer will maintain, preserve, and keep the Development Property 

and Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, ordinary wear and tear 

excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, replacements, renewals, 

and additions. 

e. Developer shall pay or cause to be paid, when due, all real property taxes 

and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the Development Property. 

Until such obligations have been assumed by any other person, all pursuant to the 

provisions of this Agreement, Developer shall be responsible for all assessments and 

taxes. 

f. In the operation of the Minimum Improvements, Developer shall not 

discriminate against any applicant, employee, or tenant because of age, color, creed, 

national origin, race, religion, marital status, sex, physical disability, or familial status.  

310

ITEM 5.



 

5 
Execution Version 

 

Developer shall ensure that applicants, employees, and tenants are considered and are 

treated without regard to their age, color, creed, national origin, race, religion, marital 

status, sex, physical disability, or familial status. 

g. Developer represents and agrees that, prior to the Termination Date, 

Developer shall not transfer, convey, or assign its interest in this Agreement to any other 

party unless: (i) the transferee partnership, corporation, limited liability company, or 

individual assumes in writing all of the then-outstanding obligations of Developer under 

this Agreement; and (ii) the City consents thereto in writing in advance thereof. 

h. Developer shall provide the Annual Certifications required by Section 3.3 

and such certifications shall not reveal any default by Developer. 

 

 Section 2.2. Developer agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City from 

any claim arising out of or connected with Developer's acts, omissions, or negligence with the 

Minimum Improvements or this Agreement.  Developer will not indemnify, defend, or hold 

harmless the City from any of the City's acts or omissions or negligence. 

 

 Section 2.3. To its knowledge with respect to the Minimum Improvements, Developer 

is not in material violation of any local, state, or federal environmental law or regulation and is 

not aware of any pending or threatened claim against Developer with respect to such laws. 

 

 Section 2.4. Developer represents that without the Economic Development Grants 

contemplated herein, Developer would not agree to the Employment Obligation (Section 2.1(c)) 

and other commitments contained in this Agreement. 

 

 Section 2.5. Developer agrees to reimburse the City for its legal fees and costs 

associated with this Agreement within 10 days of the mailing of City’s request for payment.   

 

 Section 2.6. Developer acknowledges and agrees it has no rights to and shall not seek 

any type of tax abatement or tax incentive from the City pursuant to any City ordinance or state 

law or any other statutory authorization related to the Minimum Improvements, other than the 

rights to Economic Development Grants in conformance with this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 3.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 

AND ANNUAL CERTIFICATION 

 

Section 3.1  Economic Development Grants. 

  

a. Payment of Grants.  For and in consideration of the obligations being assumed by 

Developer hereunder, and in furtherance of the goals and objectives of the Urban Renewal Plan 

for the Urban Renewal Area and the Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, subject to Developer 

being and remaining in compliance with the terms of this Agreement at the time of each 

payment, to make up to four (4) consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants 

to Developer under the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

311

ITEM 5.



 

6 
Execution Version 

 

b. Schedule of Grants.  Assuming compliance with the terms of the Agreement by 

Developer at the time of each payment, the Economic Development Grants shall be paid 

pursuant to the following schedule and formula: 

 

 June 1, 2022  60% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 21-22  

 June 1, 2023  45% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 22-23  

 June 1, 2024  30% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 23-24 

 June 1, 2025  15% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 24-25 

  

 

Under no circumstances shall the failure by Developer to qualify for an Economic 

Development Grant in any year serve to extend the term of this Agreement beyond the 

Termination Date or the years during which Economic Development Grants may be awarded or 

the total amount thereof, it being the intent of parties hereto to provide Developer with an 

opportunity to receive Economic Development Grants only if Developer fully complies with the 

provisions hereof and the Developer becomes entitled thereto, up to the maximum aggregate 

amount set forth in Section 3.1(c). 

 

c. Maximum Amount of Economic Development Grants.  The aggregate amount of 

the Economic Development Grants that may be paid to the Developer under this Agreement shall 

not exceed the lesser of: (i) the amount of available Tax Increments under the formula and 

schedule set forth in Section 3.1(b) or (ii) $65,600.  The Economic Development Grants are only 

for the Minimum Improvements described in this Agreement and not any expansions or 

improvements not included within the definition of the Minimum Improvements which, to be 

eligible for Economic Development Grants, would be the subject of an amendment or new 

agreement, at the sole discretion of the City Council.   

 

d. Calculation of Grants.  Each annual payment shall be equal in amount to the 

above percentages of the Tax Increments collected by the City with respect to the Minimum 

Improvements (improvement value only) under the terms of the Ordinance and deposited into the 

SDC Real Estate, LLC TIF Account (without regard to any averaging that may otherwise be 

utilized under Section 403.19 and excluding any interest that may accrue thereon prior to 

payment to Developer) during the preceding twelve-month period in respect of the Development 

Property and the Minimum Improvements, but subject to limitation and adjustment as provided 

in this Article.  For the avoidance of doubt, the assessed value of the Development Property and 

any buildings thereon as assessed on January 1, 2018 shall not be included in the calculation of 

any Tax Increment. 

 

e. Source of Economic Development Grant Funds Limited. It is agreed and 

understood that each Economic Development Grant shall be payable from and secured solely and 

only by incremental taxes received by the City under Iowa Code Section 403.19 from levies 

upon the Minimum Improvements and deposited and held in the SDC Real Estate, LLC TIF 

Account of the Unified Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund of the City; 

and in no event shall Developer be entitled to receive more than calculated under the formula set 

forth in Section 3.1(b), even if the aggregate amount is less than $65,600. 

 

312

ITEM 5.



 

7 
Execution Version 

 

 Section 3.2. The Economic Development Grants shall be the only monetary 

consideration given by the City to Developer in connection with this Agreement. 

 

a.     The Economic Development Grants shall be payable from and secured solely 

and only by amounts deposited and held in the SDC Real Estate, L.L.C. TIF Account of 

the Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area Tax Increment Revenue Fund of 

the City.  The City hereby covenants and agrees to maintain the Ordinance in force 

during the term hereof with respect to the Development Property and to apply the 

incremental taxes to pay the Economic Development Grants, as and to the extent set forth 

in this Agreement.  The Economic Development Grants shall not be payable in any 

manner by other tax increment revenues or by general taxation or from any other City 

funds.  Any commercial and industrial property tax replacement monies that may be 

received under chapter 441.21A shall not be included in the calculation to determine the 

amount of Economic Development Grants for which Developer is eligible, and any 

monies received back under chapter 426C relating to the Business Property Tax Credit 

shall not be included in the calculation to determine the amount of Economic 

Development Grants for which Developer is eligible. 

 

Each Economic Development Grant is subject to annual appropriation by the City 

Council.  The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is intended 

by the parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City's obligation 

to make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal indebtedness of 

the City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory debt limitation 

prior to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment of that 

installment or amount.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are 

determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, such 

a legal indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provision shall be suspended, 

and this Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a manner as will 

preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no event of default by the City shall be 

deemed to have occurred as a result thereof.  If any provision of this Agreement or the 

application thereof to any circumstance is so suspended, the suspension shall not affect 

other provisions of this Agreement which can be given effect without the suspended 

provision.  To this end, the provisions of this Agreement are severable.  

 

b.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Agreement, the City shall have no 

obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to Developer if at any time during 

the term hereof the City Council fails to appropriate funds or the City receives an opinion 

from counsel to the effect that the use of Tax Increments to fund an Economic 

Development Grant to Developer, as contemplated under this Agreement, is not 

authorized or otherwise an appropriate urban renewal activity permitted to be undertaken 

by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or other applicable provisions of the Code or 

Iowa Constitution, as then constituted.  Upon receipt of such an opinion, the City shall 

promptly forward a copy of the same to Developer.  In the event of non-appropriation, or 

if the circumstances or legal constraints giving rise to the opinion continue for a period 

during which two Economic Development Grants would otherwise have been paid to 

Developer under the terms of this Agreement, the City may terminate this Agreement, 

313

ITEM 5.



 

8 
Execution Version 

 

without penalty or other liability to Developer by providing written notice to Developer. 

 

Section 3.3. Annual Certification.  To assist the City in monitoring the performance of 

Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of Developer shall annually certify to the City the 

following:  (a) all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been timely paid for the 

prior fiscal year and for the current fiscal year, if due and payable, and provide proof of payment 

of said taxes to the Annual Certification; (b) the Minimum Improvements (building value only) 

has an assessed valuation of at least $1,462,280 by January 1, 2019, and continuing through 

January 1, 2025; (c) the number of Full-Time Employment Units employed at the Minimum 

Improvements as of the date of the Agreement and as of the date of the certification and the first 

date of each of the preceding eleven months; and (d) that Developer is in compliance with the 

Agreement.  Such Annual Certification shall be provided not later than October 1 of each year, 

commencing on October 1, 2020 and ending on October 1, 2024, both dates inclusive.  

Developer's Annual Certification pursuant to this provision shall be in the form set forth in 

Exhibit B, attached hereto.  

   

 

SECTION 4.  OBLIGATIONS OF DEVELOPER AND CITY WITH RESPECT TO THE 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANTS AND TERMINATION THEREOF 

  

 Section 4.1. Default and Remedies.   

 

a.  Default.  The Economic Development Grants set out in Section 3 are wholly 

contingent upon a finding that Developer and its successors are in compliance with the 

obligations, responsibilities, and covenants of this Agreement.  In the event that the City has 

knowledge of the failure by Developer or its successors to comply with the obligations, 

responsibilities, and covenants of this Agreement, the City shall provide written notice and a 30-

day opportunity to cure the default to Developer or its successors.   

 

b. Remedies.  If such default is not timely cured, the City may exercise any one or 

more available remedies, including but not limited to the following: 

 

i. The City may suspend its performance under this Agreement until it 

receives assurances from the Developer, deemed adequate by the City, that the Developer 

will cure the default and continue its performance under this Agreement; 

 

ii. The City may terminate this Agreement; 

 

iii. The City may take any action, including legal, equitable, or administrative 

action, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce performance and observance 

of any obligation, agreement, or covenant of Developer, as the case may be, under this 

Agreement; or 

 

 iv. The City will have no obligation to make payment of Economic 

Development Grants to Developer subsequent to the default and shall be entitled to 

recover from Developer, and Developer shall repay to the City, an amount equal to the 

314

ITEM 5.



 

9 
Execution Version 

 

full amount of the Economic Development Grants previously made to Developer under 

Section 3 hereof, with interest thereon at the highest rate permitted by State law.  The 

City may take any action, including any legal action it deems necessary, to recover such 

amounts from Developer. Section  

 

c.   No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the City 

is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every 

remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this 

Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  No delay or omission to 

exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power or 

shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised from 

time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.   

 

d.   No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this Agreement 

should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, such waiver shall be 

limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other concurrent, 

previous, or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

e.   Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  Whenever the City shall 

employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of payments due or to become due or 

for the enforcement or performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of 

Developer herein contained, and the City prevails in an action to enforce this Agreement, the 

Developer agree that they shall, on demand therefor, pay to the City the reasonable fees of such 

attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably and appropriately incurred by the City 

in connection therewith. 

 

 Section 4.2. No Third Party.  Developer's successors in interest are not third-party 

beneficiaries to the Grants contemplated under this Agreement and the parties do not intend that 

any rights in connection with the Economic Development Grants be conferred upon any third 

party as a result of this Agreement.   

 

Section 4.3. Termination Date. This Agreement shall terminate with the final 

Economic Development Grant for fiscal year 2024/2025, unless terminated earlier pursuant to its 

terms.  

 

 Section 4.4. Conflict of Interest.  The Parties agree that all aspects of the performance 

hereunder shall comply with Iowa Code Sections 15A.2, 362.5, and 403.16. 

 

Section 4.5. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

 Section 4.6. Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa.  The Parties agree that venue for any 

action arising out of, or in connection with this Agreement shall be in the Iowa District Court in 

and for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

315

ITEM 5.



 

10 
Execution Version 

 

 Section 4.7. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect the 

entire agreement among the Parties regarding the subject matters of the Agreement.  Further, this 

Agreement supersedes and replaces all contrary or conflicting prior agreements, negotiations or 

discussions regarding such subject matters, whether oral or written.  This Agreement may not be 

amended, modified or supplemented, except by a subsequent writing signed by all Parties hereto. 

 

 Section 4.8. Captions.  The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not in any way affect, limit, amplify, or modify 

the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

 Section 4.9. Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular number is 

used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any gender shall include 

each other where appropriate. 

 

 Section 4.10. Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any agreement 

contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under present or future 

laws effective during the term of such agreement; then:  (i) such provision shall be fully 

severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, void, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such agreement; and (iii) the remaining 

provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision or by its severance from such agreement. 

 

 Section 4.11. Authorization.  Each Party represents that prior to its execution hereof all 

necessary corporate, governmental or other appropriate action, as applicable, including without 

limitation notices, resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, has been taken to authorize 

the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such Party of its respective obligations 

hereunder. 

  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 

name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by its City 

Clerk and Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed by its authorized 

representative. 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 

  

316

ITEM 5.



 

11 
Execution Version 

 

       CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

___________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA     ) 

) SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

  

On this ______ day of_____________________, 2020, before me a Notary Public in and for said 

County, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me personally 

known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipal Corporation, created and existing under the laws of 

the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipal Corporation, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said 

Municipal Corporation by authority and resolution of its City Council and said Mayor and City 

Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipal Corporation 

by it voluntarily executed. 

 

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

  

317

ITEM 5.



 

12 
Execution Version 

 

SDC REAL ESTATE, L.L.C. 

 

____________________________________ 

Stan Poe, Member 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA     ) 

) SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 

 On this _______ day of ___________________, 2020, before me the undersigned, a 

Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, personally appeared Stan Poe, to me 

personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is a Member of SDC Real 

Estate, L.L.C., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; 

and that the said Member, as such, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the 

voluntary act and deed of said corporation, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

 Notary Public in and for said State 

 

  

318

ITEM 5.



 

13 
Execution Version 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

Lots 1, 2 and 8, Tract E, and Parcel “A” as described in Document number 2015-

001330, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar 

Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa  

319

ITEM 5.



 

14 
Execution Version 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

DEVELOPER'S ANNUAL CERTIFICATION 

 

(due before October 1st as required under terms of Development Agreement) 

 

Developer certifies the following:  

 

A. During the time period covered by this Annual Certification, Developer is and 

was in compliance with Section 3.3 ("Annual Certification") as follows: 

 

(i) All ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been timely paid 

for the prior fiscal year and for the current fiscal year, if due and payable, and attached to 

this Annual Certification is proof of payment of said taxes; and 

 

(ii) The Minimum Improvements (building value only) has an assessed 

valuation of $_________; and 

 

(iii) The number of total Full-Time Employment Units employed at the facility 

as of October 1, ____, and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven months were 

as follows: 

   

September 1, 20__: ______  March 1, 20__: _________ 

August 1, 20__: _______      February 1, 20__: ________ 

July 1, 20__: _______   January 1, 20__: _______ 

June 1, 20__: ________  December 1, 20__: _______ 

May 1, 20__: _______  November 1, 20__: _______ 

April 1, 20__: _________  October 1, 20__: _______ 

 

 

(iv) The undersigned officer of Developer has re-examined the terms and 

provisions of the Agreement and that at the date of such certification, and during the 

preceding twelve months, and certifies that Developer is not, or was not, in default in the 

fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no event of 

default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 

become an event of default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate 

or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or event of 

default that has not been cured, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature 

thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to 

be taken with respect thereto. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

320

ITEM 5.



 

15 
Execution Version 

 

Signed this _________ day of _____________________, 20___. 

       

 

SDC REAL ESTATE, L.L.C., an Iowa limited 

liability company 

 

____________________________________ 

 

By: _________________________________ 

 

Its: _________________________________ 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA    ) 

     ) SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this _______ day of ______________ 20__, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said County, in said State, personally appeared ______________________, to 

me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that s/he is the ____________ of 

SDC Real Estate, L.L.C., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability 

company; and that the said officer acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the 

voluntary act and deed of said limited liability company, by her/him voluntarily executed. 

 

___________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for said State 

 
Attachments: (a) Proof of payment of taxes 
01669500-1\10283-170 

321

ITEM 5.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160    

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND SDC REAL ESTATE, L.L.C. 

 
 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City has 
undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in this 
connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area known as the 
Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or “Urban Renewal 
Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan, as 
amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Area be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by the Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from SDC Real Estate, L.L.C.  
("Developer"), in the form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") 
by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, pursuant to which, 
among other things, the Developer has constructed certain Minimum Improvements (as defined 
in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban Renewal Area as legally 
described in the Agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (defined 
in the Agreement as the "Development Property"), consisting of an Industrial-Use Warehouse 
Facility Addition totaling at least 54,000 square feet of finished space, as outlined in the 
proposed Agreement; and 
 

WHEREAS, one of the obligations of Developer involves job creation/retention on the 
Development Property; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 
conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of up to four (4) consecutive annual payments 
of Economic Development Grants to Developer equivalent to a declining percentage of the tax 
increments that would be generated by the construction of the Minimum Improvements 
(improvement value only) under Iowa Code Section 403.19, the aggregate amount of said 
Grants not to exceed $65,600; and  

 

322

ITEM 5.



 2 

 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Act") authorize 
cities to make grants to developers for economic development purposes in furtherance of the 
objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds, make such expenditures 
and convey such real property as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, 
and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as allowed by law, this Council has held a 

public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the 
Agreement and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or property 
owners as to said proposed Agreement; and, accordingly the following action is now considered 
to be in the best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to the provision of the grants under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 

323

ITEM 5.



 3 

 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after 
the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed. 
 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2020. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

324

ITEM 5.



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2020. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

325

ITEM 5.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: January 13, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Standard Distribution Co. Second Agreement for Private Development 
 
 
On September 18, 2017, City Council approved an Agreement for Private Development 
with Standard Distribution Co. to construct a 53,200 square foot addition to their existing 
285,000 square foot warehouse and distribution facility at 317 Savannah Park Road 
within the Cedar Falls Industrial Park. The Agreement also included the transfer of a 
3.16-acre City-owned lot located across the street from the building (for the construction 
of a new truck parking lot, of which the project was not completed and property 
subsequently transferred back to the City), and a standard 5-year Industrial Partial 
Property Tax Exemption, based on the projects estimated valuation of $1,800,000. The 
53,200 square foot addition to the building was completed by the company in the 
summer of 2018, and has an assessed valuation of $1,997,730, which is more than the 
required $1,800,000 minimum valuation. 
 
For an economic development project of this scope that is tied to an Agreement for 
Private Development, the City approves by Ordinance the granting of the Industrial 
Partial Property Tax Exemption. On November 5, 2018, City Council approved 
Ordinance No. 2932, which provided for the applicable 5-year Industrial Partial Property 
Tax Exemption to Standard Distribution Co.  
 
Per Iowa Code, an application for the Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption must be 
filed to the County Assessor by no later than February 1st of the year that the 
improvements are fully assessed. Since the project was completed in 2018, the full 
valuation for the addition was assessed on January 1, 2019. This means that the 
application for the Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption would have to have been 
filed before February 1, 2019. Standard Distribution Co. did file an application with the 
Black Hawk County Assessor’s Office in December of 2018, which was before the 
February 1st deadline, however it was later found to be the wrong application, as they 
mistakenly applied for the Business Property Tax Credit and not the Industrial Partial 
Property Tax Exemption. Since this error was not realized until after the February 1, 
2019 deadline, Standard Distribution Co. is not only ineligible for the first year of the 
Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption, but it is ineligible for all 5 years of the 
exemption. 
 

326

ITEM 7.



Standard Distribution Co. is therefore requesting the City’s consideration of providing 
tax rebates equal to the remaining four (4) years of the Industrial Partial Property Tax 
Exemption on the completed 53,200 square foot addition that has a current valuation of 
$1,997,730. 
 

The City has the ability (though not required) to provide the requested economic 
development grants/tax reimbursements to Standard Distribution Co. under Chapter 
15A of the Iowa Code. However, in order to do so under Chapter 15A, an Agreement for 
Private Development must include language for the retention and/or creation of jobs tied 
to the economic development project. Thus, you will note the specific job 
creation/retention requirement (23) in Section 2.1 (b), Employment Obligation and 
verified annually in Exhibit B, Employer’s Annual Certification.   
 
The intent of the Second Agreement for Private Development is to allow the City to 
“reimburse” Standard Distribution Co. by making a series of economic development 
grants in the amount(s) of the remaining four (4) years that would have been abated 
had the application for the Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption been filed by the 
company in a timely manner.  (This agreement is very similar to the Agreement 
approved by City Council in December of 2012 for the construction of the Target 
Perishable Foods Distribution Center who likewise failed to file the Industrial Partial 
Property Tax Exemption application in a timely manner). The proposed economic 
development grant amounts will not exceed a total of $89,700 over the next four tax 
years tied to the $1,997,790 assessed valuation of the 53,200 square foot building 
addition. 
 
Standard Distribution Co. has been a tremendous economic development partner with 
the City of Cedar Falls over the years. The company has three locations in Cedar Falls 
that occupy over 650,000 square feet of space, and have a combined assessed 
valuation exceeding $18,600,000. In return for the City’s consideration of providing the 
four (4) remaining years of tax rebates (annual economic development grants), 
Standard Distribution Co. will agree to maintain its employment level of at least 23 full 
time employees over the next 5 years. 
 
It is recommended that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Second Agreement 

for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and Standard Distribution Co. 

 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed project, please feel free to let me 
know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 Stan Poe, Vice President, Standard Distribution Co. 
          
           

327

ITEM 7.



Shawnee Rd

Blackhawk Ln

No
rd

ic 
Dr

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Enterprise Dr

Savannah Park Rd

W Viking Rd I

Standard Distribution Co.

53,200 SF Addition

Standard Distribution Co.
317 Savannah Park Rd
53,200 Sq Ft
Warehouse Addition

328

ITEM 7.



Execution Version 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECOND AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

 

 

BY AND BETWEEN 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

 

 

AND 

 

 

 

 

STANDARD DISTRIBUTION CO. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

329

ITEM 7.



 

1 
Execution Version 

SECOND AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT  

 

 

 THIS SECOND AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT  (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on or as of the _____ day of____________, 2020 (the "Effective Date"), 

by and among the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City" 

or the "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act") and STANDARD DISTRIBUTION CO., an Iowa 

company having an office for the transaction of business at 1109 Viking Road, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

50613 (“Developer”);  

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer previously entered into an Agreement for Private 

Development dated September 18, 2017 (“First Agreement’) related to development of the 

property described in Exhibit A and referred to in the First Agreement as the “Additional 

Development Property”; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the First Agreement obligated the Developer to construct a 53,200 square 

foot industrial-use warehouse facility addition referred to in the First Agreement as the 

"Additional Minimum Improvements" on the Additional Development Property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Additional Minimum Improvements were anticipated to be subject to a 

five-year tax abatement schedule pursuant to city ordinance under Iowa Code § 427B; however, 

due to an error in filing a timely application, such abatement is not available to Developer, but 

the City is willing to provide a four-year, sliding-scale, tax rebate incentive (“Economic 

Development Grants”) in exchange for job retention/creation commitments on the part of 

Developer as described herein; and 

 

 WHEREAS, before entering into this Agreement, the City Council has found that the use 

of City funds to finance the Economic Development Grants will promote the creation or 

retention of jobs and is accord with the provisions of applicable laws, including but not limited 

to, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Additional Development Property is located within the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area and Developer's expansion and commitments 

under this Agreement are consistent with the objectives of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Plan and Iowa Code Chapter 403. 

 

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual obligations of the 

Parties, each Party hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

 

SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS 

330

ITEM 7.



 

 

2 
Execution Version 

 

 

  

 

Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Agreement, all 

capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following meanings unless 

a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

Additional Development Property means that portion of the Urban Renewal Area 

described in Exhibit A. 

 

Additional Minimum Improvements means the construction of a 53,200 square foot 

industrial-use warehouse facility addition on the Additional Development Property as further 

described in the First Agreement.   

 

Agreement means this Agreement and all exhibits and appendices hereto, as the same 

may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

Annual Certification means the certifications that the Developer must complete and 

submit to the City each year as described in Section 3.3 of this Agreement and attached as 

Exhibit B. 

 

Area or Urban Renewal Area shall mean the area known as the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (as amended from time to time). 

 

City means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its functions.   

 

Code means the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended. 

 

Commencement Date means the date of this Agreement. 

 

Developer means Standard Distribution Company, an Iowa Corporation, and each 

assignee that assumes in writing all of the obligations of the Developer under this Agreement 

with the written consent of the City as provided in Section 2.1(g) of this Agreement. 

 

Economic Development Grants means the payments to be made by the City to Developer 

under Section 3 of this Agreement. 

 

Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to Developer under a policy or 

policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by Developer, pursuant to Section 

2.1(c) of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees and 

disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

Ordinance means Ordinance of the City under which the taxes levied on the taxable 

property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided and a portion paid into the Unified 

Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund. 

331

ITEM 7.



 

 

3 
Execution Version 

 

 

Project shall mean the maintenance and operation of the Additional Minimum 

Improvements on the Additional Development Property and the creation and maintenance of 

jobs, as described in this Agreement. 

 

Standard Distribution Co. TIF Account means a separate account within the Unified 

Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund of the City in which Tax Increments 

received by the City with respect to the Additional Minimum Improvements (building value 

only) shall be deposited. 

 

State means the State of Iowa. 

 

Tax Increments means the property tax revenues on the Additional Minimum 

Improvements (building value only) divided and made available to the City for deposit in the 

Standard Construction TIF Account of the Unified Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment 

Revenue Fund under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code, as amended, and the 

Ordinance, measured from the base assessed value of the Additional Development Property and 

any buildings thereon as of January 1, 2018.  

 

Termination Date means the date of termination of this Agreement, as established in 

Section 4.3 of this Agreement. 

 

Unified Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund means the special 

fund of the City created under the authority of Section 403.19(2) of the Code and the Ordinance, 

which fund will be created in order to pay the principal of and interest on loans, monies 

advanced to or indebtedness, whether funded, refunded, assumed or otherwise, including bonds 

or other obligations issued under the authority of Chapters 15A, 403 or 384 of the Code, incurred 

by the City to finance or refinance in whole or in part projects undertaken pursuant to the Urban 

Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area. 

 

Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan, as amended from time to time, 

approved with respect to the Urban Renewal Area, described in the preambles hereof. 

 

 

SECTION 2.  COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

 

 Section 2.1. In accordance with its obligations under the First Agreement, Developer 

built an approximately 53,200 square foot industrial-use warehouse facility addition on the 

Additional Development Property.  These Additional Minimum Improvements were completed 

in 2018 and were first fully assessed on January 1, 2019, with a value of $1,997,730 for the 

Additional Minimum Improvements (building value only).  Developer agrees that each of the 

following is a condition precedent to the receipt of any Economic Development Grants under this 

Agreement: 

 

 

332

ITEM 7.



 

 

4 
Execution Version 

 

 

a. The Additional Minimum Improvements must be assessed at a value of at 

least $1,800,000 (building value only) on January 1, 2019, and continuing through 

January 1, 2025, and otherwise be assessed consistent with the Minimum Assessment 

Agreement attached to the First Agreement.   

 

b. Employment Obligation. Developer employs twenty-three (23) Full-Time 

Employment Units as of the Commencement Date of this Agreement at the Additional 

Minimum Improvements on the Additional Development Property.  Developer will retain 

a Monthly Average of at least twenty-three Full-Time Employees until June 1, 2025.     

 

i. "Monthly Average" means the average number of Full-Time 

Employment Units employed as of October 1 of each year and as of the first day 

of each of the preceding eleven months, as shown in Developer's Annual 

Certification in Section 3.3 and Exhibit B.  Developer shall not receive any 

Economic Development Grants if the Monthly Average of Full-Time 

Employment Units does not meet the requirements of this Employment 

Obligation.  Developer shall provide information as requested by the City to 

determine compliance with the foregoing Employment Obligation.   

ii. For purposes of this Agreement, "Full-Time Employment Unit" 

means the equivalent of employment of one person working hours or days per week 

(including paid holidays, vacations and other paid leave) currently established by 

schedule, custom or otherwise as constituting a week of full-time work for the kind 

of service that individual performs for the employing unit. 

c. Developer shall insure and keep insured, in good and responsible 

insurance companies, the Additional Minimum Improvements against loss or damage 

from such hazards or risks as are insured by persons similarly situated and operating like 

properties through the Termination Date in a manner consistent with Article V of the 

First Agreement.    Upon request of the City, Developer shall furnish a certificate setting 

forth in summary form the nature and extent of the insurance maintained pursuant to this 

Section 2.1(c).  Developer shall notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $100,000 or destruction of the Additional Minimum Improvements or any 

portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  In the event of damage to the 

Additional Minimum Improvements, all Net Proceeds paid under a policy required by 

this Section shall be paid directly to Developer, and Developer shall forthwith repair, 

reconstruct, and restore the Additional Minimum Improvements to substantially the same 

or an improved condition or value as they existed prior to the event that caused the 

damage.  To the extent necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and 

restoration, the Developer shall apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 

damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs thereof.  

The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction, and restoration of the Additional 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received by 

Developer for such purposes are sufficient. 

333

ITEM 7.



 

 

5 
Execution Version 

 

d. Developer will maintain, preserve, and keep the Additional Development 

Property and Additional Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, 

ordinary wear and tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, 

replacements, renewals, and additions. 

e.   Developer shall pay or cause to be paid, when due, all real property taxes 

and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the Additional Development 

Property. Until such obligations have been assumed by any other person, all pursuant to 

the provisions of this Agreement, Developer shall be responsible for all assessments and 

taxes. 

f. In the operation of the Additional Minimum Improvements, Developer 

shall not discriminate against any applicant, employee, or tenant because of age, color, 

creed, national origin, race, religion, marital status, sex, physical disability, or familial 

status.  Developer shall ensure that applicants, employees, and tenants are considered and 

are treated without regard to their age, color, creed, national origin, race, religion, marital 

status, sex, physical disability, or familial status. 

g. Developer represents and agrees that, prior to the Termination Date, 

Developer shall not transfer, convey, or assign its interest in this Agreement to any other 

party unless: (i) the transferee partnership, corporation, limited liability company, or 

individual assumes in writing all of the then-outstanding obligations of Developer under 

this Agreement; and (ii) the City consents thereto in writing in advance thereof. 

h. Developer shall provide the Annual Certifications required by Section 3.3 

and such certifications shall not reveal any default by Developer. 

 

 Section 2.2. Developer agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City from 

any claim arising out of or connected with Developer's acts, omissions, or negligence with the 

Additional Minimum Improvements or this Agreement.  Developer will not indemnify, defend, 

or hold harmless the City from any of the City's acts or omissions or negligence. 

  

 Section 2.3. To its knowledge, with respect to the Additional Minimum Improvements, 

Developer is not in material violation of any local, state, or federal environmental law or 

regulation and is not aware of any pending or threatened claim against Developer with respect to 

such laws. 

 

 Section 2.4. Developer represents that without the Economic Development Grants 

contemplated herein, Developer would not agree to the Employment Obligation (Section 2.1(c)) 

and other commitments contained in this Agreement. 

 

 Section 2.5. Developer agrees to reimburse the City for its legal fees and costs 

associated with this Agreement within 10 days of the mailing of City’s request for payment.   

 

 Section 2.6. Developer acknowledges and agrees that notwithstanding any contrary 

334

ITEM 7.



 

 

6 
Execution Version 

 

term, covenant, or representation in the First Agreement, Developer shall not seek any type of 

tax abatement, tax exemption, or tax incentive from the City pursuant to any City ordinance or 

any type of tax abatement or tax exemption pursuant to any state or federal law related to the 

Additional Minimum Improvements, other than the Economic Development Grants in 

conformance with this Agreement. Specifically, Section 8.8 of the First Agreement is hereby 

repealed and revoked, and Developer agrees that it is not entitled to tax exemption under 

Sections 25-36 through 25-45 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances nor by Chapter 427B, Code 

of Iowa, with respect to the Additional Minimum Improvements. 

 

SECTION 3.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 

AND ANNUAL CERTIFICATION 

 

Section 3.1  Economic Development Grants.  

 

a. Payment of Grants.  For and in consideration of the obligations being assumed by 

Developer hereunder, and in furtherance of the goals and objectives of the Urban Renewal Plan 

for the Urban Renewal Area and the Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, subject to Developer 

being and remaining in compliance with the terms of this Agreement at the time of each 

payment, to make up to four (4) consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants 

to Developer under the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

b. Schedule of Grants.  Assuming compliance with the terms of the Agreement by 

Developer at the time of each payment, the Economic Development Grants shall be paid 

pursuant to the following schedule and formula: 

 

 June 1, 2022  60% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 21-22  

 June 1, 2023  45% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 22-23  

 June 1, 2024  30% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 23-24 

 June 1, 2025  15% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 24-25 

  

 

Under no circumstances shall the failure by Developer to qualify for an Economic 

Development Grant in any year serve to extend the term of this Agreement beyond the 

Termination Date or the years during which Economic Development Grants may be awarded or 

the total amount thereof, it being the intent of parties hereto to provide Developer with an 

opportunity to receive Economic Development Grants only if Developer fully complies with the 

provisions hereof and the Developer becomes entitled thereto, up to the maximum aggregate 

amount set forth in Section 3.1(c). 

 

c. Maximum Amount of Economic Development Grants.  The aggregate amount of 

the Economic Development Grants that may be paid to the Developer under this Agreement shall 

not exceed the lesser of: (i) the amount of available Tax Increments under the formula and 

schedule set forth in Section 3.1(b) or (ii) $89,700.  The Economic Development Grants are only 

for the Additional Minimum Improvements described in this Agreement and not any expansions 

or improvements not included within the definition of the Additional Minimum Improvements 

335

ITEM 7.



 

 

7 
Execution Version 

 

which, to be eligible for Economic Development Grants, would be the subject of an amendment 

or new agreement, at the sole discretion of the City Council.   

 

d. Calculation of Grants.  Each annual payment shall be equal in amount to the 

above percentages of the Tax Increments collected by the City with respect to the Additional 

Minimum Improvements (improvement value only) under the terms of the Ordinance and 

deposited into the Standard Distribution Co. TIF Account (without regard to any averaging that 

may otherwise be utilized under Section 403.19 and excluding any interest that may accrue 

thereon prior to payment to Developer) during the preceding twelve-month period in respect of 

the Additional Development Property and the Additional Minimum Improvements, but subject to 

limitation and adjustment as provided in this Article.  For the avoidance of doubt, the assessed 

value of the Additional Development Property and any buildings thereon as assessed on January 

1, 2018 shall not be included in the calculation of any Tax Increment. 

 

e. Source of Economic Development Grant Funds Limited. It is agreed and 

understood that each Economic Development Grant shall be payable from and secured solely and 

only by incremental taxes received by the City under Iowa Code Section 403.19 from levies 

upon the Additional Minimum Improvements and deposited and held in the Standard 

Distribution Co. TIF Account of the Unified Highway 58 Urban Renewal Tax Increment 

Revenue Fund of the City; and in no event shall Developer be entitled to receive more than 

calculated under the formula set forth in Section 3.1(b), even if the aggregate amount is less than 

$89,700. 

  

 Section 3.2. The Economic Development Grants shall be the only monetary 

consideration given by the City to Developer in connection with this Agreement. 

 

a.     The Economic Development Grants shall be payable from and secured solely 

and only by amounts deposited and held in the Standard Distribution Co. TIF Account of 

the Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area Tax Increment Revenue Fund of 

the City.  The City hereby covenants and agrees to maintain the Ordinance in force 

during the term hereof with respect to the Additional Development Property and to apply 

the incremental taxes to pay the Economic Development Grants, as and to the extent set 

forth in this Agreement.  The Economic Development Grants shall not be payable in any 

manner by other tax increment revenues or by general taxation or from any other City 

funds. Any commercial and industrial property tax replacement monies that may be 

received under chapter 441.21A shall not be included in the calculation to determine the 

amount of Economic Development Grants for which Developer is eligible, and any 

monies received back under chapter 426C relating to the Business Property Tax Credit 

shall not be included in the calculation to determine the amount of Economic 

Development Grants for which Developer is eligible.  

 

Each Economic Development Grant is subject to annual appropriation by the City 

Council.  The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is intended 

by the parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City's obligation 

to make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal indebtedness of 

336

ITEM 7.



 

 

8 
Execution Version 

 

the City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory debt limitation 

prior to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment of that 

installment or amount.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are 

determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, such 

a legal indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provision shall be suspended, 

and this Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a manner as will 

preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no event of default by the City shall be 

deemed to have occurred as a result thereof.  If any provision of this Agreement or the 

application thereof to any circumstance is so suspended, the suspension shall not affect 

other provisions of this Agreement which can be given effect without the suspended 

provision.  To this end, the provisions of this Agreement are severable.  

 

b.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Agreement, the City shall have no 

obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to Developer if at any time during 

the term hereof the City Council fails to appropriate funds or the City receives an opinion 

from counsel to the effect that the use of Tax Increments to fund an Economic 

Development Grant to Developer, as contemplated under this Agreement, is not 

authorized or otherwise an appropriate urban renewal activity permitted to be undertaken 

by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or other applicable provisions of the Code or 

Iowa Constitution, as then constituted.  Upon receipt of such an opinion, the City shall 

promptly forward a copy of the same to Developer.  In the event of non-appropriation, or 

if the circumstances or legal constraints giving rise to the opinion continue for a period 

during which two Economic Development Grants would otherwise have been paid to 

Developer under the terms of this Agreement, the City may terminate this Agreement, 

without penalty or other liability to Developer by providing written notice to Developer. 

 

Section 3.3. Annual Certification.  To assist the City in monitoring the performance of 

Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of Developer shall annually certify to the City the 

following:  (a) all ad valorem taxes on the Additional Development Property have been timely 

paid for the prior fiscal year and for the current fiscal year, if due and payable, and provide proof 

of payment of said taxes to the Annual Certification; (b) the Additional Minimum Improvements 

(building value only) has an assessed valuation of at least $1,800,000 from January 1, 2019, and 

continuing through January 1, 2025; (c) the number of Full-Time Employment Units employed 

at the Additional Minimum Improvements as of the date of the Agreement and as of the date of 

the certification and the first date of each of the preceding eleven months; and (d) that Developer 

is in compliance with the Agreement.  Such Annual Certification shall be provided not later than 

October 1 of each year, commencing on October 1, 2020 and ending on October 1, 2024, both 

dates inclusive.  Developer's Annual Certification pursuant to this provision shall be in the form 

set forth in Exhibit B, attached hereto.  

   

 

 

 

 

 

337

ITEM 7.



 

 

9 
Execution Version 

 

SECTION 4.  OBLIGATIONS OF DEVELOPER AND CITY WITH RESPECT TO THE 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANTS AND TERMINATION THEREOF 

  

 Section 4.1. Default and Remedies.  

 

a. Default.  The Economic Development Grants set out in Section 3 are wholly 

contingent upon a finding that Developer and its successors are in compliance with the 

obligations, responsibilities, and covenants of this Agreement.  In the event that the City has 

knowledge of the failure by Developer or its successors to comply with the obligations, 

responsibilities, and covenants of this Agreement, the City shall provide written notice and a 30-

day opportunity to cure the default to Developer or its successors.  
 

b. Remedies.  If such default is not timely cured, the City may exercise any one or 

more available remedies, including but not limited to the following: 

 

i. The City may suspend its performance under this Agreement until it 

receives assurances from the Developer, deemed adequate by the City, that the Developer 

will cure the default and continue its performance under this Agreement; 

 

ii. The City may terminate this Agreement; 

 

iii. The City may take any action, including legal, equitable, or administrative 

action, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce performance and observance 

of any obligation, agreement, or covenant of Developer, as the case may be, under this 

Agreement; or 

 

 iv. The City will have no obligation to make payment of Economic 

Development Grants to Developer subsequent to the default and shall be entitled to 

recover from Developer, and Developer shall repay to the City, an amount equal to the 

full amount of the Economic Development Grants previously made to Developer under 

Section 3 hereof, with interest thereon at the highest rate permitted by State law.  The 

City may take any action, including any legal action it deems necessary, to recover such 

amounts from Developer. Section  

 

c.   No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the City 

is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every 

remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this 

Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  No delay or omission to 

exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power or 

shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised from 

time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.   

 

d.   No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this Agreement 

should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, such waiver shall be 

338

ITEM 7.



 

 

10 
Execution Version 

 

limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other concurrent, 

previous, or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

e.   Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses.  Whenever the City shall 

employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of payments due or to become due or 

for the enforcement or performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of 

Developer herein contained, and the City prevails in an action to enforce this Agreement, the 

Developer agree that they shall, on demand therefor, pay to the City the reasonable fees of such 

attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably and appropriately incurred by the City 

in connection therewith. 

 

 Section 4.2. No Third Party.  Developer's successors in interest are not third-party 

beneficiaries to the Grants contemplated under this Agreement and the parties do not intend that 

any rights in connection with the Economic Development Grants be conferred upon any third 

party as a result of this Agreement.   

 

Section 4.3. Termination Date.  This Agreement shall terminate with the final 

Economic Development Grant for fiscal year 2024/2025, unless terminated earlier pursuant to its 

terms.   

 

 Section 4.4. Conflict of Interest.  The Parties agree that all aspects of the performance 

hereunder shall comply with Iowa Code Sections 15A.2, 362.5 and 403.16. 

 

Section 4.5. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

 Section 4.6. Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa.  The Parties agree that venue for any 

action arising out of, or in connection with this Agreement shall be in the Iowa District Court in 

and for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

 Section 4.7. Entire Agreement.  Except as expressly stated herein, the First Agreement 

shall survive the execution of this Agreement and both the First Agreement and this Agreement 

shall be read, whenever possible, in harmony.  Together, the First Agreement and this Agreement 

hereby reflect the entire agreement among the Parties regarding the subject matters of the 

Agreement.  This Agreement may not be amended, modified or supplemented, except by a 

subsequent writing signed by all Parties hereto. 

 

 Section 4.8. Captions.  The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not in any way affect, limit, amplify, or modify 

the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

 Section 4.9. Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular number is 

used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any gender shall include 

each other where appropriate. 

339

ITEM 7.



 

 

11 
Execution Version 

 

 

 Section 4.10. Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any agreement 

contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under present or future 

laws effective during the term of such agreement; then:  (i) such provision shall be fully 

severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, void, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such agreement; and (iii) the remaining 

provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be affected by the 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision or by its severance from such agreement. 

 

 Section 4.11. Authorization.  Each Party represents that prior to its execution hereof all 

necessary corporate, governmental or other appropriate action, as applicable, including without 

limitation notices, resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, has been taken to authorize 

the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such Party of its respective obligations 

hereunder. 

  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 

name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by its City 

Clerk and Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed by its authorized 

representative. 

 

 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 

  

340

ITEM 7.



 

 

12 
Execution Version 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

___________________________ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

 

 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA     ) 

) SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 On this ______ day of________________, 2020, before me a Notary Public in and for 

said County, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me personally 

known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipal Corporation, created and existing under the laws of 

the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipal Corporation, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said 

Municipal Corporation by authority and resolution of its City Council and said Mayor and City 

Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipal Corporation 

by it voluntarily executed. 

 

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

  

341

ITEM 7.



 

 

13 
Execution Version 

 

STANDARD DISTRIBUTION CO. 

 

____________________________________ 

Stan Poe, Vice-President 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA    ) 

) SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 

 On this _______ day of ___________________, 2020, before me the undersigned, a 

Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, personally appeared Stan Poe, to me 

personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Vice-President of 

Standard Distribution Co., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said company; and 

that the said Vice-President, as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be 

the voluntary act and deed of said company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

 Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

  

342

ITEM 7.



 

 

14 
Execution Version 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

ADDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

Lots 2 and 3 of Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase VI, and also Lots 1 and 2 of 

Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase IX, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County 

Iowa  

343

ITEM 7.



 

 

15 
Execution Version 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

 

 

DEVELOPER'S ANNUAL CERTIFICATION 

 

(due before October 1st as required under terms of Development Agreement) 

 

Developer certifies the following:  

 

A. During the time period covered by this Annual Certification, Developer is and 

was in compliance with Section 3.3 ("Annual Certification") as follows: 

 

(i) All ad valorem taxes on the Additional Development Property have been 

timely paid for the prior fiscal year and for the current fiscal year, if due and payable, and 

attached to this Annual Certification is proof of payment of said taxes; and 

 

(ii) The Additional Minimum Improvements (building value only) has an 

assessed valuation of ________; and 

 

(iii) The number of total Full-Time Employment Units employed at the facility 

as of October 1, ____, and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven months were 

as follows: 

   

September 1, 20__: ______  March 1, 20__: _________ 

August 1, 20__: _______      February 1, 20__: ________ 

July 1, 20__: _______   January 1, 20__: _______ 

June 1, 20__: ________  December 1, 20__: _______ 

May 1, 20__: _______  November 1, 20__: _______ 

April 1, 20__: _________  October 1, 20__: _______ 

 

 

(iv) The undersigned officer of Developer has re-examined the terms and 

provisions of the Agreement and that at the date of such certification, and during the 

preceding twelve months, and certifies that Developer is not, or was not, in default in the 

fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no event of 

default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 

become an event of default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate 

or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or event of 

default that has not been cured, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature 

thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to 

be taken with respect thereto. 

 

Signed this _________ day of _____________________, 20___. 

       

344

ITEM 7.



 

 

16 
Execution Version 

 

STANDARD DISTRIBUTION CO., an Iowa 

corporation 

 

 

______________________________ 

Stan Poe, Vice-President 
 

 

STATE OF IOWA    ) 

     )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this _______ day of ______________ 20__, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said County, in said State, personally appeared  Stan Poe, to me personally 

known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that s/he is the Vice-President of Standard 

Distribution Co., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said corporation; and that the 

said officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act and deed of 

said corporation, by her/him voluntarily executed. 

 

___________________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for said State 

 
Attachments: (a) Proof of payment of taxes 
01669495-1\10283-169 

345

ITEM 7.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160    

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A SECOND 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND STANDARD DISTRIBUTION CO. 

 
 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City has 
undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in this 
connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area known as the 
Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or “Urban Renewal 
Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan, as 
amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Area be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by the Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Standard Distribution Co.  
("Developer"), in the form of a proposed Second Agreement for Private Development (the 
"Agreement") by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, 
pursuant to which, among other things, the Developer has constructed certain Additional 
Minimum Improvements (as defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within 
the Urban Renewal Area as legally described in the Agreement attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference (defined in the Agreement as the "Development 
Property"), consisting of an Industrial-Use Warehouse Facility Addition totaling at least 53,200 
square feet of finished space, as outlined in the proposed Agreement; and 
 

WHEREAS, one of the obligations of Developer involves job creation/retention on the 
Development Property; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 
conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of up to four (4) consecutive annual payments 
of Economic Development Grants to Developer equivalent to a declining percentage of the tax 
increments that would be generated by the construction of the Additional Minimum 
Improvements (improvement value only) under Iowa Code Section 403.19, the aggregate 
amount of said Grants not to exceed $89,700; and  

 

346

ITEM 7.



 2 

 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Act") authorize 
cities to make grants to developers for economic development purposes in furtherance of the 
objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds, make such expenditures 
and convey such real property as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, 
and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as allowed by law, this Council has held a 

public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the 
Agreement and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or property 
owners as to said proposed Agreement; and, accordingly the following action is now considered 
to be in the best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to the provision of the grants under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 

347

ITEM 7.



 3 

 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after 
the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed. 
 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2020. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

348

ITEM 7.



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2020. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

349

ITEM 7.



1 
 

    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: January 14, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Owen 5, L.L.C. Amended and Restated Agreement for Private 
Development 

 
 
On June 3, 2019, City Council approved an Agreement for Private Development 
between the City of Cedar Falls and Owen 5, L.L.C. for the construction of a new 
10,000 square foot industrial use shop/office facility in the Northern Cedar Falls 
Industrial Park (1325 Rail Way). In return for constructing the building and adding 
taxable value, the City donated 3.90 acres of land to the company for the project. 
 
The original Agreement required a minimum building valuation and permit valuation of 
$450,000, with a total project minimum assessed valuation of $700,000 (including land). 
Typically for projects with a minimum building valuation of under $1,000,000, no tax 
incentives are included, except for the donation of land. 
 
After approval of the Agreement, the company began preparations for construction, 
which included working with the builder to design and order the building. Once the final 
design of the building was complete, it was realized that the cost of the building was 
going to be higher compared to what the original Agreement called for, as the total cost 
of the building had gone from $450,000 to $1,200,000.  
 
Because of this increase in building cost, Owen 5, L.L.C. is requesting that the City 
amend the current Agreement for Private Development in order to increase the 
minimum building and permit valuation from $450,000 to $1,200,000. By increasing the 
minimum building valuation to $1,200,000, the property would then qualify for the 5-year 
Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption (for reference, a project with a minimum 
building valuation between $1,000,000 and $1,200,000 generally would receive a 3-year 
partial property tax exemption, while a project with a minimum building valuation of 
$1,200,000 or more would generally receive a 5-year partial property tax exemption). 
 
The proposed changes for your consideration within the Amended and Restated 
Agreement for Private Development include increasing the minimum building valuation 
and minimum permit valuation from $450,000 to $1,200,000; increasing the minimum 

350

ITEM 9.



2 
 

assessed valuation from $700,000 to $1,450,000 (including land); and to provide for the 
5-year Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption. 
 
Section 8.1 of the Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development 
references sections 21-48 through 21-57 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances and 
Chapter 427B of the Iowa Code with respect to the provisions of the applicable partial 
property tax exemption. For this project, the following exemption schedule is estimated 
using the existing industrial tax rate/valuation and projecting annual property taxes of 
$35,137: 
 

Year  % Exemption  $ Abated  $ Amount Paid  $ Total Taxes  
         

1  75%  $26,353  $8,784  $35,137 
2  60%  $21,082  $14,055  $35,137 
3  45%  $15,812  $19,325  $35,137 
4  30%  $10,541  $24,596  $35,137 
5  15%       $5,271   $29,867  $35,137 

    $79,028  $96,627    $175,686 
 
It should be noted that following City Council consideration of the Amended and 
Restated Agreement for Private Development, an actual Ordinance will be drafted and 
adopted implementing the proposed exemption schedule noted above. The Ordinance 
granting the applicable partial property tax exemption will be presented to City Council 
in the near future. 
        
The Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development by and between the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and Owen 5, L.L.C. is attached for your review.  This 
Amended and Restated Agreement was reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers, and is 
acceptable to both parties. 
 
It is recommended that City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended 
and Restated Agreement for Private Development and an 
Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement by and between the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Owen 5, L.L.C. 

 
If you have any questions pertaining to this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
      Joe Owen, Owen 5, L.L.C. 
        
 
 
 
 

351

ITEM 9.



No
rth

ern
 D

r

Le
ve

rse
e R

d

Hwy 218

Rail Way

I

East Central Iowa
Cooperative

Standard Distribution

Project Location

Owen 5, LLC
10,000 sq. ft.
Shop/Office

352

ITEM 9.



 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

AND 
 
 

OWEN 5, L.L.C. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

353

ITEM 9.



2  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………..  6 

Section 1.1.  Definitions……………………………………………… 6 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES………………  9 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City……………  9 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer.….……..  10 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS…..  12 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements………………. 12 

Section 3.2. Building Permit Valuation Amount…………………….  12 

Section 3.3.  Construction Plans……………………………………… 13 

Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction……… 13 

Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion………………………………  13 

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 14 

Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use……………………………………… 14 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE………………………………………………… 15 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements………………………………… 15 

Section 5.2. Condemnation………………………………………….. 17 

Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment…………………………….. 17 

 

ARTICLE VI.  ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 18 

 Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement………………….  18 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Properties……………………………..  18 

Section 6.3. Maintenance of Records……………………………….  18 

Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws………………………………...  19 

Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes….……………………………….  19 

Section 6.6.   Sales Tax………………………………………………  19 

Section 6.7.   Utility Usage…………………….…………………….  20 

Section 6.8.   Annual Certification………………..………………….  20 

Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments…………………………………  20 

 Section 6.10. Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 

   Property……………………………………………….  20 

 Section 6.11. Relocation .......................................................................  21 

 

354

ITEM 9.



3  

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND 

TRANSFER………………………………………………………………….  22 

Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development……………………  22 

Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and 

          Assignment of Amended Agreement………………...  22 

Section 7.3.  Approvals………………………………………………  24 

Section 7.4. Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of 

  Interest in Development Property to Permitted  

  Transferees .......................................................................  24 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  PARTIAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION…….……….. 25 

Section 8.1.   Partial Property Tax Exemption……………………….  25 

 

ARTICLE IX.  DEVELOPER’S OPTION……………………..……………           25 

 Section 9.1. Grant of Option………………………………………….  25 

 Section 9.2. Option to Acquire Option Property……………………..  26 

 Section 9.3. Expiration of Option…………………………………….. 27 

 Section 9.4. Option Personal to Developer…………………………… 27 

 Section 9.5. Resale of Option Property Within Five Years…………..  27 

 

ARTICLE X.  INDEMNIFICATION………………………………………..  28 

Section 10.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants………………. 28 

 

ARTICLE XI.  REMEDIES……………………………………………….  28 

Section 11.1.  Events of Default Defined…………….………………  28 

Section 11.2.  Remedies on Default………………………………….  30 

Section 11.3.  No Remedy Exclusive………………………………..  31 

Section 11.4.  No Implied Waiver……………………………………  31 

Section 11.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses…….  31 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS………………………………………..  32 

Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest……………………………………  32 

Section 12.2.  Non-Discrimination…………………………………… 32 

Section 12.3.  Notices………………………………………………...  32 

Section 12.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections………………………… 33 

Section 12.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed……………..……  33 

Section 12.6.  Governing Law………………………………………… 33 

Section 12.7.  Entire Amended Agreement…………………………… 33 

Section 12.8.  Successors and Assigns……………………………….  33 

Section 12.9.  Termination Date……………………………………… 33 

Section 12.10.  Memorandum of Amended and Restated 

Agreement………..………………………………….  33 

Section 12.11.  Immediate Undertaking……………………………… 33 

355

ITEM 9.



4  

Section 12.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture……………………… 34 

Section 12.13.  Captions……………………………………………… 34 

Section 12.14.  Number and Gender of Words………………………  34 

Section 12.15.  Invalid Provisions……………………………………  34 

Section 12.16.  Multiple Counterparts… ……………………………  34 

Section 12.17.  Authorization………… ……………………………..  34 

Section 12.18.  Time of the Essence… ………………………………  35 

Section 12.19.  Survival…………… … ……………………………..  35 

Section 12.20    Agreement Terminated………………………………  35 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A-1 Development Property…………………………………  37 

EXHIBIT A-2 Option Property………………………………………… 38 

EXHIBIT B   Minimum Improvements………………………………. 39 

EXHIBIT C  Certificate of Completion……………………………… 40 

EXHIBIT D  Minimum Assessment Agreement…………………….. 42 

EXHIBIT E  Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement 

   For Private Development.................................................. 46 

  

356

ITEM 9.



5  

AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called "Amended Agreement"), is made on or as of the 

_____ day of __________________, 2020, by and between the CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), established pursuant to the 

Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of 

the Code of Iowa, 2019 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and 

OWEN 5, L.L.C,  (hereinafter called the "Developer"),  an Iowa limited liability company 

having its principal place of business at 3318 Apollo Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 

 

 WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, an AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter 

called “Agreement”) between the City and Developer was approved by the City Council 

of the City on June 3, 2019, by Resolution No. 21,553; and 

WHEREAS, the Agreement provided, among other things, for a minimum building 

permit value in the amount of $450,000.00 as well as a minimum assessment for taxation 

purposes of building and land of $700,000.00; and  

WHEREAS, Developer has obtained a building permit and has begun construction 

of the minimum improvements described in the Agreement; and  

WHEREAS, the actual value of the building permit when issued was 

$1,200,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, the actual assessment for taxation purposes of building and land when 

construction is completed is expected to be approximately $1,450,000.00; and  

WHEREAS, the Agreement did not provide for a partial property tax abatement, as 

the building did not meet the minimum building permit valuation of $1,200,000.00 per 

City policy; and  

WHEREAS, the actual value of the building permit when issued was 

$1,200,000.00, which meets the minimum building permit valuation to provide for a 

partial property tax abatement; and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer wish to amend and restate the Agreement 

to account for the aforementioned circumstances which will be of mutual benefit to the 

City and to the Developer; and      

 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in 

357

ITEM 9.



6  

this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area 

known as the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or 

“Urban Renewal Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor 

Urban Renewal Plan, as amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer has acquired certain real property located in the 

foregoing Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described in Exhibit A-1 annexed 

hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as 

the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is willing to develop the Development Property for and 

in accordance with the uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and in accordance with 

this Amended Agreement by completing construction of certain Minimum Improvements 

(as hereafter defined) on the Development Property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Amended Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Amended 

Agreement, are in the vital and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord 

with the public purposes and provisions of the applicable State and local laws and 

requirements under which the foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, 

including but not limited to Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of 

the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the others as 

follows: 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

 Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Amended 

Agreement, all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the 

following meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

 Amended Agreement means this Amended Agreement and all appendices hereto, as 

the same may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

 Assessment Agreement means the Minimum Assessment Agreement substantially in 

the form of the agreement contained in Exhibit D attached hereto and hereby made a part 

of this Amended Agreement, among the Developer, the City and the Assessor for the 

County, entered into pursuant to Article VI of this Amended Agreement. 

358

ITEM 9.



7  

 

 Assessor's Minimum Actual Value means the agreed minimum actual taxable value 

of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property for 

calculation and assessment of real property taxes as set forth in the Assessment 

Agreement.  

 

 Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 

hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Amended Agreement. 

 

 City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 

functions.   

 

 Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended. 

 

 Commencement Date means the date of the issuance by the City of a City issued 

building permit for the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 Construction Plans means the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents 

of the construction work to be performed by the Developer on the Development Property; 

the plans (a) shall be as detailed as the plans, specifications, drawings and related 

documents which are submitted to the building inspector of the City, and (b) shall include 

at least the following: (1) site plan; (2) foundation plan; (3) basement plans; (4) floor plan 

for each floor; (5) cross sections of each (length and width); (6) elevations (all sides); and 

(7) landscape plan. 

 

 County means the County of Black Hawk, Iowa. 

 

 Developer means OWEN 5, L.L.C.  

 

 Development Property means that portion of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A-1 hereto. 

 

 Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 11.1 of this Amended 

Agreement. 

 

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of a Shop/Office Facility 

totaling at least 10,000 square feet of finished space, together with all related site 

improvements described in the Construction Plans, as outlined in Exhibit B hereto, 

including the land.  

 

 Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which the Developer has 

granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion 

or parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

359

ITEM 9.



8  

 

 Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to the Developer under a policy 

or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by the Developer pursuant 

to Article V of this Amended Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses 

(including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

 Option Property means that portion of the Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park 

Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A-2 hereto. 

 

 Ordinance shall mean Ordinance(s) of the City under which the taxes levied on the 

taxable property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided, with a portion of said taxes 

to be paid into the Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, referred to and 

authorized by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of Iowa. 

 

 Project shall mean the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, as 

described in this Amended Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. 

 

 Shop/Office Facility means the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 State means the State of Iowa. 

 

 Tax Increments means the property tax increment revenues on the Minimum 

Improvements and Development Property divided and made available to the City for 

deposit in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax Increment 

Revenue Fund, under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa and the 

Ordinance. 

 

 Termination Date means the date of expiration of the Assessment Agreement, as 

provided in Section 12.9 of this Amended Agreement. 

 

 Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 

floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 

boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 

or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 

local governmental unit (other than the Party claiming the delay). 

 

 Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area, as amended. 

 

 Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved in respect of the 

Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Urban Corridor Renewal Area, described in the 

preambles hereof. 

360

ITEM 9.



9  

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

 Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

 (a) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized under 

the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power 

to enter into this Amended Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

(b) This Amended Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery 

by the Developer, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding 

instrument of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the 

same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws 

relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

 

 (c) The execution and delivery of this Amended Agreement, the consummation of 

the transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance 

with the terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement are not prevented 

by, limited by, in conflict with, nor will they result in a breach of, the terms, 

conditions or provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of 

indebtedness, agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which the City is 

now a party or by which it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any 

of the foregoing. 

 

 (d) The City has not received any notice from any State or federal official that the 

activities of the Developer with respect to the Development Property may or 

will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those 

notices, if any, of which the Developer has previously been notified in 

writing).  The City is not currently aware of any State or federal claim filed or 

planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, State or 

federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable to the 

Development Property, and the City is not currently aware of any violation of 

any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure 

which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 

environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

 (e) The City will cooperate fully with the Developer in resolution of any building, 

traffic, parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 

connection with the design, construction and operation of the Minimum 

Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 

361

ITEM 9.



10  

with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 

Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (f) The City would not undertake its obligations under this Amended Agreement 

without the consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Amended 

Agreement. 

 

 (g) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City 

contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 

agreements and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body 

member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual 

capacity thereof. 

  

 (h) The Development Property is zoned “M-1, Light Industrial District”.  The “M-

1, Light Industrial District” zoning classification permits by right the 

construction, equipping and operation of the Minimum Improvements.  

 

 Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  The Developer 

makes the following representations and warranties: 

 

(a) The Developer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, is properly authorized to conduct 

business in the State of Iowa, and has all requisite power and authority to own 

and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as 

presently proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its 

obligations under this Amended Agreement. 

  

(b) This Amended Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and 

delivery by the other parties hereto, is in full force and effect and is a valid and 

legally binding instrument of the Developer enforceable in accordance with its 

terms, except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 

reorganization or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

 (c) The execution and delivery of this Amended Agreement, the consummation of 

the transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance 

with the terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement are not prevented 

by, limited by, in conflict with, nor will  they result in a violation or breach of, 

the terms, conditions or provisions of the certificate of organization and 

operating agreement, together with all amendments thereto, of the Developer 

or of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or 

instrument of whatever nature to which the Developer is now a party or by 

362

ITEM 9.



11  

which it or its  properties are bound, nor do they constitute a default under any 

of the foregoing. 

 

 (d) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting the Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by 

any governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse 

decision which could materially adversely affect the business (present or 

prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of this 

Amended Agreement or the ability of Developer to perform its obligations 

under this Amended Agreement. 

 

 (e) The Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Amended Agreement, the Urban Renewal 

Plan and all local, State and federal laws and regulations, except for variances 

necessary to construct the Minimum Improvements contemplated in the 

Construction Plans.  

 

 (f) The Developer will use its best efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, in a 

timely manner, all required permits, licenses and approvals, and will meet, in a 

timely manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws 

and regulations which must be obtained or met before the Minimum 

Improvements may be lawfully constructed. 

 

 (g) The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require a total 

investment of not less than One Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars and 

no/100 Dollars ($1,200,000.00), and a taxable valuation of One Million Four 

Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($1,450,000.00) is 

reasonable for the Minimum Improvements and the land that together 

comprise the Development Property. 

 

 (h) The Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of the Developer with respect to the Development 

Property may or will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation 

(other than those notices, if any, of which the City has previously been notified 

in writing). The Developer is not currently aware of any State or federal claim 

filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, 

State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable 

to the Development Property, and the Developer is not currently aware of any 

violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or 

federal environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

363

ITEM 9.



12  

 (i) The Developer has equity funds and/or has commitments for financing in 

amounts sufficient to successfully complete the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements, in accordance with the Construction Plans contemplated by 

this Amended Agreement. 

 

 (j) The Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 

connection with the construction and operation of the Minimum 

Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 

with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 

Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (k) The Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be substantially completed by the 31st day of August, 2020.  

 

 (l) The Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Amended 

Agreement without the consideration being made to the Developer pursuant to 

this Amended Agreement. 

 

 (m) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 

Developer contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, 

promises, agreements and obligations of the Developer, and not of any 

member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the Developer in the individual 

capacity thereof. 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. The Developer agrees that it 

will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 

conformance with the Construction Plans submitted to the City.  The Developer agrees 

that the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be 

significantly less than the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and 

outlined in the Construction Plans, and shall in no event require a total investment of less 

than One Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($1,200,000.00). 

 

 Section 3.2  Building Permit Valuation Amount.  The Developer has applied for and 

obtained from the City a building permit, and shall pay all necessary additional permit 

fees in connection with the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property, based upon a building permit valuation amount (hereinafter the 

"Building Permit Valuation Amount") of a minimum of One Million Two Hundred 

Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($1,200,000.00). 

 

364

ITEM 9.



13  

 Section 3.3.  Construction Plans.  The Developer has caused Construction Plans to 

be provided for the Minimum Improvements which were approved by the City as 

provided in this Section 3.3.  The Construction Plans are in conformity with the Urban 

Renewal Plan, this Amended Agreement, and all applicable federal, State and local laws 

and regulations, except for variances the Developer and the City agree are necessary to 

construct or operate the Minimum Improvements.  The City has approved the 

Construction Plans in writing. Approval of the Construction Plans pursuant to this Section 

3.3 constitutes approval for the purposes of this Amended Agreement only and shall not 

be deemed to constitute approval or waiver by the City with respect to any building, fire, 

zoning or other ordinances or regulations of the City. 

 

 Approval of the Construction Plans by the City does not relieve the Developer of any 

obligation to comply with the terms and provisions of this Amended Agreement, or the 

provisions of applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances and regulations, nor shall 

approval of the Construction Plans by the City be deemed to constitute a waiver of any 

Event of Default. 

 

 Approval of Construction Plans hereunder is solely for purposes of this Amended 

Agreement, and shall not constitute approval for any other City purpose nor subject the 

City to any liability for the Minimum Improvements as constructed. 

 

 Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction.  Subject to 

Unavoidable Delays, the Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be undertaken by no later than the 30th day of November, 2019, and 

completed (i) by no later than the 31st day of August, 2020, or (ii) by such other date as the 

parties shall mutually agree upon in writing.  Time lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays 

shall be added to extend the completion date by a number of days equal to the number of 

days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays.  However, an extension of the completion of 

the Minimum Improvements shall not affect the date upon which the Assessor's Minimum 

Actual Value shall become effective. All work with respect to the Minimum 

Improvements to be constructed or provided by the Developer on the Development 

Property shall be in conformity with the Construction Plans as submitted by the Developer 

and approved by the City.  The Developer agrees that it shall permit designated 

representatives of the City to enter upon the Development Property during the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction. 

 

 Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion.  Upon written request of the Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish the 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 

set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto.  Such Certificate of Completion shall be a 

conclusive determination of satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of 

this Amended Agreement with respect to the obligations of the Developer to cause 

construction of the Minimum Improvements.  

365

ITEM 9.



14  

 

 The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the Black Hawk County 

Recorder's office at the Developer's sole expense.  If the City shall refuse or fail to provide 

a Certificate of Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5, the City 

shall, within twenty (20) days after written request by the Developer, provide to the 

Developer a written statement indicating in adequate detail in what respects the Developer 

has failed to complete the Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of 

this Amended Agreement, or is otherwise in default under the terms of this Amended 

Agreement, and what measures or acts it will be necessary, in the opinion of the City, for 

the Developer to take or perform in order to obtain such Certificate of Completion.  

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use.  The Developer shall: 

 

(a) Use the Development Property for any lawful use, and devote the 

Development Property to, and only to and in accordance with, the uses 

specified in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan 

until the Termination Date; and 

 

(b) Not discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, gender, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, age, disability or national origin in the 

sale, lease, or rental or in the use or occupancy of the Development Property or 

any improvements erected or to be erected thereon, or any part thereof. 

 

(c) It is intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section shall be covenants running with the land and that they shall, in any 

event, and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or 

otherwise, and except only as otherwise specifically provided in this Amended 

Agreement, be binding, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for 

the benefit and in favor of, and enforceable by, the City, its successors and 

assigns, as against every successor in interest to the Development Property, or 

any part thereof or any interest therein, and as against any party in possession 

or occupancy of the Development Property or any part thereof.  It is further 

intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in 

subdivisions (a) and (b) of this Section shall remain in effect only through the 

Termination Date. 

 

(d) It is intended and agreed that the City and its successors and assigns shall be 

deemed beneficiaries of the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section, both for and in its own right and also for the purposes of protecting 

the interests of the community and other parties, public or private, in whose 

favor or for whose benefit such agreements and covenants have been provided.  

366

ITEM 9.



15  

Such agreements and covenants shall run in favor of the City, until the 

Termination Date, during which time such agreements and covenants shall be 

in force and effect, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, 

remains, or is an owner of any land or interest therein to or in favor of which 

such agreements and covenants relate.  The City shall have the right, in the 

event of any breach of any such agreement or covenant, to exercise all the 

rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions or suits at law or in equity or 

other proper proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach of agreement or 

covenant, to which it or any other beneficiaries of such agreement or covenant 

may be entitled. 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION 

 

 Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

 (a) The Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from 

time to time at the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of coverage 

or payment of premiums on): 

 

  (i) Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk -- 

Completed Value Basis", in an amount equal to one hundred percent 

(100%) of the insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the 

date of completion, and with coverage available in nonreporting form 

on the so-called "all risk" form of policy;  

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations 

and contractual liability insurance), together with an Owner's 

Contractor's Policy, with limits against bodily injury and property 

damage of at least $2,000,000.  The City shall be named as an 

additional insured for the City's liability or loss arising out of or in any 

way associated with the Minimum Improvements and arising out of any 

act, error, or omission of the Developer, its members, managers, 

officers, contractors and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts 

the City may be held responsible (with coverage to the City at least as 

broad as that which is provided to the Developer and not lessened or 

avoided by endorsement).  The policy shall contain a "severability of 

interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other 

insurance maintained by the City. The policy shall also contain a 

Governmental Immunities endorsement. 

 

  (iii) Worker's compensation insurance, with statutory coverage. 

367

ITEM 9.



16  

 

 (b) Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, the Developer shall maintain, or cause to 

be maintained, at its cost and expense  (and from time to time at the request of 

the City shall furnish proof of coverage or the payment of premiums on) 

insurance as follows: 

 

  (i) Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements 

under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 

against by similar businesses, including (without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious 

mischief, explosion, water damage, demolition cost, debris removal, 

and collapse in an amount not less than the full insurable replacement 

value of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may have a 

deductible amount of not more than $25,000.  No policy of insurance 

shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will produce less than the 

minimum coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason of co-

insurance provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in 

writing by the City.  The term "full insurable replacement value" shall 

mean the actual replacement cost of the Minimum Improvements 

(excluding foundation and excavation costs and costs of underground 

flues, pipes, drains and other uninsurable items) and equipment, and 

shall be determined from time to time at the request of the City, but not 

more frequently than once every three years, by an insurance consultant 

or insurer selected and paid for by the Developer and approved by the 

City. 

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal 

injury liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any 

injuries resulting from the operation of automobiles or other motorized 

vehicles on or about the Development Property, in the minimum 

amount for each occurrence and for each year of $2,000,000. 

 

  (iii) Such other insurance, including worker's compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of the Developer, in such amount as is 

customarily carried by like organizations engaged in like activities of 

comparable size and liability exposure. 

 

 (c) All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance 

companies selected by the Developer which are authorized under the laws of 

the State to assume the risks covered thereby.  The Developer will deposit 

annually with the City copies of policies evidencing all such insurance, or a 

368

ITEM 9.



17  

certificate or certificates or binders of the respective insurers stating that such 

insurance is in force and effect.  Unless otherwise provided in this Article V, 

each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or modify 

it without giving written notice to the Developer and the City at least thirty 

(30) days before the cancellation or modification becomes effective.  Not less 

than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of any policy, the Developer  shall 

furnish the City evidence satisfactory to the City that the policy has been 

renewed or replaced by another policy conforming to the provisions of this 

Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under the terms hereof.  In lieu 

of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or blanket or 

umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 

required herein, in which event the Developer shall deposit with the City a 

certificate or certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of 

coverage in force upon the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (d) Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum 

Improvements or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  Net 

Proceeds of any such insurance shall be paid directly to the Developer, and 

Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct and  restore the Minimum 

Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition or value as 

they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent 

necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, the 

Developer will apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 

damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs 

thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to casualties that occur 

prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 (e) The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance 

received by Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 

 Section 5.2.  Condemnation.  In the event that title to and possession of the 

Minimum Improvements or any other material part thereof shall be taken in condemnation 

or by the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or other 

person (except the City), so long as the Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect, the 

Developer or his successor shall, with reasonable promptness after such taking, notify the 

City as to the nature and extent of such taking. 

 

 Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment.  Upon receipt of any Condemnation 

Award or property insurance proceeds, the Developer shall use the entire Condemnation 

Award to reconstruct the Minimum Improvements (or, in the event only a part of 

369

ITEM 9.



18  

Minimum Improvements have been taken, then to reconstruct such part) upon the 

Development Property or elsewhere within the Urban Renewal Area. 

           

ARTICLE VI.  ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 

 

 Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement.  The Developer shall agree to, 

and with the City shall execute, concurrently with the execution of this Amended 

Agreement, an Assessment Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 403.19, Code 

of Iowa, substantially in the form and content of Exhibit D attached hereto, specifying the 

Assessor's Minimum Actual Value for the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on 

the Development Property for calculation of real property taxes.  Specifically, the 

Developer shall agree to a minimum actual taxable value for the Minimum Improvements 

and the land that together comprise the Development Property, which will result in a 

minimum actual taxable value upon substantial completion of the Minimum 

Improvements, but no later than January 1, 2021, of not less than One Million Four 

Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($1,450,000.00) (such minimum 

actual taxable value at the time applicable is herein referred to as the "Assessor's 

Minimum Actual Value").  Nothing in the Assessment Agreement shall limit the 

discretion of the Assessor to assign an actual taxable value to the Minimum Improvements 

or the land, in excess of such Assessor's Minimum Actual Value nor prohibit the 

Developer or its successors from seeking through the exercise of legal or administrative 

remedies a reduction in such actual taxable value for property tax purposes; provided, 

however, that the Developer or its successors shall not seek a reduction of such actual 

taxable value below the Assessor's Minimum Actual Value in any year so long as the 

Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect.  The Assessment Agreement shall remain in 

effect until the 31st day of December, 2031 (the "Termination Date").  The Assessment 

Agreement shall be certified by the Assessor for the County as provided in Section 403.19 

of the Code of Iowa, and shall be filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of 

the County, and such filing shall constitute notice to any subsequent encumbrancer or 

purchaser of the Development Property (or part thereof), whether voluntary or 

involuntary, and such Assessment Agreement shall be binding and enforceable in its 

entirety against any such subsequent purchaser or encumbrancer, as well as any prior 

encumbrancer consenting thereto. 

 

 Section 6.2.  Maintenance of Properties.   The Developer will maintain, preserve and 

keep the Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, ordinary wear and 

tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, replacements, 

renewals and additions, until the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.3 Maintenance of Records.  The Developer will keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all 

dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of the Developer in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied throughout 

370

ITEM 9.



19  

the period involved, and Developer will provide reasonable protection against loss or 

damage to such books of record and account.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply 

for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer will comply with all laws, 

rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements, other than laws, rules and 

regulations the failure to comply with which or the sanctions and penalties resulting 

therefrom, would not have a material adverse effect on the Developer’s business, property, 

operations, or condition, financial or otherwise.  The provisions of this paragraph shall 

apply for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all real 

property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the 

Development Property acquired and owned by it.  

 

 The Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) It will not seek any tax exemption (except as may be granted under Section 8.1 

of this Amended Agreement), either presently or prospectively authorized 

under any State or federal law with respect to taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property between the date of execution of this 

Amended Agreement and the Termination Date.  The foregoing shall not 

impair any rights to appeal the valuation set by the Black Hawk County 

Assessor as provided by law, but subject to the terms of the Assessment 

Agreement. 

 

 (b) It will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the applicability or 

constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be 

applicable to the Development Property, Minimum Improvements or to the 

Developer or raise the inapplicability or constitutionality of any such tax 

statute as a defense in any proceedings, including delinquent tax proceedings. 

 

 (c) It will not seek any tax deferral or abatement, except abatement, if any, that is 

specifically provided for in this Amended Agreement, either presently or 

prospectively authorized under Iowa Code Chapter 403 or 404, or any other 

local, State or federal law, of the taxation of real property contained on the 

Development Property between the date of execution of this Amended 

Agreement and the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.6.   Sales Tax.  The Developer shall pay all sales tax payable with respect 

to the Minimum Improvements. 

 

371

ITEM 9.



20  

 Section 6.7.  Utility Usage.  The Developer agrees for itself and its successors and 

assigns, specifically including all commercial tenants and all other persons, firms or other 

entities operating any business on the Development Property or any portion thereof, that 

for all periods up to the Termination Date that all utility needs for the Industrial Use 

Manufacturing Facility shall be furnished from City-owned utilities, including electricity, 

natural gas, water, sanitary sewer, cable television, telephone, internet and other fiber-

optic communications service including point-to-point, VLAN and last mile fiber services 

for a corporate network connection. The Developer and its successors and assigns agree to 

work with Cedar Falls Utilities to attain needed communication services (as defined 

above). Should it be mutually agreed upon by both parties that City-owned utilities are 

unable to meet the communication requirements specified, the Developer and its 

successors and assigns, as defined and described in this section, shall not, however, have 

any obligation or duty to use or take any minimum amount, and shall have no obligation 

to pay any amount in excess of the generally applicable rates for like users based upon 

actual use. 

  

 Section 6.8.  Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring and performance 

of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of the Developer shall annually provide 

to the City: (a) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been 

paid for the prior fiscal year; and (b) certification that, to the best of such officer’s 

knowledge during the preceding twelve (12) months, the Developer  was not  in default in 

the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement and that no 

Event of Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would become an Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such 

certificate or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or 

Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its period 

of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect 

thereto.  Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than November 1 

of each year, commencing November 1, 2021, and ending on November 1, 2032, both 

dates inclusive. 

 

 Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments.  The City shall be free to use any and all Tax 

Increments collected in respect of the Development Property for any purpose for which 

the Tax Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal 

Act; and the City shall have no obligations to the Developer with respect to the use of 

such increments. 

  

 Section 6.10.  Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 

Property.  The Developer agrees to include provisions in each commercial lease 

agreement the Developer enters into with any tenant that will occupy the Development 

Property or operate a business thereon, for all periods up to the Termination Date, which 

provide as follows: (a) that tenant acknowledges that the leased premises are part of the 

Development Property and are subject to the terms and conditions of this Amended 

372

ITEM 9.



21  

Agreement; (b) that this Amended Agreement is binding upon Developer’s successors and 

assigns, specifically including all commercial tenants; (c) that certain of the terms and 

conditions of this Amended Agreement specifically impact the tenant’s use of and conduct 

of its business operations on the Development Property, which terms and conditions 

include, but are not necessarily limited to, Sections 4.1, 5.1(b), 6.2, 6.7, 7.2, 7.3 and 12.2; 

and (d) that the tenant agrees to operate its business and conduct its operations on the 

Development Property in a manner consistent with all of the terms and conditions of this 

Amended Agreement. 

 

 Section 6.11.  Relocation.  Developer agrees and covenants that it shall not, absent 

written consent from the City, sell or lease the Minimum Improvements or Development 

Property to any enterprise that is relocating (“Relocating”) to the City from another part of 

Black Hawk County or a contiguous county during the term (the “Term”) of this 

Relocation provision (the “Relocation Provision”).  “Relocating” or “Relocation” means 

the closure or substantial reduction of an enterprise’s existing operations in one area of the 

State and the initiation of substantially the same operation in the same county or a 

contiguous county in the State.  The Term of this Relocation Provision will expire on the 

Termination Date as described in Section 12.9.  In general, urban renewal incentives 

cannot be used for projects that involve a Relocating enterprise (whether the relocating 

enterprise is the developer, land owner, tenant, or otherwise) unless there is a written 

agreement regarding the use of economic incentives between the city where the business 

is currently located and the city to which the business is Relocating, either specific to this 

Project or in general (i.e., a fair play or neutrality agreement), or if the City finds that the 

use of tax increments in connection with the Relocation is in the public interest, which 

means that the business has provided a written affirmation that it is considering moving 

part or all of its operations out of the State and such action would result in either 

significant employment or wage loss in Iowa.  Developer understands and agrees that if it 

sells or leases to a Relocating enterprise in violation of the Relocation Provision, as 

determined by the City in its sole discretion, such action shall be deemed an Event of 

Default under this Amended Agreement, and, in addition to any remedies set forth in 

Section 11.2: 

 

(i) Developer shall be ineligible to receive any future property tax abatements that are 

provided for under Section 8.1 of this Amended Agreement; 

 

(ii) Developer shall be responsible for paying the City an amount equal to the property 

tax abatements received by Developer under Section 8.1 of this Amended Agreement, 

with interest thereon at the highest rate permitted by State law; and 

 

(iii) If Developer received all or a portion of the Development Property from the City 

for less than the full fair market value of the Development Property (“Full Value”), then 

the Developer shall pay the City the difference between the Full Value of the 

Development Property and what the Developer actually paid the City for such property.  

373

ITEM 9.



22  

At the request of the City (which request need not be in writing), the Full Value of the 

Development Property shall be established by a licensed, certified appraiser to be selected 

by the City.  Developer shall be responsible for paying any fees or costs associated with 

obtaining such appraisal. 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development. The Developer represents and 

agrees that the purchase and improvement of the Development Property, and the other 

undertakings pursuant to this Amended Agreement, are, and will be used, for the purpose 

of development of the Development Property and not for speculation in land holding.  The 

Developer further acknowledges: 

 

(a) the importance of the development of the Development Property to the general 

welfare of the community; 

 

(b) the substantial financing and other public aids that have been made available 

by law and by the City for the purpose of making such development possible; 

and 

 

(c) the fact that any act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant 

change of control of the development, is for practical purposes a transfer or 

disposition of the Development Property then owned and operated by the 

Developer, and the qualifications and identity of the Developer are of 

particular concern to the community and the City.  The Developer further 

recognizes that it is because of such qualifications and identity that the City is 

entering into this Amended Agreement with the Developer. 

 

 Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of 

Agreement.  Except as otherwise expressly provided for in Section 7.4, Transfer of 

Interest in Developer or Transfer of Development Property to Permitted Transferees, for 

the foregoing reasons the Developer represents and agrees for itself, and its successors and 

assigns, that in addition to the provisions of Section 6.11 of this Amended Agreement, 

prior to termination of the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) Except only for (i) the purpose of obtaining financing necessary to enable the 

Developer to perform its obligations with respect to making the Minimum 

Improvements under this Amended Agreement, (ii) leases to commercial 

tenants for all or a portion of the Minimum Improvements, and (iii) any other 

purpose authorized by this Amended Agreement, the Developer (except as so 

authorized) has not made or created, and that the Developer will not, prior to 

the Termination Date, make or create, or suffer to be made or created, any 

total or partial sale, assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or 

374

ITEM 9.



23  

transfer in any other mode or form of or with respect to this Amended 

Agreement or the Development Property, or any part thereof or any interest 

therein, or any contract or agreement to do any of the same, without the prior 

written approval of the City. 

  

(b) The City shall be entitled to require, except as otherwise provided in this 

Amended Agreement, as conditions to any such approval that: 

 

(1) Any proposed transferee shall have the qualifications and financial 

responsibility, as determined by the City, necessary and adequate to 

fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Amended Agreement by the 

Developer (or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

Development Property, such obligations to the extent that they relate 

to such part). 

 

(2) Any proposed transferee, by instrument in writing satisfactory to the 

City and in form recordable among the land records, shall, for itself 

and its successors and assigns, and expressly for the benefit of the 

City, have expressly assumed all of the obligations of the Developer 

under this Amended Agreement and shall have agreed to be subject to 

all the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject 

(or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

Development Property, such obligations, conditions, and restrictions 

to the extent that they relate to such part):  Provided, That the fact 

that any transferee of, or any other successor in interest whatsoever 

to, the Development Property, or any part thereof, shall, whatever the 

reason, not have assumed such obligations or so agreed, shall not 

(unless and only to the extent otherwise specifically provided in this 

Amended Agreement or agreed to in writing by the City) relieve or 

exempt such transferee or successor of or from such obligations, 

conditions, or restrictions, or deprive or limit the City of or with 

respect to any rights or remedies or controls with respect to the 

Development Property or the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements; it being the intent of this provision, together with 

other provisions of this Amended Agreement, that (to the fullest 

extent permitted by law and equity and excepting only in the manner 

and to the extent specifically provided otherwise in this Amended 

Agreement) no transfer of, or change with respect to, ownership in 

the Development Property or any part thereof, or any interest therein, 

however consummated or occurring, and whether voluntary or 

involuntary, shall operate, legally or practically, to deprive or limit 

the City of or with respect to any rights or remedies or controls 

provided in or resulting from this Amended Agreement with respect 

375

ITEM 9.



24  

to the Development Property and the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements that the City would have had, had there been no such 

transfer or change. 

 

(3) Except leases to commercial tenants for all or a portion of the 

Minimum Improvements as provided in subsection (a)(ii) of this 

section, there shall be submitted to the City for review all instruments 

and other legal documents involved in effecting transfer; and if 

approved by the City, its approval shall be indicated to the Developer 

in writing. 

 

Provided, further, that in the absence of specific written agreement by the City to the 

contrary, no such transfer or approval by the City thereof shall be deemed to relieve the 

Developer, or any other party bound in any way by this Amended Agreement or otherwise 

with respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements, from any of its 

obligations with respect thereto. 

 

 Section 7.3.  Approvals.  Any approval of a transfer of interest in the Developer, 

this Amended Agreement, or the Development Property required to be given by the City 

under this Article VII may be denied only in the event that the City reasonably determines 

that the ability of the Developer to perform its obligations under this Amended Agreement 

and its statutory duty, as owner, to pay ad valorem real property taxes assessed with 

respect to the Development Property, or the overall financial security provided to the City 

under the terms of this Amended Agreement, or the likelihood of the Minimum 

Improvements being successfully constructed and operated pursuant to the terms of this 

Amended Agreement, will be materially impaired by the action for which approval is 

sought. 

 

Section 7.4.  Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in 

Development Property to Permitted Transferee. Notwithstanding the provisions of 

Sections 7.2 and 7.3, the City and the Developer agree that a transfer of ownership of the 

Development Property to a newly established corporation or limited liability company the 

ownership of which consists solely of the members of Developer (the “Permitted 

Transferee”), shall not trigger the provisions of Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, provided, 

however, that any transfer of the Development Property to the Permitted Transferee shall 

require the Permitted Transferee to agree in writing with the City (a) to expressly assume 

all of the obligations of the Developer under this Amended Agreement, and (b) to agree to 

be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in 

the event the transfer is of or relates to only part of the Development Property, such 

obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to such part). Upon 

execution of an agreement in writing by the Permitted Transferee that (a) assumes all of 

the obligations of the Developer under this Amended Agreement and (b) agrees to be 

subject to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject, the 

376

ITEM 9.



25  

transfer of the Development Property, or the part thereof, shall be deemed approved upon 

delivery of such written assumption agreement to the City Clerk of the City.  

 

ARTICLE VIII.  PARTIAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION 

 

 Section 8.1.  Partial Property Tax Exemption. Subject to Developer’s compliance 

with all of the terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement, City agrees that the 

Developer may apply to Black Hawk County, Iowa, and to City, for a partial exemption 

from taxation of industrial property as may be provided by the Cedar Falls Code of 

Ordinances, and by Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, with respect to the actual value added by 

the Minimum Improvements. Subject to Developer’s timely application and qualification 

under Sections 21-48 through 21-57 of the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, and 

Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, the partial property tax exemption shall be according to the 

following schedule:  

 

(a) For the first assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 75% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(b) For the second assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 60% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(c) For the third assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 45% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(d) For the fourth assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 30% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

(e) For the fifth assessment year after the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed – 15% exemption of the actual value added. 

 

The obligation to timely and appropriately file an application for such exemption with the 

Black hawk County Assessor shall be that of the Developer. 

 

ARTICLE IX.  DEVELOPER’S OPTION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Grant of Option. As additional consideration for Developer’s covenants 

as contained in this Amended Agreement, and upon performance by Developer of all of its 

obligations to the City under the terms and conditions of this Amended Agreement, but 

only for so long as Developer is not in default under this Amended Agreement, the City 

hereby grants Developer an irrevocable option (hereinafter the “Option”) to acquire the 

property described in Exhibit A-2 attached to this Amended Agreement (hereinafter the 

“Option Property”), on the terms and conditions set forth in this Article. 

 

377

ITEM 9.



26  

 Section 9.2.  Option to Acquire Option Property. The Developer’s option to acquire 

the Option Property under this Article shall be on the following terms: 

 

(a) The Option shall commence on June 3, 2019 (the “Effective Date of the 

Agreement”). 

 

(b) The Option shall be irrevocable until December 31, 2022 (hereinafter the 

“Option Expiration Date.”). 

 

(c) The Option shall be effective only if the Developer shall have performed all of 

its obligations to the City as set forth in this Amended Agreement and any 

agreements referenced in this Amended Agreement, including without 

limitation the Minimum Assessment Agreement, and only for so long as 

Developer shall not be in default thereunder. 
 

(d) To exercise its option to acquire the Option Property, Developer shall send a 

notice in writing to the City that it desires to exercise its Option to acquire the 

Option Property and that it will do so in the following way: 

 

1) By purchasing the Option Property for a purchase price of One 

Hundred Eighty Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($185,000.00) (the 

“Option Cash Purchase Price”), and on terms as are provided for in 

subsection 9.2(f) of this Amended Agreement. 

 

(e) The following procedure shall apply in the event that Developer exercises its 

Option under subsection 9.2(d)(1), after proper notice has been given by 

Developer: 

 

1) The City shall provide the Developer with a complete abstract of title 

to the Option Property, continued to a date subsequent to the date of 

Developer’s notice of exercise of the Option by the Developer, that 

shows that title to the Option Property is vested in the City, free and 

clear of all liens and encumbrances of record as provided in subsection 

(2), all at the City’s sole cost and expense. 

 

2) The City shall convey clear title to the Option Property to the 

Developer by Quit Claim Deed upon compliance with legally required 

public proceedings, and upon payment to the City by the Developer of 

the Option Cash Purchase Price. Such conveyance and title shall be 

subject to restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access 

provisions of record, if any, and existing easements of record, but shall 

otherwise be free and clear of all other liens and encumbrances of 

378

ITEM 9.



27  

record, other than compliance with the terms and conditions of this 

Amended Agreement. 

 

3) The City shall deliver the Quit Claim Deed of the Option Property to 

the Developer within sixty (60) days of the date the City receives 

Developer’s notice of Developer’s intent to exercise its Option to 

acquire the Option Property. 

 

4) The Developer shall promptly file the Quit Claim Deed for recordation 

among the land records in the Office of the Recorder of the County. 

The Developer shall pay all costs for recording the Quit Claim Deed. 

Any revenue stamps or transfer tax on the Quit Claim Deed shall be 

paid for by the City. 

 

 Section 9.3.  Expiration of Option. If the Developer fails to notify the City in a 

timely manner of the exercise of its Option to acquire the Option Property by the means 

described in subsection 9.2(d)(1) by the Option Expiration Date, Developer’s Option shall 

expire on the Option Expiration Date, and Developer shall have no further rights in and to 

the Option Property. The City shall thereafter own the Option Property free and clear of 

any right, title, interest or claim of the Developer. 

 

 Section 9.4.  Option Personal to Developer.  The rights of Developer as described in 

this Article IX are personal to Developer, and may not be assigned or transferred to any 

third party under any circumstances. Any attempted assignment, transfer, or conveyance 

of the rights of Developer under this Article without the express written consent of the 

City shall cause an immediate termination of all of the Developer’s rights described in this 

Article. 

 

 Section 9.5.  Resale of Option Property Within Five Years.  In the event that 

Developer, having acquired the Option Property by payment of the Option Cash Purchase 

Price under subsection 9.2(d)(1), sells the Option Property to any third party at any time 

within five (5) years of the date of the City’s delivery of the Quit Claim Deed conveying 

the Option Property to the Developer, the Developer shall pay to the City an amount equal 

to fifty percent (50%) of the amount by which the sale price of the Option Property 

exceeds the Option Cash Purchase Price of $185,000.00, which amount shall be paid in 

cash in full to the City immediately upon the happening of the sale of the Option Property 

by the Developer. Failure to pay said amount shall constitute a default under this 

Amended Agreement. For purposes of this subsection, the term “sell” shall include any 

voluntary of involuntary sale, exchange, or transfer of title to the Option Property, or any 

part thereof, to any person or entity whatsoever other than the City; provided, however, 

that Developer may grant a mortgage on the Option Property as security for a loan made 

to or guaranteed by the Developer, and the same shall not, in and of itself, constitute a sale 

of the Option Property within the meaning of this subsection. 

379

ITEM 9.



28  

ARTICLE X.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 10.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 (a) The Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this 

Article X, the "indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the 

indemnified parties shall not be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the indemnified parties against, any loss or damage to property 

or any injury to or death of any person occurring at or about or resulting from 

any defect in the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (b) Except for any willful misrepresentation, or any willful or wanton misconduct, 

or any unlawful act, or any negligent act or omission of the indemnified 

parties, Developer agrees to protect and defend the indemnified parties, now or 

forever, and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties harmless, from any 

claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever by any person or 

entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from any violation of any 

agreement or condition of this Amended Agreement by the Developer, 

including but not limited to claims for the construction, installation, 

ownership, and operation of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (c) The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of the Developer or its officers, agents, servants or 

employees or any other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements 

due to any act of negligence, including a negligent failure to act, of any person, 

other than any act of negligence on the part of any such indemnified party or 

its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

 (d) The provisions of this Article X shall survive the termination of this Amended 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE XI.  REMEDIES 

 

 Section 11.1.  Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be "Events of 

Default" under this Amended Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, 

whenever it is used in this Amended Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 

  

 (a) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be commenced and completed pursuant to the terms, 

conditions and limitations of Article III of this Amended Agreement, subject 

to Unavoidable Delays; 

 

380

ITEM 9.



29  

 (b) Failure by the Developer or its successors to cause the Minimum 

Improvements to be reconstructed when required pursuant to Article III of this 

Amended Agreement; 

 

 (c) Transfer of the Developer's ownership interest in the Development Property or 

any interest of Developer in this Amended Agreement, or the assets of 

Developer in violation of the provisions of Article VII of this Amended 

Agreement, until the Termination Date; 

 

 (d) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date, to pay ad valorem taxes 

on the Development Property;  

 

 (e) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date to substantially observe or 

perform any other covenant, condition, obligation or agreement on its part to 

be observed or performed under this Amended Agreement; 

 

 (f) The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure 

proceedings as a result of any default under the applicable Mortgage 

documents; 

 

 (g) Sale or lease of the Minimum Improvements or Development Property in 

violation of the provisions of Section 6.11, Relocation, of this Amended 

Agreement; 

 

 (h) The Developer shall: 

 

  (i) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 

under the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under 

any similar federal or state law; or 

 

  (ii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

  (iii) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 

 

  (iv) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing adjudication as a bankrupt or reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state 

law shall be filed in any court and such petition or answer shall not be 

discharged or denied within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof; or a 

receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Developer or the Minimum 

381

ITEM 9.



30  

Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings 

brought against the Developer and shall not be discharged within ninety 

(90) days after such appointment, or if the Developer shall consent to or 

acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 

 (i) Any obligation, representation or warranty made by any party to this Amended 

Agreement, any Exhibit hereto, or made by any party in any written statement 

or certificate pursuant to this Amended Agreement, shall prove to have been 

incorrect, incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date 

of the issuance or making thereof.   

 

 Section 11.2.  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 11.1 of this Amended Agreement occurs and is continuing, any party not in 

default may take any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) 

days' written notice to the party in default, and the holder of the Mortgage, of the Event of 

Default, but only if the Event of Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or 

if the Event of Default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and the party in 

default does not provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to the party giving notice that 

the Event of Default will be cured as soon as reasonably possible: 

 

 (a) The party giving notice may suspend its performance under this Amended 

Agreement until it receives assurances from the party in default, deemed 

adequate by the party giving notice, that the party in default will cure the 

default and continue performance under this Amended Agreement; 

 

 (b) The party who is not in default may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  

 

 (c) The party who is not in default may take any action, including legal, equitable 

or administrative action, which may appear necessary or desirable to recover 

damages proximately caused by the Default, or to enforce performance and 

observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant, under this Amended 

Agreement. 

 

 (d) In the event the Developer fails to perform any one or more of the material 

obligations described in Article III of this Amended Agreement in a timely 

manner, Developer shall thereupon immediately convey title to the 

Development Property to the City, free and clear of all liens and 

encumbrances, but subject to restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited 

access provisions of record, if any, and to existing easements, if any.  

Developer shall also establish to the satisfaction of City and its legal counsel 

that no labor has been performed and no materials have been furnished by any 

contractor, subcontractor, or any other person, firm or entity, in connection 

with any improvements made to the Development Property within the ninety 

382

ITEM 9.



31  

(90) days immediately preceding the date of said conveyance.  Developer shall 

also deliver to City an abstract of title covering the Development Property, 

certified to a date subsequent to the date of said conveyance, showing that 

marketable title to the Development Property is vested in Developer and 

complies with the requirements of this subsection.  Developer shall pay to City 

all general property taxes and special assessments, if any, due or to become 

due with respect to the Development Property, continuing until the 

Development Property is assessed to the City and is exempt from assessment 

for general property taxes by reason of its conveyance to and ownership by the 

City as a tax-exempt governmental body.  Developer shall pay for all costs 

associated with conveyance of the Development Property to the City, 

including, but not limited to, abstracting, recording fees, and reasonable 

attorneys' fees.  In the event the Developer fails to comply with the terms and 

conditions of this subsection (d) within the thirty (30) day period described in 

Section 11.2 of this Article, then the City may proceed as provided in Section 

11.2(c) of this Article, to obtain a decree of specific performance against 

Developer for the conveyance of the Development Property to the City or, in 

lieu thereof, at the City’s sole discretion, to obtain a judgment for monetary 

damages to compensate the City for the Developer’s default, plus attorneys’ 

fees and expenses as provided in Section 11.5. 

 

 Section 11.3.  No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 

to the parties is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but 

each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy 

given under this Amended Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or 

by statute.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default 

shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any 

such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 

expedient.   

 

 Section 11.4.  No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this 

Amended Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other 

party, such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be 

deemed to waive any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

 Section 11.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any 

Event of Default occurs and a party not in default shall employ attorneys or incur other 

expenses for the collection of payments due or to become due or for the enforcement or 

performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of a party in default 

herein contained, the party in default agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the 

party not in default the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses as may 

be reasonably and appropriately incurred by the party not in default in connection 

therewith. 

383

ITEM 9.



32  

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest.  Developer agrees that, to its best knowledge and 

belief, no member, officer or employee of the City, or its designees or agents, nor any 

consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and no other public official of the 

City who exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to the 

Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making 

process or gain insider information with regard to the Project, shall have any interest, 

direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be 

performed in connection with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is 

part of this Project at any time during or after such person's tenure. 

 

 Section 12.2.  Non-Discrimination.  In carrying out the construction and operation 

of the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any 

employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.  The Developer 

shall insure that applicants for employment are employed, and the employees are treated 

during employment, without regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.   

 

 Section 12.3.  Notices.  Whenever this Amended Agreement requires or permits any 

consent, approval, notice, request, proposal, or demand (collectively, "Notice") from one 

party to another, the Notice must be in writing and shall be effective upon actual receipt 

by the intended recipient, at the following addresses:    

 

DEVELOPER:  Mr. Rodney Joe Owen 

    Manager 

    OWEN 5, L.L.C.  

    3318 Apollo Street 

    Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613    

 

With a copy to:  Steve Daniels 

    Dutton, Daniels, Hines, Kalkhoff, Cook & Swanson, P.L.C. 

    3151 Brockway Road 

    Waterloo, IA 50701 

     

CITY   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    City Administrator 

    220 Clay Street 

    Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall 

have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.  Any party entitled to 

384

ITEM 9.



33  

receive a Notice hereunder may change the address which it previously had specified for 

receiving the same, at any time and from time to time, by delivering a written change 

notice in accordance with the above provisions to the other parties at least five (5) 

business days prior to the effective date of such change. 

 

 Section 12.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, 

Articles, and Sections of this Amended Agreement are inserted for convenience of 

reference only and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

 Section 12.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed.  None of the provisions of this 

Amended Agreement shall be merged by reason of the delivery of the Deed, and the Deed 

shall not be deemed to affect or impair the provisions and covenants of this Amended 

Agreement. 

 

 Section 12.6.  Governing Law.  This Amended Agreement shall be governed and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

 Section 12.7.  Entire Agreement.  This Amended Agreement and the exhibits hereto 

reflect the entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and 

supersedes and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or 

written.  This Amended Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing 

signed by all parties hereto. 

 

 Section 12.8.  Successors and Assigns.  This Amended Agreement is intended to and 

shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

 

 Section 12.9.  Termination Date of Assessment Agreement.  This Amended 

Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect with respect to the 

Minimum Improvements on the termination of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as 

provided in Section 6.1 of this Amended Agreement and in the Minimum Assessment 

Agreement, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

 

 Section 12.10.  Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement.  The parties 

agree to execute and record a Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for 

Private Development, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E, to serve as notice to 

the public of the existence and provisions of this Amended Agreement, and the rights and 

interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  Developer shall pay all costs of recording. 

 

 Section 12.11.  Immediate Undertaking.  All parties agree to undertake immediately 

upon execution of this Amended Agreement all of those obligations which require 

immediate action. 

 

385

ITEM 9.



34  

 Section 12.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created 

between the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a 

partnership or joint venture between the Developer and any or all of the other parties. 

 

 Section 12.13.  Captions.  The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this 

Amended Agreement are for convenience only and shall not in any way affect, limit, 

amplify, or modify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

 Section 12.14.  Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular 

number is used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any 

gender shall include each other where appropriate. 

   

 Section 12.15.  Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Amended Agreement or 

any agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable 

under present or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such 

provision shall be fully severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as 

if such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of 

such agreement; and (iii) the remaining provisions of such agreement shall remain in full 

force and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable 

provision or by its severance from such agreement.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, 

void, invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as a part of 

such agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, invalid, or 

unenforceable provision as may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a 

substitute provision is specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, in the event any provision involving material consideration by the City for the 

benefit of the Developer shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the 

Developer shall have the right to cancel this Amended Agreement, and upon such 

cancellation, this Amended Agreement, in its entirety, shall be rendered null and void; 

however, in that event, Developer shall proceed as described in Section 11.2(d) of this 

Amended Agreement. 

 

 Section 12.16.  Multiple Counterparts.  This Amended Agreement has been executed 

in a number of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all 

purposes and all of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of 

this Amended Agreement it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than 

one such counterpart. 

 

 Section 12.17.  Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its 

execution hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as 

applicable, including without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, 

has been taken to authorize the execution of this Amended Agreement and the 

performance by such party of its respective obligations hereunder. 

 

386

ITEM 9.



35  

 Section 12.18.  Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all 

matters described in this Amended Agreement and related documents.  

 

 Section 12.19.  Survival.  Each provision of this Amended Agreement shall survive 

the occurrence of the other provisions of this Amended Agreement to the extent necessary 

to ensure full performance of said surviving provision. 

 

 Section 12.20.   Agreement Terminated.   Upon execution of this Amended 

Agreement, including all further agreements required to be executed under this Amended 

Agreement, and upon approval by the City Council of the City, the Agreement shall 

immediately terminate, and the parties shall be deemed to have declared the terms and 

conditions of the Agreement to have been fully satisfied, and shall be deemed to have 

waived and released any and all claims against each other under the Agreement, without 

the necessity of further notice.  

 
[Signatures appear on following page] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

387

ITEM 9.



36  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Amended Agreement to be duly 

executed in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and 

attested by its City Clerk, and the Developer has caused this Amended Agreement to be 

duly executed in its name and behalf by its member, all on or as of the day first above 

written. 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

              Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

  

      

OWEN 5, L.L.C., 

an Iowa limited liability company  

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Rodney Joe Owen, Manager 

 

DEVELOPER 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ss.  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2020, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 
 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss. 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2020, 

by Rodney Joe Owen, Manager, OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company. 

 
     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

388

ITEM 9.



37  

EXHIBIT A-1 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Development Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or 

parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State 

of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 

 

  

389

ITEM 9.



38  

EXHIBIT A-2 

 

OPTION PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Option Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or parcels of 

land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa, 

more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 17, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 2.89 acres more or less). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

390

ITEM 9.



39  

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 The Minimum Improvements shall consist of the construction of a Shop/Office 

Facility totaling at least 10,000 square feet of finished space, all as set forth in the 

Construction Plans and being as more particularly shown and in substantially the same 

configuration and scope as the Site Plans attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

 The Developer agrees to connect to the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, natural gas, 

electricity, water, underground telephone cable, internet and any other utilities services 

from their present locations to such location or locations on the Development Property as 

Developer deems appropriate, at its cost.  The Developer also agrees to construct any 

driveway approaches and other paving, at its cost, in accordance with City ordinances.  

 

 The Developer also agrees to perform or cause to be performed all necessary 

grading, land preparation and all necessary building improvements, landscaping, storm 

water detention, signage, and all other site improvements, in all respects in entire 

conformity with all applicable codes and ordinances of the City, all at the Developer's 

cost.  The submittal to City of plans for the construction of said improvements shall be in 

substantial conformity with the following schedule: 

 

Schedule of Performance 

 

Activity to be Completed    Completion Date 

 

Issuance of Building Permit   November 30, 2019 

 

Substantial Completion     August 31, 2020 

 

Issuance of Occupancy Permit   August 31, 2020 
 

 

391

ITEM 9.



 

40  

EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 

called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2015 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and OWEN 5, L.L.C.,  (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 

3318 Apollo Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; did on or about the _____ day of 

_______________, 2020, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Amended and 

Restated Agreement for Private Development (the "Amended Agreement"), wherein and 

whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of the Amended Agreement, to 

develop and maintain certain real property located within the City and as more particularly 

described as follows: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Amended Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants 

and restrictions with respect to the development of the Development Property, and 

obligated Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in 

accordance with the Amended Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer performed said covenants and conditions insofar as they 

relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by the City 

to be in conformance with the approved building plans to permit the execution and 

recording of this certification. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Amended Agreement, this is to certify that all 

covenants and conditions of the Amended Agreement with respect to the obligations of 

Developer and its successors and assigns, to construct the Minimum Improvements have 

been completed and performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and 

forever terminated insofar as they apply to the land described herein.  The County 

Recorder of Black Hawk County is hereby authorized to accept for recording and to 

record the filing of this instrument, to be a conclusive determination of the satisfactory 

termination of the covenants and conditions of said Amended Agreement with respect to 

the construction of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

392

ITEM 9.



 

41  

 All other provisions of the Amended Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force 

and effect until termination as provided therein. 

 

 (SEAL)    THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

      By: ________________________________ 

             Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK )  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2020, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

  

393

ITEM 9.



 

42  

EXHIBIT D 

 

AMENDED MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS AMENDED MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of this 

_________ day of ______________, 2020, by and among the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

(the "City"), and OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company, (the "Developer"), and the 

COUNTY ASSESSOR for the County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa (the "Assessor"). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, the parties previously executed a certain Minimum Assessment Agreement 

dated as of June 3, 2019 and recorded at the office of the Black Hawk County, Iowa Recorder on 

June 25, 2019 as Document Number 2019-00019464 (the “Original Agreement”); and 

 

WHEREAS, on or before the date hereof the City and Developer have entered into an 

Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development dated as of 

______________________________, 2020 (the "Amended Agreement") regarding certain real 

property located in the City legally described as: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 
 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is contemplated that pursuant to said Amended Agreement, the Developer 

will undertake the development of the Development Property, which is within the Cedar Falls 

Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 403.6(19) of the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended, the 

City and the Developer desire to establish a minimum actual taxable value for the facilities 

thereon to be constructed by the Developer pursuant to the Amended Agreement (defined therein 

as the "Minimum Improvements"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Assessor have reviewed the preliminary plans and 

specifications for the Minimum Improvements which it is contemplated will be erected. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement, in 

consideration of the promises, covenants and agreements made by each other, do hereby agree as 

follows: 

 

1.   This Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement amends and restates the Original 

Agreement in its entirety, effective as of the date hereof, so that the Original Agreement shall 

immediately terminate, and the parties shall be deemed to have declared the terms and conditions 

of the Original Agreement to have been fully satisfied, and shall be deemed to have waived and 

394

ITEM 9.



 

43  

released any and all claims against each other under the Original Agreement, without necessity of 

further notice. 

 

 2.   Upon substantial completion of construction of the above-referenced Minimum 

Improvements by the Developer, but no later than January 1, 2021, the minimum actual taxable 

value which shall be fixed for assessment purposes for the Minimum Improvements to be 

constructed on the Development Property by the Developer and the land that together comprise 

the Development Property, shall be not less than One Million Four Hundred Fifty Thousand 

Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($1,450,000.00) (hereafter referred to as the "Minimum Actual 

Value") until termination of this Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement.  The parties hereto 

expect that the construction of the above-referenced Minimum Improvements will be completed 

on or before August 31, 2020. 

 

 Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive the Developer's rights under Iowa Code Section 

403.6(19) to contest that portion of any actual taxable value assignment made by the Assessor in 

excess of the Minimum Actual Value established herein, or any actual taxable value assignment 

made by the Assessor to the Minimum Improvements or to the 3.90 acres of land, which together 

comprise the Development Property.  In no event, however, shall the Developer seek to reduce 

the actual taxable value assigned below the Minimum Actual Value established herein during the 

term of this Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement. 

 

 3.   The Minimum Actual Value herein established shall be of no further force and effect 

and this Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement shall terminate on December 31, 2031. 

 

 4.   This Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement shall be promptly recorded by the 

Developer with the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa.  The Developer shall pay all costs of 

recording. 

 

 5.   Neither the preambles nor provisions of this Amended Minimum Assessment 

Agreement are intended to, or shall be construed as, modifying the terms of the Amended 

Agreement between the City and the Developer. 

 

 6.   This Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be 

binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties, and all holders of mortgages upon or 

security interests in the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum 

Improvements, to secure any loans with respect to the Development Property, including the land 

and the Minimum Improvements. 

 

      THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: ____________________________________ 

             Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

395

ITEM 9.



 

44  

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

OWEN 5, L.L.C. 

An Iowa limited liability company  

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Rodney Joe Owen, Manager 

 

 

 
 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

       ) ss:   

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK   ) 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2020, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

                       )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 

2020, by Rodney Joe Owen, Manager, OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability 

company. 

    

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

  

396

ITEM 9.



 

45  

 

CERTIFICATION OF ASSESSOR 

 

 The undersigned, having reviewed the plans and specifications for the Minimum 

Improvements to be constructed and the market value assigned to such Minimum 

Improvements, and being of the opinion that the minimum market value contained in the 

foregoing Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement appears reasonable, hereby 

certifies as follows:  The undersigned Assessor, being legally responsible for the 

assessment of the property described in the foregoing Amended Minimum Assessment 

Agreement, upon completion of Minimum Improvements to be made on it and in 

accordance with the Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement, certifies that the actual 

taxable value assigned to such Minimum Improvements and the 3.90 acres of land on 

which such Minimum Improvements are to be constructed, which together comprise the 

Development Property, upon completion shall not be less than $1,450,000.00, until 

termination of this Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement pursuant to the terms 

hereof. 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Date 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                       )  ss. 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 Subscribed and sworn to before me by _______________________________, 

County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

      ______________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Date 
 

 

397

ITEM 9.



 

46  

EXHIBIT E 

 

MEMORANDUM OF AMEDNED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 

called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and OWEN 5, L.L.C.,  (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 

3318 Apollo Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, did on or about the _____ day of 

______________, 2020, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Amended and 

Restated Agreement for Private Development (the "Amended Agreement"), wherein and 

whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of the Amended Agreement and 

the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan"), to 

develop certain real property located within the City and within the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 

(the "Development Property"), and  

 

 WHEREAS, the term of the Amended Agreement commenced on the ___ day of 

___________, 2020 and terminates on the 31st day of December, 2031, with respect to the 

Development Property, unless otherwise terminated as set forth in the Amended 

Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to record a Memorandum of the Amended and 

Restated Agreement referring to the Development Property and their respective interests 

therein.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Amended and Restated 

Agreement for Private Development shall serve as notice to the public that the Amended 

Agreement contains provisions restricting conveyance, development and use of the 

Development Property and the improvements located and operated on such Development 

Property, and contains provisions dealing with the dollar amount of the minimum taxable 

value of the Development Property for general property tax purposes, and the length of 

time during which said minimum assessed value continues in effect, as provided for in 

Section 403.6(19), Code of Iowa. 

 

398

ITEM 9.



 

47  

 2. That all of the provisions of the Amended Agreement and any subsequent 

amendments thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this 

Memorandum of Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development made a part 

hereof by reference, and that anyone making any claim against any of said Development 

Property in any manner whatsoever shall be fully advised as to all of the terms and 

conditions of the Amended Agreement, and any amendments thereto, as if the same were 

fully set forth herein.   

 

 3. That a copy of the Amended Agreement and any subsequent amendments 

thereto, if any, shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business 

hours in the office of the City Clerk, City Hall, Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Memorandum of 

Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of 

_______________________, 2020. 

 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

              Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 

 

OWEN 5, L.L.C. 

an Iowa limited liability company. 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Rodney Joe Owen, Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

399

ITEM 9.



 

48  

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2020, by Robert M. Green as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA    )  

      )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2020, 

by Rodney Joe Owen, Manager, OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company. 

 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 
 

400

ITEM 9.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, (319) 273-8600  

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
AND AN AMENDED MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OWEN 5, L.L.C. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on November 12, 1990 
(Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 
(Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 
2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 
2012 (Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution 19,263 on November 3, 2014, 
amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, and amended a sixth time by 
Resolution No. 21,368 on December 17, 2018, the City Council has approved and adopted an 
urban renewal plan designated as the “Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal 
Plan” (the “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Plan be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by said Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Owen 5, L.L.C.  ("Developer"), in the 
form of a proposed Amended and Restated Agreement for Private Development (the "Amended 
Agreement") by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, 
pursuant to which, among other things, the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum 
Improvements (as defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban 
Renewal Plan as legally described in the Amended Agreement attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference (defined in the Agreement as the "Development 
Property"), consisting of the construction of an Industrial Shop/Office Facility totaling at least 
10,000  square feet of finished space, together with all related site improvements, as outlined in 
the proposed Agreement; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") 
authorize cities to make loans and grants to developers for economic development purposes in 
furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds, make 
such expenditures and convey such real property as may be necessary to carry out the 
purposes of said Chapters, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

401

ITEM 9.



 2 

 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City, the Developer and the 
Assessor of Black Hawk County, Iowa, enter into an Amended Minimum Assessment 
Agreement, whereby the minimum actual taxable value of the improvements to be constructed 
thereon would be established at an amount not less than $1,450,000.00 for a period through 
December 31, 2031; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Amended Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Amended Agreement and the 
City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities 
and objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking 
into account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Amended 
Agreement in connection with the development of the Development Property under the terms 
set forth in the Amended Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and 
purpose and in furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, 
further, that the Amended Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of 
appropriate economic development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of 
chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 
 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Amended Agreement, the provisions of 
which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects 
authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Amended 
Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now before this 
meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or deletions therein as shall be 

402

ITEM 9.



 3 

approved by such officers, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the Amended 
Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to do 
all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary to carry out 
and comply with the provisions of the Amended Agreement as executed. 
 
 Section 3.  That the form and content of the Amended Minimum Assessment 
Agreement, the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are 
hereby in all respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be 
and they are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the 
Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the 
form and content now before this meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or 
deletions therein as shall be approved by such officers, and that from and after the execution 
and delivery of the Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk 
are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute 
all such documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the 
Amended Minimum Assessment Agreement, as executed. 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2020. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

403

ITEM 9.



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2020. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

404

ITEM 9.



 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Prepared by:  Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   (319) 273-8600 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2960 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING DIVISION 3, COLLEGE HILL SELF-
SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT, OF ARTICLE X, 
MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS, OF CHAPTER 2, 
ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISON 
3, ESTABLISHING A SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT WITHIN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; 
 
 Division 3, College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, of Article X, 
Municipal Improvement Districts, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following new Division 3, 
College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District, is enacted in lieu thereof: 
 
DIVISION 3. COLLEGE HILL SELF-SUPPORTED MUNICIPAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT 
 
Section 2-1085.  Created; purpose. 
 
 There is hereby created in the city a self-supported municipal improvement district as 
defined in Chapter 386 of the 2019 Code of Iowa (referred to in this Article as "the Act"), the 
name of which district shall be the "College Hill Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District" 
(sometimes referred to in this article as the "district"), the purposes of which shall include those 
set forth in Section 2-1088. 
 
Section 2-1086.  Boundaries. 
 

(a) The proposed District includes contiguous property wholly within the boundaries of 
the City of Cedar Falls, and is comprised only of real property zoned for commercial 
or industrial uses, and property within any duly designated historic district, 
specifically excluding property zoned as residential property, unless the residential 
property is within a duly designated historic district.  The proposed boundaries of the 
District are as follows: (All references to streets and street intersections refer to the 
center line or center point of the public right-of-way.) 

  
(b) That part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14 and the Southwest Quarter 

of Section 13, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of Fifth P.M. in the City of 
Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. Beginning at the Southeast (SE) 
corner “Campus Addition Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa”, point also 

405

ITEM 11.



 2 

being the intersection of East (E) line of said addition and centerline of West 
Twenty-third Street; thence West along said centerline of West Twenty-third 
Street, to the East line of the West nine inches (9”) of Lot 5, Campus 
Addition, extended South (S) to said centerline of West Twenty-third Street; 
thence North (N) along said extended East (E) to point on South (S) line of 
North 24.75 feet of said Lot 5, point being 57 feet West (W) of East line said 
Lot 5; thence deflect West to Southwest corner Lot 31 said Campus Addition; 
thence deflect North along East line of Lot 31 said Campus Addition to 
Southwest corner of Lot 1 of “Arthur P. Cotton’s Addition Cedar Falls, Black 
Hawk County, Iowa”; thence deflect left to West line of Lot 1 Arthur P. 
Cotton’s Addition; thence deflect North along said West line extended and 
continuing North along the West line of Lot 28 Arthur P. Cotton’s Addition to 
Northwest corner said Lot 28; thence deflect West, along North line of Lot 27 
Arthur P. Cotton’s Addition to point 408.2 feet west of Southeast corner of Lot 
43 of “Auditor Rainbow’s Plat No. 3, Black Hawk County, Iowa”; thence 
deflecting North 86.2 feet as platted in said Auditor Rainbow’s Plat No. 3; 
thence deflecting West 68.8 feet to point lying in Lot 41, which is  7 feet East 
of the West line of Lot 16 in “Sunnyside Addition Black Hawk County, Iowa”; 
thence deflecting North to point on South line Lot 16 Sunnyside Addition, 7 
feet West of West line said Lot 16; thence West 7 feet to Southwest corner 
said lot 16; thence deflect North along West line said Lot 16 to point in said 
West line Lot 16, 100 feet South of Southerly right-of-way of West Twentieth 
Street; thence deflect West 25 feet to point in West line Lot 15, said 
Sunnyside Addition, 100 feet South of Southerly right-of-way of West 
Twentieth Street; thence deflect North 100 feet to Southerly right-of-way of 
West Twentieth Street; thence continue North on West line Lot 15 extended 
to center line of West Twentieth Street; thence deflect East along said 
centerline to its intersection with the centerline of College Street; thence 
deflecting North from said intersection North to intersection with the extended 
center line of West Twentieth Street as established through “Railroad 
Addition Black Hawk County, Iowa” and a portion of the unplatted Southwest 
Quarter of Section 13, Township 89 North, Range 14 West of Fifth P.M. in the 
City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa lying East of the Easterly right-
of-way of College Street; thence East along centerline of said Twentieth 
Street to point where the West line of Lot 8 of Block 13 Railroad Addition 
would intersect if extended North; thence deflect to the right along said 
extended West line of Lot 8 of Block 13 Railroad Addition continuing along 
West lines of Lots 5, 6, and 7, and the extension South of the West line of 
said Lot 5 to its intersection with centerline of Twenty-first Street; thence East 
on said centerline to a point which would intersect with the extension of said 
line, 82.5 feet West of the East line of Lot 1 of Block 36 Railroad Addition if 
extended North, point also being the North line said Block 36; thence 
continue South along said line 66 feet to North line of “Normal Plat Black 
Hawk County, Iowa”; thence deflect West along said North line Normal Plat to 
point 116 feet East of West line said Normal Plat (point also being the East 
right-of-way line of College Street); thence deflect South 132 feet to point on 
North line of Lot 3 Normal Plat which is 115.18 feet East of West line said 
Normal Plat (said West line also being the East right-of-way line of College 
Street); thence deflect East to point 132 feet more or less from West line said 
Normal Plat; thence deflect South to South line of Lot 4 said Normal Plat 
(point also being North line of Twenty-second Street); thence continue South 
33 feet to centerline of said Twenty-second Street; thence deflect East to 

406

ITEM 11.



 3 

centerline of Olive Street as laid out in “Normal Addition Black Hawk County, 
Iowa”; thence deflect South along centerline said Olive Street to point which 
would intersect the South line of vacated West Twenty-third Street, if 
extended East to centerline of Olive Street; thence deflect West along South 
right-of-way line of said Twenty-third Street to West line said Normal Plat 
(point also being the East right-of-way line of College Street); thence continue 
West along said extended right-of-way line to East line of Campus Addition; 
thence deflect South along said East addition line to Southeast corner 
Campus Addition the point of beginning. 

 
Section 2-1087.  Findings. 
 

It is found and determined that the above-described property meets the relationship and 
benefits requirements of Chapter 386.3(1)(c) of the Act.  Specifically, the District is to be 
comprised of property related in some manner, including but not limited to present or potential 
use, physical location, condition, relationship to an area, or relationship to present or potential 
commercial or other activity in an area, so as to be benefited in any manner, including but not 
limited to a benefit from present or potential use of enjoyment of the property, by the condition, 
development or maintenance of the district or of any improvement or self-liquidating 
improvement of the district, or be comprised of property the owners of which have a present or 
potential benefit from the condition, development or maintenance of the district or of any 
improvement or self-liquidating improvement of the district. 
 
Section 2-1088.  Funding; purpose. 
 

The purpose for the creation of the District and the imposition of a tax thereunder is to 
provide funding for the administrative expenses of the District to pay for the services of the 
College Hill Partnership, which develops and encourages retail businesses by way of promotion, 
development, growth, and organization, and which shall serve as an operation tax.  
Administrative expenses include, but are not limited to, administrative personnel salaries, a 
separate administrative office, planning costs including consultation fees, engineering fees, 
architectural fees, legal fees, and all other expenses reasonably associated with the 
administration of the District and the fulfilling of the purposes of the District.  Parcels of property 
which are assessed as residential property for property tax purposes are exempt from the tax 
levied, except residential properties within a duly designated historic district.  
 
Section 2-1089.  Tax levies. 
 

(a) The City is hereby authorized to levy taxes pursuant to Section 386.8 of the Act for 
operations.   

  
(b) The maximum rate of tax to be imposed upon property in the District for operations 

shall be two dollars and seventy-five cents ($2.75) per thousand dollars ($1,000.00) 
of net taxable valuation per year, commencing with the levy for tax collection in the 
fiscal year beginning July 1, 2020, and continuing through fiscal year ending June 
30, 2025.  All monies collected pursuant thereto shall be deposited into the College 
Hill Self Supported Municipal Improvements District Fund, for the purposes outlined 
herein. 

 

407

ITEM 11.



 4 

Section 2-1090.  Copies on file. 
 
 The City Clerk shall cause a copy of the ordinance codified in this article to be filed in the 
Office of the Black Hawk County Recorder and in the Office of the Black Hawk County 
Treasurer. 
 
INTRODUCED:    December 16, 2019    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:  December 16, 2019    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:  January 6, 2020    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:      
 
ADOPTED:         
 
 
 
        _____________________________ 
        Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

408

ITEM 11.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2961 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 26-118,  

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES OF DIVISION I GENERALLY  

OF ARTICLE III DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX (26) 

ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RE-ENACTING 

SAID SECTION 26-118 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 

AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE THE  

CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF  

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS 

ORDINANCE (Case #RZ19-006) 

 

WHEREAS, the owner of property located at 4911 University Avenue in Cedar Falls, 

Iowa has requested a rezoning from R-1 to C-1; and 

  

  WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan indicates that this property is appropriate for office 

and business park uses; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Owner does not currently have any specific plans to redevelop the subject 

property and therefore does not have a detailed development site plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the subject property directly abuts a low density residential neighborhood; 

and  

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has determined that, with appropriate 

conditions with regard to building design, signage, building and parking setbacks, outdoor 

lighting, and open space buffering and landscape screening, the requested zoning would ensure 

an appropriate transition to the low density residential neighborhood and would be consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has determined that since a detailed 

site plan has not be submitted at this time, if the property were to be developed according to the 

minimum site development standards that apply in the Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial 

409

ITEM 12.



(MPC) District, an appropriate transition between the commercial properties and the residential 

neighborhood could be established; and  

 

  WHEREAS, Iowa Code Section 414.5 provides that as a part of an ordinance changing 

land from one zoning district to another zoning district, a city council may impose conditions on a 

property owner which are in addition to existing regulations, if the additional conditions have been 

agreed to in writing by the property owner before the public hearing required by Iowa Code 

Section 414.5, or any adjournment of the hearing, and if the conditions are reasonable, and are 

imposed to satisfy public needs which are directly caused by the requested change; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the owner of the property to be rezoned has agreed that the property shall be 

developed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Conditional Zoning Agreement, 

attached hereto, to ensure appropriate development in this area of the city; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, finds that, as a condition of 

the approval of the rezoning request, certain conditions must be imposed on the property owner 

and on the property which the City Council finds are reasonable and necessary in order to satisfy 

public needs which would be directly caused by the rezoning of the property as described herein; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning, subject however, to the conditional zoning 

agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

LOT NO. 3 IN THIRD ADDITION TO ORCHARD HILL PLAT IN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, EXCEPT THOSE PARTS THEREOF 

CONVEYED TO THE STATE OF IOWA BY DEEDS RECORDED IN 306 TLD 473 AND 

499 DEED 343 AND ALSO THAT PART DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; BEGINNING AT 

THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT NO. 3; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG 

THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE TO THE  SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT NO. 3; 

THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT NO. 3 A DISTANCE OF 32 

FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ON A DIRECT LINE 83.3 FEET MORE OR LESS TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

410

ITEM 12.



 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the R-1 Residential District and added to the C-1 

Commercial District, subject, however, to the conditions set forth in the conditional zoning 

agreement attached hereto, and by this reference incorporated herein as fully as though set out 

word for word in this ordinance, which conditions are hereby imposed upon the property owner, 

his successors and assigns, and upon the above-described real estate, and shall run with the land. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 

hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the C-1 

Commercial District, subject to a conditional zoning agreement, and the amended map is hereby 

ordained to be the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby re-

enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and 

include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 
INTRODUCED:    January 6, 2020    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  January 6, 2020    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

411

ITEM 12.



1 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

ORDINANCE NO. 2962 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF 

ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR 

VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN 

LIEU THEREOF NEW SECTIONS WITH THE SAME NUMERICAL DESIGNATIONS AND TITLES:  SECTION 

23-359, IMPOUNDMENT OR IMMOBILIZATION OF VEHICLES; SECTION 23-373, PARKING 

PROHIBITED ON CITY PROPERTY LOCATED ADJACENT TO CITY HALL AND CITY HALL ANNEX; 

SECTION 23-379, LIMITED PARKING ON SPECIFIC STREETS; AND (2) REPEALING SECTION 23-381, 

ANGLE PARKING SPACES, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND 

PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; AND (3) REPEALING DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, 

EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STANDING, STOPPING AND PARKING, 

OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT 

DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, CONSISTING OF SECTION 23-407, 

DEFINITIONS, SECTION 23-408, RIGHTS RESERVED BY THE CITY, SECTION 23-409, SUPERVISION OF 

PARKING OPERATIONS, SECTION 23-410, USE OF PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICT FOR LOADING 

AND UNLOADING, SECTION 23-411, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS DESCRIBED, SECTION 23-

412, DROP OFF/PICK UP ZONES ON SPECIFIC STREETS IN A PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICT, 

SECTION 23-413, PARKING TIME LIMITS IN PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, SECTION 23-414, 

USE OF FUNDS COLLECTED FROM PARKING OPERATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT, SECTION 23-415, 

PARKING VIOLATIONS, SECTION 23-416, NOTICE OF PARKING VIOLATION, SECTION 23-417, 

REPORT OF PARKING VIOLATIONS, SECTION 23-418, PARKING PERMITS FOR MUNICIPAL LOTS OR 

PARKING FACILITIES, SECTION 23-419, TWO-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN CERTAIN PARKING 

SPACES ON CERTAIN STREETS, SECTION 23-420, THREE-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN CERTAIN 

PARKING SPACES ON CERTAIN STREETS, SECTION 23-421, ONE-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN 

CERTAIN PARKING SPACES, AND SECTION 23-422, PARKING PROHIBITED IN PORTIONS OF THE 22ND 

STREET WEST MUNICIPAL PARKING LOT DURING CERTAIN HOURS; AND (4) CONFORMING TITLES 

TO SUBSECTIONS, SECTIONS, DIVISIONS, AND ARTICLES ACCORDINGLY.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

412

ITEM 13.



2 
 

         Section 1.  Section 23-359, Impoundment or Immobilization of Vehicles, Section 23-373, Parking 

Prohibited on City Property Located Adjacent to City Hall and City Hall Annex, and Section 23-379, 

Limited Parking on Specific Streets, all of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and 

Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety and New Section 23-359, Impoundment or 

Immobilization of Vehicles, New Section 23-373, Parking Prohibited on City Property Located 

Adjacent to City Hall and City Hall Annex, and New Section 23-379, Limited Parking on Specific 

Streets, are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-359. - Impoundment or immobilization of vehicles.  

(a)  Impoundment of vehicles. Parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to impound, that 
is, to remove, or have removed, a vehicle from a street, public alley, bridge, highway, municipally 
owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, or in the event of a violation of section 
23-387, from private property, to a place of safety designated by the city whenever any such 
vehicle is parked in violation of this article.  

(b)  Immobilization of vehicles. As an alternative to impoundment under subsection (a) of this section, 
parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to immobilize a vehicle on a street, public 
alley, bridge, highway, municipally owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, or in 
the event of a violation of section 23-387, on private property, whenever any such vehicle is parked 
in violation of this article.  

(c)  Payment. In addition to the penalty provided in this chapter, the owner or operator of any vehicle 
impounded or immobilized for violation of any of the provisions of this article shall be required to 
pay for all outstanding penalties, fines and fees owed for all parking citations, plus either all towing, 
storage and impoundment fees, or all immobilization fees, together with all administrative fees.  

(d)  Impoundment or immobilization for accumulated parking violations.  

(1)  Whenever it is determined that any vehicle has accumulated unpaid parking violations with 
fines totaling $30.00 or more, as defined in this Code, then, until such time as all fines for such 
accumulated parking violations have been paid, such vehicle may be either impounded, or, in 
the alternative, immobilized by installing a device which clamps and locks onto the wheel and 
impedes vehicle movement, subject to the following conditions:  

a.  Impoundment or immobilization shall occur only after notice and opportunity for an 
administrative hearing is sent to the last known registered owner of such motor vehicle.  

b.  Notice shall consist of the following: Written notification by first class mail to the last 
known address of the registered owner, stating the license number of the vehicle; the 
owner's name; and a brief description of the parking tickets issued to such vehicle. Said 
notice shall also state that the registered owner has the right to request an administrative 
hearing before impoundment or immobilization, if such request is made within ten days 
of the date of mailing of the notice; that the hearing shall determine the merits of 
whether to impound or immobilize such motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations; that 
failure to request a hearing in a timely manner, or failure to appear at such hearing, shall 
constitute a waiver of the right to a hearing; and that the owner shall be responsible for 
all charges and costs incurred in impounding or immobilizing such vehicle.  

413

ITEM 13.



3 
 

c.  A request for an administrative hearing must be made in writing to the city clerk or the 
city clerk's designee. The request shall be reviewed to determine whether to impound or 
immobilize, as the case may be, the motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations.  

d.  The hearing shall be conducted before the police chief of the city or the police chief's 
designee, and shall be limited to a determination of whether such vehicle should be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, for unpaid parking tickets. The owner 
may at that time pay for all outstanding fines for parking tickets.  

e.  Should the police chief or the police chief's designee determine that the vehicle shall be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, said police chief or designee shall notify 
the owner, either orally at the conclusion of the hearing or by letter; however, no such 
notice need be given should the owner or a designated representative of the owner fail to 
appear at such hearing.  

f.  After the vehicle has been impounded or immobilized, the city shall notify the last known 
registered owner of such vehicle thereof, by certified mail if the name and address of 
such owner can be ascertained with reasonable diligence, unless the owner or operator 
has appeared and has made claim to the seized vehicle.  

(2)  Any vehicle that remains immobilized for a consecutive period of 48 hours or more, shall be 
subject to towing and impoundment as provided in this section.  

(3)  Any vehicle that is immobilized pursuant to this section shall not be issued any parking 
citations for the period during which the vehicle remains immobilized.  

(4)  It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or attempt to remove an immobilization device 
which has been attached to any vehicle as provided in this section, to damage the device, or to 
move the vehicle with the device attached. No person other than a member of the police 
operations division, a parking meter attendant, or their designees, shall remove the 
immobilization device.  

(5)  No vehicle shall be impounded by towing or immobilized, unless such vehicle is on a public 
street or other publicly owned or leased property, or in the event of a violation of section 23-
387, is on private property.  

a.  Entrance into impounded or immobilized vehicles. If it is necessary to enter a locked or 
unlocked vehicle in order to impound or immobilize such vehicle, such entrance must be 
made in the presence of a police officer. The police officer shall conduct such search of 
such vehicle as said officer deems necessary to protect the contents thereof. However, 
such search need not be a complete inventory of the contents of the vehicle.  

b.  Release of impounded or immobilized vehicles.  

1.  The registered owner or operator may reclaim any vehicle impounded or 
immobilized pursuant to the provisions herein by appearing before the police chief 
or the police chief's designee. At such time, the owner or the operator shall sign a 
certificate that he is the registered owner or operator of the impounded or 
immobilized vehicle, and at that time shall pay for all outstanding parking tickets, 
together with all costs of towing, storage and impoundment, or of immobilization, as 
the case may be. All charges and costs incurred in impounding the vehicle will be 
paid by the registered owner or operator to the towing service.  

414

ITEM 13.



4 
 

2.  It shall be unlawful for any person to reclaim any vehicle impounded or immobilized 
pursuant to the provisions herein, contrary to the procedure set forth in this section.  

(e)  Charges. The charges for impoundment and immobilization shall be established by resolution 
adopted by the city council from time to time.  

(f)  Penalty for violations. Any violation of the provisions of this section shall constitute a municipal 
infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

 

Sec. 23-373. - Parking prohibited on city property located adjacent to city hall and city hall annex.  

(1) No person shall stand or park a vehicle, except a vehicle authorized by the city, in the 
municipally owned area lying adjacent to the city hall and city hall annex, such area being  
described as follows: Lots 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, all in block 9 in the Original  Plat of the city.  

(2) Exemption. The city may at its discretion designate certain parking spaces within this area as 

public parking spaces and identify those spaces by posting applicable signs. 

 

Sec. 23-379. - Limited parking on specific streets.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the following streets 
or portions of streets for a period longer than the time limit specified in this section.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Third 

Street 

(West)  

On the south side, beginning at a point 35 feet west of the west curb line of Franklin Street, 

then west 20 feet to the west curb line of Franklin Street, parking shall be marked off into 

stalls and shall be limited to a 30-minute period.  

Clay Street  

On the east side, from the south line of West Second Street to a point 147 feet south of the 

south line of West Second Street, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and parking 

shall be limited to a 30-minute period.  

 
On the east side from the intersection of Clay Street and West 3rd Street a distance of 102 

feet north, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and limited to a 30-minute period.  

 

Section 2.     Section 23-381, Angle Parking Spaces, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, 

Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety. 

 

415

ITEM 13.



5 
 

Section 3.     Division 2, Parking Enforcement Districts, Equipment, Operations and Facilities, of 

Article IV, Standing, Stopping and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of The Code 

of Ordinances of The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Division 

2 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:   

 

CHAPTER 23 – TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES 

ARTICLE IV. - STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING[3]  

DIVISION 2. - PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES 

Sec. 23-407. - Definitions.  

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Municipal parking lot means any parking area, not including streets or highways, designated as a 
public parking lot.  

Operator means every individual who operates a vehicle as the owner thereof, or as the agent, 
employee or permittee of the owner, or who is in actual physical control of a vehicle.  

Park or parking means the standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, upon a street or 
municipal parking lot, other than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in receiving 
or discharging passengers or loading or unloading merchandise, or in obedience to traffic regulations, 
signs or signals, and other than an involuntary stopping of a vehicle by reason of causes beyond the 
control of the operator of such vehicle.  

Parking enforcement district means a defined district comprised of restricted street parking and 
regulated municipal parking lots and facilities where parking is enforced.  

Parking meter/pay station means any mechanical device or meter not inconsistent with this 
division that is placed or erected for the regulation of parking by authority of this division. Parking 
meters/pay stations installed shall indicate the legal parking time and pay for parking rate established by 
the city, and at the expiration of such period shall indicate illegal or overtime parking.  

Parking space means any space within a parking enforcement district, which is duly designated for 
the parking of a single vehicle by lines painted or otherwise durably marked on the curb or on the 
surface of the street or municipal parking lot.  

Person means any individual, firm, copartnership, association or corporation.  

Street means any public street, avenue, road, alley, highway, lane, path or other public place 
located in the city and established for the use of vehicles.  

Vehicle means any device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may be transported 
upon a highway, except a device which is operated upon rails or tracks.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-408. - Rights reserved by city.  

416

ITEM 13.



6 
 

Nothing contained in this division shall be construed as prohibiting the city from providing for bus 
stops and for other matters of a similar nature, including the loading or unloading of trucks, vans or 
other commercial vehicles.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-409. - Supervision of parking operations.  

The council shall be responsible for the regulation, control, operation, maintenance and use of 
parking operations in the city.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-410. - Use of parking enforcement district for loading and unloading.  

Commercial trucks may park on the street or in municipal parking lots in parking enforcement 
districts to load and unload merchandise where no facilities are available to load or unload in alleys or 
loading/unloading zones. Such parking shall not exceed 15 minutes, and parking beyond such time limit 
shall be considered a violation of this division.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-411. - Parking enforcement districts described.  

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, shall 
constitute a parking enforcement district.  

(1)  Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 26-189, 
Central Business District (CBD) overlay zoning district.  

(2)  College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 26-181, 
College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-412. - Drop off/pick up zones on specific streets in a parking enforcement district.  

The streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section, when properly signposted, are hereby 
declared to be drop off/pick up zones. No vehicle shall park or stand in a drop off/pick up zone other 
than while actually engaged in the loading or unloading of passengers or materials. In no event shall any 
vehicle be parked or stand in a drop off/pick up zone for more than 15 minutes.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Second Street 

(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 55 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

65 feet east of the Main Street line.  

417

ITEM 13.



7 
 

Second Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 30 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

40 feet west of the Main Street line.  

Third Street 

(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 35 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

55 feet east of the Main Street line.  

Third Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 65 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

75 feet west of the Main Street line.  

 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 20 feet west of the Washington Street line to a 

point 40 feet west of the Washington Street line.  

Fourth Street 

(East)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

70 feet east of the Main Street line.  

Fourth Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 40 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

50 feet west of the Main Street line.  

Fifth Street 

(West)  

Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

70 feet west of the Main Street line.  

Sixth Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side from the east line of Clay Street to the east 

150 feet to the west line of the Alley.  

Clay Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the east side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a 

point 120 feet north of the north Sixth Street line.  

 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a 

point 120 feet north of the north Sixth Street line.  

Main Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 25 feet south of the south line of First Street to 

a point 90 feet south of the south line of First Street.  

State Street  
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side from a point 20 feet south of the south line of 

Second Street to 40 feet south of the south line of Second Street.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-413. - Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts.  

(a)  Generally. 

418

ITEM 13.



8 
 

(1) Unrestricted parking is allowed in a municipal lot unless a sign is posted by the City advising that 
the lot is a paid parking lot. If posted as a paid parking lot, parking is prohibited unless an 
appropriate city issued permit is purchased, or unless legal parking time is purchased by means of a 
parking meter, pay station or mobile application. 

 (2) Except as otherwise provided in this division, unrestricted parking is allowed on a public street 
in a parking enforcement district unless a sign is posted by the City advising that a parking space is a 
paid parking space.  If posted as a paid parking space, parking is prohibited unless legal parking time 
is purchased by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(3) Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution of the 
city council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates. 

(4) The schedule of fines for violations of this division shall be in the same amount as stated in 
section 23-356.  

(b)  Enforcement times – Downtown parking enforcement district. 

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid parking space 

shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday through 

Saturday.  The provisions of this subsection shall not apply on the following named holidays:  New 

Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 

(c)  Enforcement times -- College Hill parking enforcement district.  

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid parking space 
shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday through 
Friday. The provisions of this section shall not apply on the following named holidays: New Year's 
Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019)  

Sec. 23-414. - Use of funds collected from parking operations and enforcement.  

(a)  Funds derived from the operation and enforcement of parking shall be used for the following 
purposes and none other:  

(1) Payment of the cost of acquisition, installation, maintenance, repair and operation of 
equipment, signs and other devices to regulate and enforce parking laws.  

(2)  Payment of the cost of acquiring, by purchase, lease or similar arrangement, parking lots, 
facilities or other off-street parking areas, including operation, enlargement or improvement 
thereof or the facilities thereof, and widening or altering the streets to provide additional 
parking facilities.  

(3)  Retirement of revenue bonds.  

(b)  All revenues derived from parking enforcement operations not required for the payment of costs 
under subsection (a) of this section shall be expended for the improvement of existing facilities or 
the acquisition and improvement of additional off-street parking areas, provided that such funds 
may be retained and accumulated for such purpose for such length of time and in such amount as 

419

ITEM 13.



9 
 

may be reasonably necessary to effectuate such program of acquisition of parking lots or other off-
street parking areas.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-415. - Parking violations.  

It shall be unlawful and a violation of the provisions of this division for any person to:  

(1)  Cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle registered in the name of or operated by such 
person to be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time established or 
purchased.  

(2)  Permit any vehicle to remain or be placed in a parking space beyond the period prescribed for 
such parking space.  Moving a vehicle to another parking space within the same hundred block 
of the same street that results in total cumulative parking time beyond the period prescribed 
for such parking space, shall be a violation. 

(3)  Park any vehicle across any line or marking of a parking space or in such position that the 
vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or markings. Where angle or 
straight-in parking is provided, a vehicle must be parked entirely between the lines or 
markings with one of the front wheels of the vehicle touching the bumper block or curb, if one 
exists.  

(4)  Deface, injure, tamper with, open or willfully break, destroy or impair the usefulness of any 
parking equipment or device installed under the provisions of this division. Violation of this 
provision shall be considered a simple misdemeanor as provided for in section 23-23.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-416. - Notice of parking violation.  

Parking enforcement personnel of the city shall attach to the vehicles in violation of this division a 
notice to the owner or operator thereof stating that such vehicle has been parked in violation of this 
division and informing the owner or operator of the amount of the fine, how the fine may be paid, and 
the penalty for failure to pay the fine.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-417. - Report of parking violations.  

It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement personnel of the city, acting in accordance with 
instructions issued by the city clerk and as approved by the council, to report the following:  

(1)  The location of the vehicle that is or has been parking in violation of any of the provisions of 
this division.  

(2)  The state license number of such vehicle.  

(3)  The time during which such vehicle is parking in violation of any of the provisions of this 
division.  

420

ITEM 13.



10 
 

(4)  Any other facts which are necessary to a thorough understanding of the circumstances 
attending such violation.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019

Sec. 23-418. - Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities.  

Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for use in the off-
street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be assigned to a specific parking lot or 
facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees shall be established from time to time by resolution of 
the city council. The parking permit is to be displayed in the lower left-hand corner of the windshield of 
the vehicle unless the owner or operator of the vehicle has properly registered the license plate of the 
vehicle with the parking enforcement agency designated by the city. The purchase and proper 
display/registration of a parking permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to 
be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 
consecutive hours without penalty for overtime parking.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-419. - Two-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets.  

(a)  Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated 
parking space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
8:00 p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following streets or portions of streets within the city:  

(a) Main Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(2) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally 
parked  as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.   

  

(b)  College Hill parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated 
parking space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
6:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets 
or portions of streets within the city:  

(a)  College Street from 20th Street to 22nd Street  

(b)  23rd Street from that portion of said street adjacent to 1019 West 23rd Street west to 
Merner   Avenue. 

(c)  Anywhere within the 22nd Street East - North and 20th Street East - Plaza municipal parking 
lots. 

421

ITEM 13.



11 
 

(2) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally 
parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.    

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-420. - Three-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets.  

Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of three hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 
p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets 
or portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  Second Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(2)  Third Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(3)  Fourth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(4)  Fifth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(6)  State Street from Second Street to Fourth Street.  

(7)  Washington Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(8)  Sixth Street from Washington Street west to the alley between Clay Street and Washington 
Street.  

(b)  Each consecutive three-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked  
as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.   

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

Sec. 23-421. - One-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces. 

College Hill parking enforcement district. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each vehicle between the hours of 9:00 
a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  23rd Street from College Street west to and including that portion of West 23rd Street 
adjacent to 1009 West 23rd Street.  

(2)  College Street from 22nd Street to 23rd Street.  

(3)  Within the 23rd Street East municipal parking lot. 

(b)  Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked as 
provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.   

422

ITEM 13.



12 
 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019)   

Sec. 23-422. - Parking prohibited in portions of the 22nd Street West municipal parking lot during certain 

hours.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle shall be prohibited in 
the 20 angled parking spaces located in the northeast leg of the 22nd Street West municipal parking lot 
on Thursday afternoons only commencing with the first Thursday of June of each year and continuing 
through the last Thursday of October of each year during the hours of 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.  

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

 

Secs. 23-423—23-458. – Reserved 

 

INTRODUCED:     January 6, 2020   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   January 6, 2020   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

423

ITEM 13.



424

ITEM 14.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

January 6, 2020 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 5:00 p.m. on January 6, 
2020, with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green, 
Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and Dave Sires. 
Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Kristine Stone from Ahlers & 
Cooney, Mark Little from MET Transit, Codie Leseman from INRCOG, and Planning 
and Zoning Commission members attended, as well as members of the community. 

Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
Capital Improvements Program (CIP).  Jennifer Rodenbeck Director of Finance and 
Business Operations stated the CIP is a planning document and does not authorize 
funding of the project.  She stated there are 217 projects totaling over $307 million.  She 
stated the document incorporates council goals and includes both infrastructure as well 
as quality of life projects.  She also noted that the CIP was developed to maintain an 
even effect on tax rates. Ms. Rodenbeck then reviewed various projects and the timing 
of them.  She stated there are 14 Stormwater projects totaling $3.6 million and 19 
Sewer project totaling $76 million.  She stated the City continue’s to have a low use of 
the debit capacity, between 9-10%.  Mayor Green opened it for comment from the 
Council.  There were no comments.  Ms. Rodenbeck stated the formal Public Hearing 
will be set for January 20, 2020. 

Mayor Green moved on to the second item on the agenda Conflict of Interest/Ex Parte 
Communications/Roles of Elected Officials. Kevin Rogers City Attorney introduced 
Kristine Stone from Ahlers and Cooney.  Ms. Stone reviewed a PowerPoint presentation 
regarding the City of Cedar Falls governance structure; elected Mayor and City Council 
and appointed City Administrator; and each body’s roles. Ms. Stone stated a council 
member is a member of a governing body and should make decisions as a whole not 
individually.  She stated State Law and City Code help guide elected officials and City 
Staff. She stated the Mayor is the Chief Executive Officer, Council will develop broad 
goals and City Administrator is the Chief Administrative Officer.    

Ms. Stone reviewed the definition of conflict of interest.    She explained per city policy 
an annual declaration of compliance is required and she said when in doubt the 
potential conflict should be disclosed and do not take action on the matter.  Ms. Stone 
stated the potential conflict of interest does not have to be financial in nature. She 
reviewed Iowa Code Chapter 362 and Chapter 68B. A brief discussion was held. 

Ms. Stone reviewed ex parte communication and stated it is due process, which 
requires fundamental fairness in a judicial proceeding guaranteed by the United States 
and Iowa Constitutions.  She stated due process applies in situations where a city 
council is performing a quasi-judicial function, such as proceedings of a public hearing, 
some rezoning matters, license revocations, nuisance abatement and any and all 
appeals.  Ms. Stone stated ex parte communications can lead to one party being heard 
more than the other or lead to a partial decision maker.   She stated the council should 
be impartial decision makers giving equal time to both parties at the council meetings. 
She reviewed a list of prohibited communications. Ms. Stone stated an open meeting is 

425

ITEM 15.



the preferred method for a meeting, this allows the public to be present.  The meeting 
should have a majority of the members present, acting on the matter at hand.  She 
reviewed the open meeting requirements.  Ms. Stone than reviewed the 12 possible 
reasons for a closed session.  She stated there must be a 2/3’s vote of the council to go 
to a closed session. City Attorney Rogers stated a copy of the PowerPoint is available.  
There was a brief discussion. 

Mayor Green continued to item three on the agenda, Bus Route Restructuring.  Mark 
Little MET Transit General Manager stated the Metropolitan Transit Authority has a nine 
member board of trustees, five from Waterloo and four from Cedar Falls.  He explained 
they have proposed a 3% increase for FY2021 funding, this is due to fuels costs and 
personnel costs.  He stated there were 375,000 riders on the regular route, 60,000 
riders on the para transit route and approximately 20,000 riders specifically on the 
Cedar Falls route. Codie Leseman Transportation Planner with INRCOG, reviewed a 
PowerPoint on the bus route restructuring.  He stated public transportation is available 
to those individuals with no other option for transportation and helps individuals escape 
poverty.  He stated all the businesses are equipped to handle handicapped/wheelchair 
bond individuals.  He compared the cost of a bus pass, $608/year, to that of owning a 5-
year old car, $5,265/year.  He stated the bus is a reliable form of transportation 
compared to Uber/Lyft, which may be unpredictable with few drivers certain times of the 
day. Mr. Leseman reviewed the current Bus 9 and 11 Routes which are loop routes, 
only traveling in one direction.  He stated all other routes are shared with Waterloo.  He 
reviewed a bus trip example; the rider will have a 10 minute trip to the library, but will 
have a 50 minute trip back home.  He reviewed a draft plan for a two directional route, 
which will cut travel time of the previous example to eight minutes to the library and 
eight minutes home.  Mayor Green opened it up for discussion.  Mr. Little stated the 
current rate is $1.50/ride which is comparable statewide.  He stated there may be a 
trade off in adding a two direction bus service with some routes being altered or 
eliminated.  He said they will market to where the riders are.  Stephanie Sheetz Director 
of Community Development stated increased cost, public outreach and driver’s survey 
are being reviewed.  She stated the increase is $150,000/year and is a significant 
increase and they are still gathering information to make an assessment.  Mr. Little 
stated they have implemented smaller buses due to the number of riders, allowing a 
small cost savings.  Jennifer Rodenbeck Director of Finance and Business Operations 
stated the current budget for MET Transit is approximately $400,000/year and in order 
to pay for the additional $150,000, there would need to be an increase to the property 
tax MET Transit Levy.      

Mayor Green introduced the final item on the agenda, bills and two payrolls. Daryl Kruse 
moved to approve the bills and two payrolls as presented, and Frank Darrah seconded 
the motion.  The motion carried unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Daryl Kruse motioned to adjourn, and Mark Miller 
seconded the motion.  Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:36 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

426

ITEM 15.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Assistant Police Chief 

Date:  January 16, 2020 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Asian Fusion Vietnamese and Thai Cuisine, 5725 University Avenue, Special 
Class C liquor - renewal. 

b) Fraternal Order of Eagles, 2125 West Lone Tree Road, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 

c) Sakura Japanese Steakhouse & Sushi Bar, 5719 University Avenue, Class C 
liquor - renewal. 

d) Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 

427

ITEM 16.



428

ITEM 17.



429

ITEM 17.



430

ITEM 17.



431

ITEM 17.



432

ITEM 17.



433

ITEM 17.



434

ITEM 17.



435

ITEM 17.



436

ITEM 17.



437

ITEM 17.



438

ITEM 17.



439

ITEM 17.



440

ITEM 17.



441

ITEM 17.



442

ITEM 17.



443

ITEM 18.



444

ITEM 18.



445

ITEM 18.



446

ITEM 18.



447

ITEM 18.



448

ITEM 18.



449

ITEM 18.



450

ITEM 18.



451

ITEM 18.



452

ITEM 18.



453

ITEM 18.



454

ITEM 18.



455

ITEM 18.



456

ITEM 19.



457

ITEM 19.



458

ITEM 19.



459

ITEM 19.



460

ITEM 19.



461

ITEM 19.



462

ITEM 19.



463

ITEM 19.



464

ITEM 19.



465

ITEM 19.



466

ITEM 19.



467

ITEM 19.



468

ITEM 19.



469

ITEM 19.



470

ITEM 19.



471

ITEM 19.



472

ITEM 20.



473

ITEM 20.



474

ITEM 20.



475

ITEM 20.



476

ITEM 20.



477

ITEM 20.



478

ITEM 20.



479

ITEM 20.



480

ITEM 20.



481

ITEM 20.



482

ITEM 20.



483

ITEM 20.



484

ITEM 20.



485

ITEM 20.



486

ITEM 20.



487

ITEM 21.



488

ITEM 21.



489

ITEM 21.



490

ITEM 21.



491

ITEM 21.



492

ITEM 21.



493

ITEM 21.



494

ITEM 21.



495

ITEM 21.



496

ITEM 21.



497

ITEM 21.



498

ITEM 21.



499

ITEM 22.



500

ITEM 22.



501

ITEM 22.



502

ITEM 22.



503

ITEM 22.



504

ITEM 22.



505

ITEM 22.



506

ITEM 22.



507

ITEM 22.



508

ITEM 22.



509

ITEM 22.



510

ITEM 22.



511

ITEM 22.



512

ITEM 22.



513

ITEM 22.



514

ITEM 22.



515

ITEM 22.



516

ITEM 22.



517

ITEM 22.



518

ITEM 22.



519

ITEM 22.



520

ITEM 22.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

  

 
 
 

 

 TO: The Honorable Robert Green and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Heather Skeens, Cultural Programs Supervisor 

 DATE: January 10, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Public Art at City Hall – Contract with Sculptor Gillian Christy 

 
Summary:  The Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board and city staff have reviewed the attached 
contract with artist Gillian Christy for the design and fabrication of a sculpture to be installed at 
the west side of City Hall, at 220 Clay Street, near the main entrance. Prepared by Heather 
Skeens, reviewed by Stephanie Sheetz and Kevin Rogers, and signed by the artist, the board 
respectfully requests that the City Council consider the contract for approval and payment. 
 
Financial Considerations:  The budget for the project is as follows: 
Site work at City Hall  $2,000.00 
Artwork   $20,000.00 
 
The City will complete the site work and foundation for the artwork. Electricity is available at 
the site and the City will provide uplighting. Site work will be funded through the Public Works 
budget. In order to complete the project, the Eternal Flame in front of City Hall will be 
relocated. In October of 2018, Mark Ripplinger worked with Michael Butler at VFW Post 3896 to 
gain permission to move the Eternal Flame to Veteran’s Park, where it was agreed the sculpture 
would gain increased visibility. 
 
Funding toward the new artwork for City Hall has been successfully raised. The Cedar Falls 
Public Art Committee (PAC) actively fundraised through their Cedar Falls Community 
Foundation account, receiving a large donation from the Crews family and additional donations 
from the community. The Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board approved $5,000 of board funds to 
support the project in July 2019, and PAC will contribute $2000.00. The remaining $13,000 was 
raised through private donations at the Community Foundation, including $1000 from the 
Cedar Falls Rotary. 
 
Selection Process: A subcommittee of PAC worked closely with the Crews family to write the 
RFP for the project. This committee consisted of PAC members Kristina Mehmen, Dan Perry, 
Ronelle Crews and the late Barbara Brown. The committee sent a request for proposals to 

521

ITEM 23.



regional artists for the commission of a work of art. Seven artists responded and two were 
asked to submit additional materials, including consideration of an application of color, prior to 
a final review by PAC. 
 
The Art and Culture Board recommends City Council approve the contract with Ms. Christy. If 
you have any questions or comments, please feel free to contact me. 
 
CC: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

Kim Manning, Visitors and Tourism Bureau/Cultural Programs Manager 
 

 

522

ITEM 23.



AGREEMENT BETWEEN SCULPTOR AND CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this 5th day of December, 2019, by 
and between Gillian Christy, whose mailing address for purposes of this Agreement is 11 
Humphreys Street, Boston, Massachusetts, 02125 (hereinafter referred to as the "Sculptor") and 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, whose mailing address for purposes of this Agreement is c/o City 
Clerk, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (hereinafter referred to as the "Owner"). 
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, Owner desires to have a public sculpture completed, to be displayed on its 
property at the prepared sculpture site on the west side of City Hall, at 220 Clay Street,  in Cedar 
Falls, Iowa (hereinafter referred to as the “Site”): and 
 
 WHEREAS, Sculptor has prepared a description of the sculpture and an artist's plan and 
has delivered the same to Owner; and  
 

WHEREAS, Sculptor has prepared plans and specifications for the sculpture’s 
foundation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Owner has approved said description of sculpture and artist's sketch and the 
plans and specifications for the foundation, and desires to commission the sculpture; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the parties have reached agreement on this matter and desire to reduce their 
agreement to writing. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION OF THE MUTUAL COVENANTS 
HEREINAFTER SET FORTH, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 
  

1. Scope of Work.   
 

(a) The Sculptor shall produce, deliver and install at Sculptor’s sole 
cost and sole risk a sculpture (hereinafter referred to as the "Art Work") as 
described in the Sculptor's description of sculpture, plan sketch and model, 
attached hereto and marked Exhibit "A."  The parties agree that the Art Work 
shall consist generally of stainless steel, at approximately 9’h x 8’ w x 45”d, 
and will be delivered as portrayed in the attached renderings. The exact 
location of the Art Work will be determined by Department Director with 
consideration of ongoing site planning and City Hall renovations; final 
placement will be near the building entry on the western-facing façade of City 
Hall. 

 
(b) The Owner shall locate and produce at the Site the necessary 

foundation for the Art Work as described in the Sculptor’s plans and 

523

ITEM 23.



 2 

specifications for the foundation. At its option, the Owner shall produce 
lighting and landscaping at the Site.   

  
 
Owner shall perform the necessary work to complete the foundation as called for 
in the plans and specifications for the foundation, attached hereto as Exhibit “B”, 
within thirty (30) days prior to completion and delivery of the Art Work to the 
Site. Sculptor shall notify the Owner a reasonable amount of time in advance of 
when the Art Work will be delivered to the Site, so that Owner may arrange for 
the remaining foundation work to be performed in a timely manner. 

 
 2. Time Schedule.   

 
(a). Owner agrees that the Art Work installation is dependent on the     
            placement and fabrication of the foundation and that this requires the 

foundation to be completed at a reasonable time before the sculpture 
installation can be finalized.  

(b.) Sculptor agrees that the Art Work to be produced pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement shall be commenced upon receipt of the first payment as 
set forth in Paragraph 4 of this Agreement, and shall be delivered to and 
installed at the Site no later than June 15, 2020. 

  
3. Delay in Time Schedule. The parties agree that if Sculptor is delayed at any time 

in the progress of producing the Art Work by an act or neglect of Owner, or by 
labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties, or other 
causes beyond Sculptor's control, or by other causes which Owner in its sole 
discretion determines may justify delay, then the time for performance under this 
Agreement shall be extended for such reasonable amount of time as Owner, after 
consultation with Sculptor, may determine in Owner's sole discretion.   Sculptor 
agrees that any claim of delay shall be communicated to Owner by written notice 
within ten (10) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to such claim of 
delay. 

 
4. Consequences of Delay in Time Schedule. Sculptor acknowledges that time is of 

the essence of this Agreement. The parties agree that if the Art Work is not 
delivered to and installed on the Site in accordance with the time schedule set 
forth in Paragraph 2 of this Agreement, then a penalty shall accrue based on the 
following schedule, with the amount of said penalty deducted from the 
consideration otherwise payable for the Art Work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

524

ITEM 23.



 3 

 
 
 
          
 

If Art Work is not Delivered to and Installed on 
the  Site by the Following Date: 

The Following Penalty (Stated as a Percentage 
of the Consideration) Shall Apply: 

 
July 15, 2020 
August 15, 2020 
September 15, 2020 

 
Ten (10) percent 
Fifteen (15) percent 
Twenty (20) percent 

  
  
  
  
The parties agree that if the Art Work is not delivered to and installed on the Site by October 15, 
2020, Owner shall be entitled to cancel this Agreement upon written notice to Sculptor, 
whereupon this Agreement shall be canceled, rescinded and terminated, and Sculptor shall be 
obligated to repay Owner all sums previously paid to Sculptor under the terms of this 
Agreement.. Owner shall thereupon have no further responsibility to Sculptor under this 
Agreement. 

 
The parties agree that any delay approved by the Owner pursuant to Paragraph 3 of this 

Agreement shall extend the above-described deadlines by a period equal to the length of the 
delay approved by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 3 of this Agreement. 
 

5. Acceptance and Approval of Art Work. Owner shall inspect and give written 
notice of approval or disapproval that the Art Work conforms to the design 
specified in this Agreement within fifteen (15) days after the Art Work is fully 
completed, delivered to and installed on the Site. If a written notice of approval or 
disapproval is not given to Sculptor within fifteen (15) days after completion and 
installation of the Art Work at the Site, then the Art Work shall be considered 
approved. Any notice of disapproval shall set forth the specific grounds thereof, 
and Sculptor shall then have a reasonable time, not to exceed thirty (30) days, to 
remedy Owner's objections and complete the Art Work, after which Sculptor shall 
give written notice of completion to Owner.  Owner shall then proceed to inspect 
the Art Work and give written notice of approval or disapproval that the Art Work 
conforms to the design specified in this Agreement within ten (10) days after 
receipt of written notice of completion from Sculptor. After Owner's second 
inspection of the Art Work, if Owner reasonably believes the Art Work fails to 
conform to the design specified in this Agreement, the parties shall attempt to 
resolve their differences, failing which either party may resort to legal action to 
resolve the dispute.  Owner is not responsible for for any damage, destruction, 
theft or other casualty to the Art Work prior to final acceptance by Owner. 

 

525

ITEM 23.



 4 

6. Consideration.  Owner agrees to pay Sculptor the total consideration of Twenty 
thousand Dollars ($20,000) for completion of the Art Work and all related 
expenses of producing the Art Work, including transportation and delivery to the 
Site, and installation as provided in Paragraph 1 of this Agreement. Said 
consideration shall be paid to Sculptor in the following installments: 

 
(a) Fifty percent (50%) of the consideration shall be paid to Sculptor no later 

than ten (10) days after the date of execution of this Agreement. 
 
(b) Fifty percent (50%) of the consideration shall be paid to Sculptor as final 

payment only upon delivery of the Art Work to the Site, final notice and 
approval thereof by Owner, and completion of installation of the Art Work 
at the Site. 

 
 7. General.   
 

(a) Sculptor’s Costs.  Sculptor shall be responsible for the following costs: 
 

(1) His or her own labor; 
 
(2) The cost of purchase of all materials. 
 
(3) The cost of fabrication; 
 
(4)        The costs of transporting all materials either to the Sculptor’s  
             studio or to the Site, or both; 
 
(5) The cost of labor and materials for installation of the Art Work at 

the Site, excluding the cost of labor, equipment, materials, and 
operation and rental of boom truck/crane to construct the 
foundation. 

 
(6) Insurance during construction and installation of the Art Work; and 
 
(7) All associated studio costs. 
 

(b) Owner’s Costs. Owner shall be responsible for the following costs: 
 

(1) Installation assistance once sculpture elements are at the Site; 
 
(2) Cost of operation and rental of boom truck/crane to construct the 

foundation; 
 

526

ITEM 23.



 5 

(3) The cost of labor and materials to construct the concrete 
foundation, and at the Owner’s option, the cost of lighting, and 
landscaping to accompany the Art Work at the Site. 

 
(c) Sculptor shall personally supervise the installation of the Art Work  

at the Site. 
 
(d) Upon final installation of the Art Work and final payment to Sculptor, the 

Art Work shall become the property of Owner. 
 

 8. Insurance and Indemnification. 
 

(a) Access to City Hall Grounds Granted to Sculptor; Insurance Requirements. 
 

 The City agrees that the Sculptor shall have access to City Hall Grounds at the 
site of placement of the artwork for installation. The City of Cedar Falls shall 
cause the Sculptor to furnish adequate insurance, workers’ compensation 
insurance, if applicable, and other insurance coverages and amounts protecting the 
City against liability to Sculptor or third parties in connection with any personal 
injury or property damage occurring on City-owned property while Sculptor is 
performing the installation, as follows: 

 
A. General Liability     $1,000,000 

Shall include Personal and Advertising Injury coverage 
 

i. Additional Insured 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and 
appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its 
boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees and volunteers 

ii. Waiver of Subrogation 
iii. Governmental Immunities Endorsement (see attached 

Exhibit “C”) 
 

B. Automobile    $1,000,000 
 

C. Standard Workers’ Compensation  
Employers Liability: 
 Each accident    $500,000 
 Each employee – Disease  $500,000 
 Policy Limit    $500,000 
 

If Sculptor is a sole proprietor without workers’ compensation insurance 
coverage, or does not qualify to carry such insurance coverage, Owner shall cause 
Sculptor to waive all rights of subrogation against the City with respect to any 

527

ITEM 23.



 6 

personal injury incurred by Sculptor arising out of the work performed at the site 
of installation while Sculptor is on city-owned property. 
 
(b) Indemnification of Owner. Sculptor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless the Owner against any and all liability, and to pay for any and all 
damages, losses, claims, or expenses incurred by Owner in connection 
with Sculptor's negligence or failure to fully perform Sculptor's 
obligations under the terms of this Agreement. This indemnification shall 
include indemnification of Owner for reasonable expenses of enforcing 
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees.  

 
 9. Reproduction Rights. 
 

(a) General. Sculptor retains all rights under the Copyright Act of 1976,  
17 United States Code Sections 101 et seq., and all other rights in and to 
the Art Work except ownership and possession of the Art Work, and 
except as such rights may be limited by this subparagraph. Because the 
Art Work in its final form shall be unique, Sculptor agrees not to make 
any additional duplicate reproductions of the Art Work, nor shall Sculptor 
grant permission to any third person or entity to do so, without the express 
written permission of Owner in advance. Sculptor grants to Owner, at no 
additional cost, an irrevocable license to make a sufficient number of two-
dimensional reproductions of the Art Work for educational purposes, 
including, but not limited to, reproductions used in advertising, calendars, 
posters, brochures, media, publicity, catalogs, and development projects, 
or other similar publications, provided that Owner's exercise of these 
rights is carried out in a professional and reasonable manner.  

 
(b) Notice. Owner agrees that all reproductions of the Art Work shall contain 

a credit to Sculptor and a copyright notice substantially in the following 
form:  "© Gillian Christy 2020.” 

 
(c) Credit to Owner. Sculptor shall use his best efforts to give credit to Owner 

in any public showing of reproductions of the Art Work under Sculptor's 
control, reading in substantially the following form:  "An original Art 
Work owned and commissioned by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa." 
Nothing contained in this subparagraph shall vary the limitations placed 
on Sculptor's rights under paragraph 10(a) of this Agreement. 

 
(d) Registration. Sculptor shall cause a copyright of the Art Work to be 

registered with United States Register of Copyrights in the name of 
Sculptor, at Sculptor's expense. 

 
(e) Injunction. The parties agree that an action for money damages may be an 

inadequate remedy for breach by either party of the terms of this 

528

ITEM 23.



 7 

paragraph, and accordingly the parties agree that in the event of the breach 
by either party of its obligations under this paragraph, the other party shall 
be entitled to seek a temporary or permanent injunction against the other 
party to enjoin violations of this Paragraph 10. 

 
10. Legal Compliance. Sculptor and Owner agree to comply fully with all applicable 

laws, federal, state and local, applicable to this Agreement, including, but not 
limited to, provisions for Equal Employment Opportunity and Occupational 
Safety and Health.  Sculptor agrees to comply with all ordinances, regulations and 
rules of Owner while on Owner's premises.  
 

11. Sculptor an Independent Contractor. The parties agree that the nature of the 
relationship between Owner and Sculptor is that of principal and independent 
contractor, and Sculptor shall in no way be considered an employee of Owner.   

 
12. Integration. This Agreement represents the entire and integrated agreement 

between Owner and Sculptor, and there are no promises, undertakings or other 
representations between the parties except as set forth in this Agreement, or in the 
exhibit or exhibits referred to in this Agreement.  This Agreement is binding upon 
and shall inure to the benefit of the parties, and their respective successors and 
assigns. 

 
13. No Assignment. Neither party shall assign its rights or obligations under this 

Agreement to any other party or person. 
 
14.     Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the 

State of Iowa, and any judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be 
instituted in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk County, in Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
15.      Notices.  Notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be 

in writing and sent by ordinary mail to the other party at the respective addresses 
set forth in the introductory Paragraph of this Agreement, or sent by way of email 
to the email addresses set forth immediately below: 

 
            Owner:  City of Cedar Falls          Sculptor:  Gillian Christy 
   220 Clay Street   11 Humphreys Street 
   Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613  Boston, MA 02125 
 
16.     No Limitation.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit the rights and 

remedies of the parties that are available under the law. 
 
17.    Amendment.  No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be valid and 

binding unless made in writing and signed by authorized representatives of both 
parties.     

 

529

ITEM 23.



530

ITEM 23.



 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

531

ITEM 23.



GILLIAN CHRISTY
sculptor

w w w.gillianchristy.com studio 11 Humphreys street, boston, ma 02125 phone ( 4 0 1 )  8 6 2 - 9 4 2 6

Fence Roadway

532

ITEM 23.



GILLIAN CHRISTY
sculptor

w w w.gillianchristy.com studio 11 Humphreys street, boston, ma 02125 phone ( 4 0 1 )  8 6 2 - 9 4 2 6

Dear Selection Committee,

Thank you for considering “Fence Roadway” as a permanent artwork for the City of 
Cedar Falls located at City Hall honoring Mayor Jon Crews.  Please find the two items 
you requested in this file; a color concept and a graphic that shows the sculpture in front 
of City Hall.  

By adding a colorful component to this sculpture I was able to incorporate texture and 
pattern which enlivens the entire piece.  In the pathway section, I use 3/4” round hole 
perforated stainless steel as the top part of each brick which mimics bumpy rocks and 
irregular surfaces found in concrete, bricks or cobblestones. The perforated stainless 
steel will be powder-coated Opal Green (which looks like teal) and attached on top of 
bricks with stainless steel hardware. The teal color against the City Hall brick building is 
a nice contrast, but I am certainly open to working with the committee on choosing the 
best color option for the site.  I have also included a red or blue graphic at the bottom of 
this file for additional reference.

Since “Fence Roadway” is a sculpture that celebrates a strong sense of community, the 
brick pattern gives way to colorful dots which become a confetti pattern stretching 
across the sculpture, dancing around the artwork. These 1 1/4” round dots will also be 
powder-coated and assembled onto the surface of the fence parts. 

I recommend powder-coating the color on the surface because it is a durable coating 
that can last up twenty years.  I propose to powder-coat stainless steel which means 
that no rust will be present.  In this project, I will be using Alesta Powder-Coatings, 
Color: Opal Green RAL 6026  which can be viewed www.ralcolorchart.com.

Please feel free to call with any questions or concerns. Thank you for your time.  

Sincerely, 

Gillian Christy

533

ITEM 23.



GILLIAN CHRISTY
sculptor

w w w.gillianchristy.com studio 11 Humphreys street, boston, ma 02125 phone ( 4 0 1 )  8 6 2 - 9 4 2 6

Conceptual Drawing with Color - “Fence Roadway”
Material- Stainless Steel and powder-coated stainless steel
Dimensions- 9’ h x 8’ w x 45” d

Brick detail with color on 
perforated stainless steel.

Color on round dots.

534

ITEM 23.



GILLIAN CHRISTY
sculptor

w w w.gillianchristy.com studio 11 Humphreys street, boston, ma 02125 phone ( 4 0 1 )  8 6 2 - 9 4 2 6

Fence Roadway
Stainless Steel and powder-coat 
9’ h x 8’ w x 45” d

Opal green, RAL 6026

535

ITEM 23.



GILLIAN CHRISTY
sculptor

w w w.gillianchristy.com studio 11 Humphreys street, boston, ma 02125 phone ( 4 0 1 )  8 6 2 - 9 4 2 6

Alternative Color Options

Raspberry red, RAL 3027

Traffic blue, RAL 5017

536

ITEM 23.



 
 
 

Exhibit B 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

537

ITEM 23.



538

ITEM 23.



 
 
 

Exhibit C 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

539

ITEM 23.



540

ITEM 23.



541

ITEM 23.



542

ITEM 23.



THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ENDORSEMENT - IOWA

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

BUSINESS LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

SCHEDULE – Refer to Form IH 12 00

With respect to insurance provided to the municipality shown in the Schedule of this endorsement, the following
shall apply:

1. Nonwaiver of Governmental Immunity

We expressly agree and state that the purchase of this policy does not waive any of the insured’s defenses of
governmental immunity under the code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended.

2. Claims Coverage

We further agree that this policy of insurance shall, subject to its terms and conditions, apply only to those 
claims not subject to a defense of governmental immunity, including without limitation a defense of
governmental immunity pursuant to Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended. 
Those claims not subject to a defense of governmental immunity, including without limitation a defense of
governmental immunity pursuant to Code of Iowa Section 670.4, shall be subject to the terms and conditions
of the insurance policy.

3. Assertion of Governmental Immunity

The municipality shall be responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at
any time and shall do so upon our written request.

4. Non-Denial of Coverage.

We shall not deny coverage, rights and benefits accruing to the entity under the policy for reasons of
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the defense(s)
of governmental immunity asserted by the entity.

5. Cancellation of Coverage

We may cancel this policy, by mailing or delivering to the first Named Insured and the municipality shown in
the Schedule of this endorsement written notice of cancellation at least (1) ten (10) days before the effective 
date of cancellation if we cancel due to non-payment of premium; (2) thirty (30) days before the effective date
of cancellation if we cancel due to any other reason. 

No Other Change in Policy

The above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise change or alter the coverage available
under the policy.

Form SS 10 50 10 08 Page 1 of 1

© 2008, The Hartford

543

ITEM 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

VISITORS, TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-277-9707 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

  

 
 
 

 

 TO: The Honorable Mayor Green and City Council 

 FROM: Heather Skeens, Cultural Programs Supervisor 

 DATE: January 13, 2020 

 SUBJECT: Red House Studios (224 West Seerley Boulevard) 

 

Please find attached three lease agreements for use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists’ 
studio space, in conjunction with the Hearst Center’s new Visiting Artist Program.  
 
History of the Property: 
The house directly to the east of the Hearst Center was purchased by the city in June 1995 at 
the request of the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board, in order to plan ahead for a possible 
expansion to the Hearst. The property was used as a residential rental until late 2017. After 
trying to rent it again without any interest, Hearst Center staff and the Art and Culture Board 
drafted a proposal for artist studio space, to make use of the property in service of Hearst 
Center programming.  
 
Project Summary: 
The “Red House Studios” project was formed through various discussions with Hearst building 
visioning committee members, local artists, Cedar Valley Arts steering committee members, 
UNI faculty and city staff. After an initial proposal in August of 2018, the project was vetted 
through a series of meetings with city staff, risk management committee, other area arts 
organizations, and UNI Department of Art faculty. The project was implemented to serve 
several needs:  

 to create an arts-related, mission-driven use for the rental property next door to the 
Hearst Center; 

 to catalyze the start of a Visiting Artist program in Cedar Falls Schools, coordinated by 
the Hearst Center; 

 to collaborate with UNI on a community outreach program; modeled after a successful 
program at Drake University. 

 

The Red House Studios and Visiting Artist program are meant to be a programmatic test of this 
model, in anticipation of a possible studio program in the renovation plans for the Hearst 

544

ITEM 24.



Center, which would eventually be revenue-generating. All costs associated with the initial two-
year run of this program are covered by an estate donation held by the Hearst Center for the 
support of a Visiting Artist program. 
 
The house will rent to four artists for the length of one year as studio workspace. Three studios 
will be rented to artists currently practicing in our community. (The agreements attached are 
for these three artists.) The fourth studio will be rented to a recent graduate of the UNI art 
program. The use of the UNI studio is an award for excellence, supported by the UNI 
Department of Art through a $3000 sponsorship. We anticipate the additional rental agreement 
to be on Council’s agenda for approval at the March 16th meeting.  
 
All artists occupying studios have agreed to provide two programs each at a pre-selected Cedar 
Falls school. This coordination of the Visiting Artists will be administered by Heather Skeens, 
Cultural Programs Supervisor, and Lynsie Maynard, Cedar Falls School lead art teacher. Artists 
will be paired with classrooms by Lynsie Maynard depending on each artist’s studio practice 
and the interests of the art teachers. 

Please let me know if you have any questions or concerns. 

 

 
 
CC: Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

Kim Manning, Visitors and Tourism Bureau/Cultural Programs Manager 
 

 

545

ITEM 24.



546

ITEM 24.



547

ITEM 24.



548

ITEM 24.



549

ITEM 24.



550

ITEM 24.



551

ITEM 24.



552

ITEM 24.



553

ITEM 24.



554

ITEM 24.



555

ITEM 24.



556

ITEM 24.



557

ITEM 24.



558

ITEM 24.



559

ITEM 24.



560

ITEM 24.



561

ITEM 24.



562

ITEM 24.



563

ITEM 24.



564

ITEM 24.



565

ITEM 24.



566

ITEM 24.



567

ITEM 24.



568

ITEM 24.



569

ITEM 24.



570

ITEM 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Brett Armstrong 

 DATE: December 26, 2019 

 SUBJECT: 2019 Bridge Maintenance Project 
  City Project Number BR-000-3183 
  Final Acceptance  
 

The 2019 Bridge Maintenance Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This 
seal coat project overlaid several existing city streets and parking lots. The project was 
under contract with Mintrun Inc. of Brooklyn, Iowa. Attached please find the following 
final documents: 
 
• Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
 
The following documents have been received and reviewed by the Engineering Division 
and forwarded to the City Clerk's Office: 
 

A) Suppliers: 
- BMC Aggregates L.C. 
- ASPRO, Inc. 

B) Contractors: 
- Minturn Inc. 
- ASPRO, Inc (Subcontractor) 
- Service Signing L.C. (Subcontractor) 

 
This project was funded from the Street Construction Fund and amounted to total of 
$194,020.44.  
 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2019 Bridge Maintenance Project were 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
_____________________    ______________12/26/19  
Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I                         Date 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 
 Lisa Roeding, CMFO, Controller/City Treasurer       

571

ITEM 25.



572

ITEM 25.



573

ITEM 25.



574

ITEM 25.



575

ITEM 25.



576

ITEM 25.



577

ITEM 25.



578

ITEM 25.



579

ITEM 25.



580

ITEM 25.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: January 16, 2020 

 SUBJECT: FY2021 Budget 

 
You may recall at Council Goal Setting that I described the new requirements from the 
State of Iowa related to budget hearings.  The first part of these new requirements is 
having a hearing setting the maximum levy.  Attached is the new required form giving 
notice of the hearing to set this maximum levy.  The levy rate as set by the attached 
notice, is balancing a budget that includes all of the items addressed at goal setting 
relating to capital projects, staffing, and services.   
 
You may also recall that I noted that unfortunately this new state notice, does not 
include the total levy rate, it only has certain levies.  Therefore, this is not the true 
picture of the total levy rate.  For example, the total rate for the prior year was $10.95 
and you will see by the notice that it only shows $10.23.  In addition, because of how 
the form works, it shows an increase of 6.54%.  However, the actual effect on the 
residential property owner will be a 1% increase in property taxes using this maximum 
levy.   
 
I plan on presenting in committee on Feb. 3rd a complete overview of the budget that 
describes the new rate being set and how that impacts property owners. The step for 
this council meeting on January 20th is simply setting the date to hold the hearing for the 

maximum levy rate as required by the Code of Iowa.  I would ask that the public 

hearing be set for February 3, 2020. 

 
If you have any questions, about the budget or the budget process, please feel free to 
contact me.  
 
 
 

581

ITEM 26.



CITY NAME CITY CODE

Cedar Falls 07-046

Meeting Date: Meeting Time:

2/3/2020 7:00 PM

 

Current Year 

Certified Property 

Tax

Budget Year Effective 

Property Tax

Budget Year 

Proposed 

Maximum Property 

Tax

Annual

 2019/2020 2020/2021** 2020/2021 % CHG

1 1,955,185,106 1,968,057,686 1,968,057,686

2 $15,836,999 $15,836,999 $15,941,267

3 $0 $0

4 $418,390 $418,390 $429,920

5 $0 $0

6 $0 $0

7 $0 $0

8 $256,690 $256,690 $254,010

Support of Local Emer. Mgmt. Commission 9 $398,090 $398,090 $447,770

10 $0 $0

11 $1,497,800 $1,497,800 $1,617,110

12 $1,351,380 $1,351,380 $1,460,420

13 $248,300 $248,300 $1,165,670
 
14 $20,007,649 $20,007,649 $21,316,167 6.54%

15 $10.23312 $10.16619 $10.83107

If applicable, the above notice also available online at:

  *Total city tax rate will also include voted general fund levy, debt service levy, and capital improvement reserve levy

**Budget year effective property tax rate is the rate that would be assessed for these levies if the dollars requested is not changed in the coming

    budget year

cedarfalls.com; https://www.facebook.com/citycf; https://twitter.com/CityCF; https://www.instagram.com/cedar_falls_iowa/ 

FICA & IPERS

Planning a Sanitary Disposal Project

Liability, Property & Self-Insurance Costs

Emergency

Police & Fire Retirement

Calculated 384.15A MaximumTax Rate

Explanation of significant increases in the budget:
Significant increases to the budget are caused by staffing costs, including negotiated salary and benefit increases.

*Total 384.15A Maximum Tax Levy

Iowa Department of Management

Regular Taxable Valuation

Regular General

Tax Levies:

Contract for Use of Bridge

Opr & Maint Publicly Owned Transit

Rent, Ins. Maint. Of Non-Owned Civ. Ctr.

Other Employee Benefits

Opr & Maint of City-Owned Civic Center

After adoption of the proposed tax levy, the Council will publish notice and hold a hearing on the proposed city budget.

City Web Site (if available): City Telephone Number:

At the public hearing any resident or taxpayer may present objections to, or arguments in favor of the proposed tax levy. 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING -PROPOSED PROPERTY TAX LEVY

Fiscal Year July 1, 2020 - June 30, 2021

The City Council will conduct a public hearing on the proposed Fiscal Year City property tax levy as follows:

Meeting Location:

Cedar Falls City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613

582

ITEM 26.



583

ITEM 27.



584

ITEM 27.



585

ITEM 27.



586

ITEM 27.



587

ITEM 27.



588

ITEM 27.



589

ITEM 27.



590

ITEM 27.



591

ITEM 27.



592

ITEM 27.



593

ITEM 27.



594

ITEM 27.


	Top
	1. Regular Meeting of January 6, 2020.
	200106MINUTES

	2. PH-FY2020-FY2025 CIP
	1 CIP council.mem
	2 CIP Cover
	3 CIP Summary
	4 CIP Detail
	5 CIP Unfunded

	3. Res-FY2020-FY2025 Capital Improvements Program (CIP)
	4. Reimbursement Resolution
	cip reimb res.MEM
	reimb res

	5. PH - SDC Real Estate, L.L.C.
	1_Public Hearing Memo to Council for 01-20-20
	2_SDC Real Estate Site Map
	3_SDC Real Estate, LLC DA - Execution Version
	4_Authorizing Resolution - SDC Real Estate

	6. Res-DA-SDC Real Estate
	7. PH - Standard Distribution Co.
	1_Public Hearing Memo to Council for 01-20-20
	2_Standard Distribution Co Site Map
	3_Standard Distribution DA - Execution Version
	4_Authorizing Resolution - Standard Distribution Co.

	8. Res-2nd DA-Standard Dist.
	9. PH - Owen 5, L.L.C.
	1_Council Memo for Owen 5, LLC Amended Agreement 01-14-20
	2_Owen 5, LLC Site Map
	3_Amended Restated DA - Owen 5 LLC
	4_Resolution Approving Amended Agreeement - Owen 5 LLC

	10. Res-Amended DA-Owen 5
	11. 2960-CH SSMID
	2960-Ord-CH SSMID

	12. 2961-Rezoning R1 to C1, 4911 University
	2961-Rezoning R1 to C1-4911 university

	13. 2962-Parking Ordinance
	2962-Parking Ordinance

	14. Proclamation recognizing Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day of Service
	MLK Proclamation

	15. Committee of the Whole minutes January 6, 2020
	Comm of the Whole 010620

	16. Liquor Licenses - 1/20
	Liquor Beer 1-20-2020

	17. Assessment-1616 Belle Avenue
	cc supporting docs-1616 Belle St

	18. Assessment-234 Clark Drive
	cc supporting docs-234 Clark Dr

	19. Assessment-929 Newman Avenue
	cc supporting docs-929 Newman Ave

	20. Assessment-2610 Valley Park Drive
	cc supporting docs-2610 Valley Park Dr

	21. Assessment-2040 Waterloo Road
	cc supporting docs-2040 Waterloo Rd

	22. Assessment-Land-vicinity of West 1st Street & Whitetail Drive
	cc supporting docs-Land 8914-10-226-012

	23. Artist Contract
	Christy Conract_Council Packet 01202020

	24. Red House Studio Leases - 224 West Seerley Boulevard - Artists’ Studio Space
	Red House Studios Memo and Agreements_01202020

	25. Final-2019 Bridge Maintenance Project
	1. Final Out Memo - 2019 Bridge Maintenance
	2. Final Pay Estimate
	3. Lien Waivers
	4. Bonds

	26. Setting date of maximum levy hearing
	1-budget max levy hearing council.mem
	2-FY21_Max_Levy_Hearing_Notice (2)

	27. Candidates
	1627_001

	28. Allow Bills and Payroll of January 20, 2020
	29. Executive Session - Property Acquisition
	Bottom

